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CORRESPONDENCE

BETWEEN

VISCOUNT PALMERSTON & MR. STEVENSON,

RELATIVE TO THE

SEIZURE AND DESTRUCTION

OF THE

STEAM BOAT "CAROLINE."

No. 1.

Mr. Stevenson to Viscount Palmerston.

CASE OF THE "CAROLINE."

THE Undersigned, Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipoten-
tiary from the United States, has the honour to acquaint Lord Viscount
Palmerston, Her Majesty's Principal Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs, that, in obedience to instructions from his Government, it has
been made his duty to bring to the view of Her Majesty's Govern-
ment, the accompanying documents, detailing the particulars and proofs
of a signal and extraordinary outrage committed by the British troops
from the province of Upper Canada, upon the persons and property of
citizens of the United States, within its limits and jurisdiction, and
which, in the view of the President of the United States, form the sub-
ject of a demand for redress upon Her Majesty's Government.

In communicating this evidence to his Lordship, the Undersigned
deems it proper to accompany it with an explanation of the manner in
which it has been obtained, and the delay which has taken place in not
presenting the subject at an earlier period to the consideration of Her
Majesty's Government.

By an examination of these papers it will be seen, that as soon as
information of the proceeding was communicated to the Executive of the
United States, an Official Note, by the direction of the President, was
addressed by the Secretary of State to Her Majesty's Minister, Mr. Fox,
communicating copies of the statements which had been received, and
asking an immediate explanation of the circumstances under which the
aggression had taken place. Mr. Forsyth's letter bears date on the 5th
of January last, and the papers transmitted to Mr. Fox, consisted of a
letter from the District Attorney of the United States, and the affidavits
of the captain and nine others who were on board the steam-boat at the
time of her seizure and destruction in the port of Schlosser. Copies
of these will be found among the papers now transmitted to Lord
Palmerston, marked A.

These statements would have justified an immediate appeal to Her
Majesty's Government for suitable reparation; but the President deemed
it expedient, preparatory to any demands being made, to have the subject
thoroughly investigated, and the facts ascertained. It was, moreover,
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anticipated that the conduct of the individuals concerned in this alleged
outrage, would, under the spontaneous act of their own Government,
have undergone that official investigation which such a proceeding would
seem so justly to call for.

Orders were given to the law officers of the Government to take
immediate steps for the purpose of collecting the witnesses and obtaining
the fullest information of all the circumstances connected with the
transaction.

This was accordingly done, and the body of evidence which the
Undersigned has now the honour of communicating, was the resuit.

Lord Palmerston will thus perceive that the delay which has taken
place in not presenting the subject sooner to the notice of his Govern-
ment, has proceeded from no want of a just sensibility to the proceeding
or any doubt of its being a proper subject for redress, but from a desire
on the part of the President to accompany the demand with irrefragable
proofs as to the nature and extent of the outrage committed.

This evidence having been obtained and transmitted to the Presi-
dent, he has, after full-consideration, and under a deep sense of what was
due, as well to the Government of the United States as that of Her
Majesty, deemed the proceeding a fit one for the demand of reparation.

With this demand the Undersigned has been charged, and he feels
that he shall best fulfil' the wishes of his Government, and manifest the
justice of the appeal which he has been instructed to make, by confining
himself to a brief recapitulation of the facts established by the docu-
ments which he has the honour of trapsmitting to Lord Palmerston, and
the principles which govern them.

The following are the prominent and important facts.
'On the morning of the 29th of December last, a steam-boat called

the "Caroline," of Buffalo, in the State of New York, left that port for
Schlosser, another port of that State, upon the east side of the Niagara
River.

That this vessel was the property of William Wells, of the said city
of Buffalo, and was commanded by Captain Gilman Appleby, both of
whom are citizens of the United States.

That she was cleared with a view of running between the said
Ports of Buffalo and Schlosser, and for the purpose of carrying passengers
and freight.

That on her moving down the Niagara:River, she came to at Blaek
Rock Dam, and lwhilst in port, the Captain:cau'sèd the American ensign
:to be run up.

That soon after 'leaving Blâck Rock Hàrbour, several musket-sh<ots
were discharged at the said boat· fžom. the Canada shore, but without
doiganyijury.

That her course down the river was.contiAued without further molés-
tation, and she touched .at Npy Island, where -a number of passengers
disembarked; and some articles-of freight were landed,

That from this place she was run over to Schlosser,-where she
arrived aboit*three o'clôdk, P.-M.

That subsequently two trips only .were miade by the boat to Navy
Island, and on her return to Schlosser after the last 'tiip that day she was
made.fast to the dock ;at that place with a chain-cable, about six o'clock
in the'evnin.

That the officers and crew of the "?Caroline" were-ten in number,
dzd that in the courseý of thé even'ing ôf that 'day, twenty-three other
individuals (citizens of the United States) came on board the boat ,and
requestèd that they niight blie permitted to remain there durxing the night
as :they wère nunabe to procure-lodgings at the only tavern or inn àt
Schlosger. :That this request was granted, and'they retired to rest, as did
the .ôtficeis: and crew of the said boat, with the exception of the night
watch.

That about -nidnight 'an alarm was given in consequence of the
approach from -the fiver 'of f d or five'boats, and:a few monents afte,
the "Carline",'was boarded by asnumber.of armed men from said boats;
who..immediately commenced an' indiscriminate .attack.:with. pistols,



lwords, and cutlasses, upon the unarmed crew and inmates of said vessel,
under the cry of, "Give no quarter," several of whom were slaughtered.

That the steam-boat was yielded withQt.resistance, and was imme-
diatelyafterwards.set on fire in several places, cut loose from the dock,
4attached to the main dand) towed into the çurrent of the riyer, aban-
doned, und ultimately went over the Niagar4,Falls.

Thatione.man, ÂAmoaDurfie (a citizen of. Buffalo) was killed, and left
¢ed on the 4ok at Schlosser, and others, who escaped withlife, most

severely wounded and disabled, amongst whom was the ceptain.
That several'individuals who were on board the boat are still missing,

adt4here is etppgag reason for beJieving that they were either murdered,
or fou14d a waàtry grave in the catarget of the, river.

That iipmediately ,fter the boat was fired and cast adrift in the
*treamýn, b8egon lights were discovered upon the Canada shore, iear
Chippewa, and when sufficient time had elapsed to enable the armoe
troops to reach the shore, loud and vociferous cheering yas heard, at that
point,. inducing a belief, since .confirmed and acknowledged, that the
çguteage was planned and consummated by a portion of the British force
stationed at that place.

Itis in proof that there was no fortification of any kind at Schlosser:
that hostilities were not cfnamenced on, the American side, and that no
shot from cannon, or fire-arms, was discharged from the American -shore
on h morning ,f thp 29th of December, as pretended by ne of the

riktish of fic¢rs.
It further appears that two persons (probably Luke Walker and

Sylvanus Fearnes Wrigley) were taken prisoners and carried to Queen's
Town, and there coerced, by violence apd threats, to give evidece and
Wifold the plans.qf the forgs on N vy Ila iI

That the value of theï steam-boat a4d property destroyed, amounts to
,àbout 5,000 dollars.

Tbout are dtheimportant 'fats disclosed by the documents, and upon
which the apþlication for reparation rests. They cannot be perused
without exeiting the deepest surprise and regret. For their proof we are
not forced to look to doubtful evidence, or to witnesss of doubtful gradi‡.
Théwhole 'haracter of the evidence now submitted to Her Majesty's
Government is too clear and striking to save auy dogbt as to itstrutl,
althQugh directly at variance, as Lord Palmerston will perceive, with the
otatements ç9muiciçated by :Mr. Fox on the part Qf Her Majety's Pro-
-vieçial Oficers, copio f whiçh. wiß be found with -4he papers transmitted,

Indeedsso fæfrom Jhe ljktish statements representing correctly the
iregmstances der, which, the outrae, was bommitted, itwill beseen

that they are in every essetial particular discr dited, and disproged by
the Most nhpeachable:evidençe

The concqrrent tçstir4ony of so many witnesses of respectab1lity and
standing, strip the proceeding of every prete¥t alleged in its justifleation,
and >ark it as one of the most offensive and unwarrantabte character.

I shows .moreover that, so far from, the putrage having _een com-
mittid nderextçnuçting circums.tgaces of sudden :coiflict, or in the hurry
and excitement of impending war, it was perpetrated aft-r çoncert
and preparatanAq by·4a arrned and smperior, force, upon unarrped and
defenceless men, under gover of nigh;t and çircumstances çf signal atrocit.y.
T was a proteediig,. tOo,. the more unexpected and reprehensible, inas-
much as it was Plaff¢d and ,executed at a moment when the; earnest
efforts of.the G9vernnelht of the United States were directed to-the pre-
servation of its obligations of neutralitv, and wheit.both:the Generl and
itate Governments were uing every eeort ip thàeir power, o r eà*trAin i1r
viduals on their northeri¶ frontier from -gnJawfully interfçring i4 t»e çe-
Uest between GfMeat Britaim anid her colonies.

J. Indeed, at the very moment when the Lieutenant-Governor of Uppçr
Canada, was declaring to the Provincial Parliament his confidencefin;th¢
disposition of tbe Arnerican Government to prevent its çitizens frce
Angaging in the :cont¢st that. was then raging, and wase waiting for replies



from the Governor of New York and Her Majesty's Minister at Washing-
ton, with whom he had communicated, this outrage was, with his know.
ledge and approbation, planned and executed.

Under such circumstances, it was not to have been expected that the
whole proceeding could be regarded by the Government of the United
States in any other light than as a manifect act of hostile and daring
aggression upon the rights and sovereignty, utterly inconsistent with all
the principles of national law, and wholly irreconcileable with the friendly
and peaceful relations of the two countries.

Such is the view which the Undersigned has been directed to present
·to Her Majesty's Government, and here he would rest the appeal with
which he has been charged, but for the grounds which have been relied on
'by the provincial authorities in justification of the proceeding, and which
were communicated by Mr. Fox to Mr. Forsyth in his note of the 6th of
February last.

To these grounds it may not be unimportant that he should now
briefly advert. It is alleged that the character of this vessel was pira-
tical; that she was the property of robbers and pirates, and employed in
their service in carrying men, arms, and munitions of war, from the
United States into Canada, and consequently that she was liable to seizure
and destruction, not only without, but within, the limits and jurisdiction
of the United States.

In the first place, it is denied that this vessel, under any principle of
the law or practice of nations, could be regarded as piratical, or those on
board of her treated as pirates or robbers.

And here it becomes necessary to ascertain the character and nature
of the contest between Great Britain and her Canadian colonies.

The following principles are assumed as incontrovertible:-That civil
wars are not distinguishable from other wars as to belligerent and neutral
rights; that they stand upon the same ground, and are governed by the
same principles: that whenever a portion of a State seek by force of arms
to overthrow the Government, and maintain independence, the contest
becomes one, de facto, of war! That in such contests the principles of
public law in relation to belligerents must govern, and all the rights
which a state of war gives to public enemies are to be allowed to the
respective parties engaged in them.

Applying these principles to the contest between Great Britain and
her colonies, it must be regarded, as far as other nations are concerned,
as a civil war and treated accordingly. Now it may be admitted, that
foreigners uniting themselves with a belligerent, become the enemy of the
party to whom that belligerent is opposed; but in doing so, they only
subject themselves to what the belligerent may lawfully be subject, and
are entitled to all the rights to which the belligerent would be entitled.
If then citizens of the United States, by associating themselves with the
Canadian insurgents, became identified with them as enemies of Great
Britain, they could only be regarded as such whilst in arms, and were to
be treated in like manner. By interfering, they made themselves parties
in the civil war, and Great Britain could only subject them to the same
penalties which she could rightfully enforce against her revolting subjects
with whom quo ad hoc, they had become Allies.

Voluntary aid and succour, therefore, from foreigners to persons
conspiring to subvert or change their Government, can neither be
regarded as piracy, or punished as criminal, unless the offending party
be taken in arms against the Government, and within its jurisdiction.

This doctrine, it is needless to remind Lord Palmerston, stands upon
the clearest principles of natural justice and national law, and the usage
of all civilized nations. Great Britain has herself always maintained it,
-and her annals are full of instruction on the subject.

It is wholly immaterial, then, what the contraband character and
employment of this vessel was. She was not piratical, nor could those on
board of her be punished as pirates or outlaws. Piracy by the public
law can only consist in acts which are offences against all nations.

But if it were not so, and she was admitted to be piratical, and not



the property of citizens of the United States, but of the British insurgents,
still there is nothing gained in defence of this proceeding unless it can
also be shown, that the British Authorities had .the right to seek and
destroy her by an armed force within the limits and jurisdiction of a
Sovereign and Independent State.

Of all the principles of public law there are none more sacred than
those which secure the immunity of neutral territory from the exercise of
acts of hostility or war by a foreign Power.

The law of nations, therefore, forbids all use of neutral territory for
hostile purposes, and emphatically declares that the rights of war shall
only be exercised within the territory of the belligerent, on the high seas,
or without the jurisdiction of any other nation: hence, it is forbidden as
well by universal as international law, to commence or continue any act
of violence against enemies' ships within the limits and jurisdiction of a
neutral nation. Every entrance, therefore, into neutral territory with
hostile intention is denounced as unlawful. This is the general and
acknowledged doctrine of public law, and is of essential importance to the
tranquillity and security of nations. If, then, the individuals on board
the " Caroline " were violators of the neutrality of the United States and
the rights of war, by giving aid and succour to insurgents, and had
forfeited all claim to the protection of their country, they were yet not
punishable within the territorial limits of the United States by Great
Britain or her officers, but were alone amenable to the laws of the United
States.

But it will be said there are exceptions to this rule, and cases arising
out of necessity and self-preservation, which suspend in favour of a
belligerent sub-modo the rights of a neutral nation, and justify the inva-
sion of its territory. These cases are admitted, but they are few and
defined. All writers on the law of nations concur in opinion, that there
can be no entry into the territory of an independent State, but where con-
sent is given; or where the entry is innocent, and unjustly refused, or in
cases of extreme state necessity. These are the only exceptions to the
general rule.

If the right be claimed (as it is admitted to be in this case) on the
ground of necessity, we must look to the law of nations for the character
and degree of the necessity, and the conditions annexed to its exercise.
Now ail publicists agree, that the necessity which justifies invasion of
neutral territory must be imminent and extreme, and nvolving impending
destruction. It is never permitted for purposes of convenience, or
ordinary defence, or as a measure of retaliation, however atrocious the
injury may have been which it is intended to punish. Wherever, then,
there has been a clear invasion of neutral territory, the proof lies upon the
party to bring himself within the exception, and show the character of the
necessity under which the violation took place. Was the present such a
case? W as the necessity even remote, much less extreme and imminent?
What advantage was gained by the destruction of this vessel, but to
revive and swell the excitement which then existed on the American fron-
tier, and which the Government of the United States were using its best
efforts to assuage? None, certainly! On the contrary, to suppose for a
moment that a measure was dictated by the extreme necessity of self-
preservation, which was, in fact, not even useful, or in any manner con-
ducive to such an end, would be preposterous.

It can hardly, then, be presumed, that Her Majesty's Government
will maintain that this was a case embraced within the exceptions, and
justified by the principles of public law or the usage of civilized nations.
There is not a feature in the whole proceeding to warrant such an
opinion. On the contrary, the case, as proved, is one of an open and
acknowledged invasion of the territory and sovereignty of an independent
nation, by the armed forces of a friendly Power, and the destruction of
the lives and property of its citizens, under circumstances of peculiar
aggravation, not less injurious to the character and interests of Her
Majesty's Government than those of the United States.

That such will be the view which Her Majesty's Government will
take of this proceeding the Undersigned cannot doubt.
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To the alleged breach of neutrality by the American Governmentit
is not necessary, nor would it be proper, that the Undersigned should at
this time do more than briefly advert. Although attempts have been
made by the perpetrators of this outrage, and others of Her Majesty's
Provincial Government, to involve the United States and its officers in the
odium of countenancing, if not participating in the breach of neutrality,
the Undersigned is happy in knowing that they have signally failed.
They were made without the slightest evidence of their truth, and under
circumstances which entitle them to no credit. Her' Majesty's Govern-
ment have not been insensible to the efforts which were made both hy the
geneiral and State Governments to enforce and preserve 'their obligations
of neutrality. Faithful to the principles which it has always professed,
and on which it has ever acted, the American Government determined
from the first moment of the contest to maintain the strictest neutrality.
Everything was done which Her Majesty's Government had a right to
expect, and to the prompt and vigorous measures adopted by the United
States are in a great measure to be attributed, the cessation of hostilities
within the Canadian Provinces. The sincerity of the American Govern-
ment in preserving its relations of neutrality and peace will therefore be
best seen in- the early manifestation of its views, and the steps taken to
restrain its miseuided citizens from interfering in the disturbances of Her
Majesty's colonies.

These efforts moreover were spontaneous and uncalled for. So tfar
from being influenced or stimulated by any requisition on the part of
Her Majesty's Government, they were prompted solely by its own views
of duty and interest and its love of peace. If, however, the United States
had failed to preserve its neutral relations, it would still have afforded: no
ground of defence or justification for this proceeding. That would have
been a matter for adjustment between the two Governments, and not left
to the rashness or caprice of subordinate officers, such as those concerned
in the perpetration of this outrage, and upon whose discretion and judg-
ment such little reliance is to be placed. If there had indeed been any
breach of neutrality on the part of the United States, it was for Her
Majesty's Government alone to have vindicated its rights upon the principles
of international law. The case, then, is one of open, undisguised, and
unwarrantable hostility.

The Undersigned has, therefore, been instructed to invite the early
attention of Her Majesty's Government to this subject, and in appealing
to its sense of honour, justice, and magnanimity, to express the confident
expectation of the President of the United States that this whole pro-
ceeding will not only be disavowed and disapproved, but that such redress
as the nature of the case obviously requires, will be promptly made.

The Undersigned, &c.,
23, Portland Place, (Signed) A. STEVENSON

May 22nd, 1838.

[List of documents transmitted herewith.]

A. The first communication from the district attorney of the.United
States to the President, transmitting affidavits in relation to the destruc-
tion of the steam-boat "Caroline."

B. Copy of a letter from Her Majesty's Minister at Washington of the
6th of February, to the Secretary of State, transmitting the copy of a
communication from the Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, with
divers reports and depositions annexed in relation to the same.

C. The whole body of evidence of American citizens in relation to the
same, taken by officers of the United States, under the direction of the
Executive, the originals being on file in this Legation.
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Inclosure 1 in No. 1.

Mr. Rogers to the President of the United States.

Sir, Bufalo, December 30, 1837.
?iNCLOSED are copies of affidavits which I have prepared in great

haste, and which contain all that is material in relation to the gross and
extraordinary transaction to which they relâte. Our whole frontier is in
commotion; and I.fear it will be difficult to restrain our citizens from
revenging, by a resort to arms, this fagrant invasion of our territory.
Everything that can be done will be by the public authorities, to prevent
so injudicious a movement. The respective Sheriffs of Erie and Niagara
have taken the responsibility of calling out the Militia to guard the
frontier and prevent any further depredations.

I am, &c.,
(Signed) H. W. ROGERS,

District Attorney for Erie County, and
Acting for the United States.

Sub-Inclosure 1 in Inclosure 1 in No.1.

Deposition of Gilman Appleby.

State of New York, Niagara County Sessions.

GILMAN APPLEBY, of the City of Buffalo, being sworn, says,
that he left the port of Buffalo on the morning of the 29th instant in the
steam-boat "Caroline," owned by William Wells of Buffalo, and bound
for Schlosser upon the east side of the Niagara River and within the United
States; that this deponent commanded the said "Caroline," and that she
was cleared from Buffalo,with a view to run between said Buffalo and Sch-
losser carrying passengers, freight, &c.; that this deponent caused the
said "Caroline " to be landed at Black Rock on her way down; and that
while at Black Rock this deponent caused the American flag to be run
up; and that soon after leaving Black Rock harbour a vollev of musketry
was discharged at the "Caroline " from the Canada shore,' but without
injury. That the said "Caroline" continued her course down the Niagara
River unmolested, and landed outside of certain scows or boats attached
to Navy Island,,where a number of passengers disembarked, and, as this
deponent supposes, certain articles of freight were landed; that from this
point the "Caroline" ran to Schlosser, arriving there 'at three o'clock in
the afternoon; that between this time and dark the "Caroline" made
two trips to Navy Island, landing as before; that at about six o'clock in
the evening this deponent caused the said "Caroline " to be landed at
Schlosser, and made fast with chains to the dock at that place. That the
crew and officers of the Caroline numbered ten; and that in the course of the
evening twenty-three individuals, all of whom were citizens of the United
States, came on boa.rd the " Caroline," and requested this deponent and
other officers of the boat to permit them to remain on board during the
night, as- they were unable to get lodgings at the tavern near by. These
requests were acceded to; and the persons thus coming on board retired
to rest, as did also the crew and officers of the "Caroline," except such
as were stationed to watch during the night; that about midnight this
deponent was informed by one of the watch, that several boats filled with
men were making towards the "Caroline-" from the river; and this depo-
nent immediately gave the alarm, and before he was able to reach the
deck the "Caroline " was boarded by some seventy or eighty men, all of
whom were armed. That they immediately commenced a warfare with
muskets, swords, and cutiasses, upon the defenceless crew and passengers
of the "Caroline," under a fierce cry of "G-d damn them, give no
quarters,-kill every man,-fire! fire !" That the "Caroline" was



abandoned without resistance, and the only effort made by either the
crew or passengers seemed to be to escape slau ghter; that this deponent
narrowly escaped, having received several wounds, none of which, however,
are of a serious character. That immediately after the "Caroline " fell
into the hands of the armed force who boarded her, she was set on fire,
eut loose from the dock, was towed into the current of the river and there
abandoned, and soon after descended the Niagara Falls. That this
deponent has made vigilant search after the individuals, thirty-three in
number, who are known to have been upon the "Caroline" at the time
she was boarded, and twenty-one only are to be found, one of which, to
wit, Amos Durfie of Buffalo, was found dead upon the dock, having
received a shot from a musket, the ball of which penetrated the back part
of the head and came out at the forehead; James H. King and Captain
C. F. Harding were seriously, though not mortally, wounded; several
others received slight wounds. The twelve individuals who are missing,
this deponent has no doubt, were either murdered upon the steam-boat, or
found a watery grave in the cataract of the Falls. And this deponent
further says, that immediately after the "Caroline" was got into the
current of the stream and abandoned, as before stated, beacon lights were
discovered upon the Canada shore near Chippewa, and after sufficient
time had elapsed to enable the boats to reach that shore, this deponent
distinctly heard loud and vociferous cheering at that point. That this
deponent has no doubt that the individuals who boarded the "Caroline'"
were a part of the British forces now stationed at Chippewa.

(Signed) GILMAN APPLEBY.
Subscribed and sworn December 30,

1837, before me, (Signed) S. B. PIPER,
CQmmissioner of Deeds, 4-c., for

Niagara County.

SuhJ.aclqaun1ncielosure 1 in No; 1.

Deposition of Messrs. F. Harding, J. King, Joshua H. Smith, 46c. 4-c.

State of New York, Niagara County Sessions.

CHARLES F. HARDING, James H. King, Joshua H. Smith,
William Seaman, William Kennedy, William Wells, John Leonard,
Sylvanus Staring, and John Haggarty, being sworn, severally depose
and say, that they have heard the foregoing affidavit of Gilman Appleby
read; that they were on the "Caroline" at the time she was boarded, as
stated in said affidavit; and that all the facts sworn to by said Appleby
as occurring after the said "Caroline" was so boarded, as aforesaid, are
correct and true.

(Signed) C. F. HARDING.
JAMES H. KING.
J. H. SMITH.
WILLIAM SEAMAN.
WILLIAM KENNEDY.
WILLIAM WELLS.
JoHIN LEONARD.
SYLvANUS STARING.

Sworn and subscribed, December 30, JOHN C. HAGGARTY.
1837, before me, (Signed) S. B. PIPER,

Commissioner of Deeds for Niagara
County.



B

Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Mr. Fox to Mr. Forsyth.

Sir, Washington, February 6, 1838.
WITH reference to the letters which, by direction of the Pre-

sident, you addressed to me on the 5th and 19th ultimo, respecting the
capture and destruction of the steam-boat, "Caroline," by a Canadian
force on the American side of the Niagara River, within the jurisdiction
of the State of New York, I have now the honour to communicate to
you the copy of a letter upon that subject, which I have received from Sir
Francis Head, Lieutenant-Governor of the Province of Upper Canada,
with divers reports and depositions annexed.

The piratical character of the steam-boat "Caroline," and the
necessity of self-defence and self-preservation, under which Her Majesty's
subjects acted in destroying that vessel would seem to be sufficiently
established.

At the time when the event happened, the ordinary laws of the
United States were not enforced within the frontier district of the State
of New York. The authority of the law was overborne, publicly, by
piratical violence. Through such violence Her Majesty's subjects in
Upper Canada had already severely suffered; and they were threatened
with still further injury and outrage.

This extraordinary state of things appears, naturally and necessarily,
to have impelled them to consult their own security, by pursuing and
destroying the vessel of their piratical enemy, wheresoever they might
find her.

I avail myself, &c.,
(Signed) H. S. FOX

-Sub-Inclosure 1 inDnclosure2ndf.L

Sir Francis Head to Mr. Fox.

Toronto, Upper Canada,
Sir, January 8, 1838.

I HAVE the honour to inclose to you the copy of a special message
sent by his Excellency Governor Marcy to the Legislature of the State
of New York in relation to a matter on. which your Excellency will
desire the earliest and most authentic information. The message only
reached this place yesterday, and I lost no time in communicating with
your Excellency on the subject.

The Governor of the State of New York complains of the cutting
out and burning of the steam-boat "Caroline," by order of Colonel
Mc Nab, commanding Her Majesty's forces at Chippewa, in the Province
of Upper Canada, and of the destruction of the lives of some American
citizens who were on board of the boat at the time she was attacked.

The act complained of was done under the following circumstances:
In Upper Canada, which contains a population of about 450,000 souls,

the most perfect tranquillity prevailed up to the 4th day of December last,
although in the adjoining province of Lower Canada many of the French
Canadian inhabitants had been in open rebellion against the Government,
for about a month preceding.

At no time since the Treaty of Peace with the United States in 1815,
had Upper Canada been more undisturbed. The real causes of the
insurrection in Lower Canada, namely, the national antipathy of the
French inhabitants, did not in any degree apply in the Upper Province,
whose population, like the British and American inhabitants of Lower
Canada, were wholly opposed to the revolt, and anxious to render every
service in their power in support of the Queen's authority. It had been
reported to the Government some time before the 4th of December, that
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in a remote portion of the home district a number of persons occasionally
met and drilled with arms under leaders known to be disaffected, but it
was not believed by the Government that anything more could be intended
than to make a show of threatened revolt in order to create a diversion in
favour of the rebels in Lower Canada.

The feeling of loyalty throughout this province was known to be so
prevalent and decided, that it was not thought unsafe to forbear, for the
time at least, to take any notice of the proceedings of this party.

On the night of the 4th of December, the inhabitants of the city of
Toronto were alarmed by the intelligence that about 500 persons armed
with rifles were approaching the city,-that they had murdered a gentle-
man of great respectability on the highway, and had made several persons
prisoners. The inhabitants rushed immediately to arms, there were no
soldiers in the province, and no militia had been called out.

The home district from which this party of armed men came contains
60,000 inhabitants, the city of Toronto 10,000. In a few hours a respect-
able force, although undisciplined, was collected and armed in self defence,
and awaited the threatened attack. It seems now to admit of no doubt,
that if they had at once advanced against the insurgents they would have
met with no formidable resistance, but it was thought more prudent to
wait until a sufficient force should be collected to put the success of an
attack beyond question. In the meantime people poured in from all
quarters to oppose the insurgents, who obtained no increase of numbers,
but, on the contrary, were deserted by many of their body, in consequence
of the acts of devastation and plunder into wvhich their leader had forced
them. .t

On the 7th of December an overwhelming force of militia went against
them and dispersed them, without losing a man, taking many prisoners,
who were instantly by my order released, and suffered to depart to their
homes. The rest with their leaders fled; some have since surrendered
themselves to justice, many have been taken, and some have escaped from
the province.

It was reported about this time that in the district of London a simi-
lar disposition to rise had been observed, and in consequence a militia
force of about 400 men was sent into that district, where it was speedily
joined by three times as many of the inhabitants of the district who assem-
bled voluntarily, and came to their aid with the greatest alacrity,

It was discovered that about 300 persons under Dr. Duncombe, an
American by birth, were assembled with arms; but before the militia
could reach them, they dispersed themselves and fled. Of these by far
the greater number came in immediately, and submitted themselves to the
Government, declaring that they had been misled and deceived, and
praying for forgiveness.

ln about a week perfect tranquillity was restored, and from that
moment not a man has been seen in arms against the Government in any
part of the province, with the exception of the hostile aggression upon
Navy Island, which 1 shall presently notice; nor has there been the
slightest resistance offered to the execution of legal process in a single
instance.

After the dispersion of the armed insurgents near Toronto, Mr. Mc
Kenzie, their leader, escaped in disguise to the Niagara River, and crossed
over to Buffalo. Reports had been spread there, and elsewhere along the
American frontier, that Toronto had been burnt, and that the rebels were
completely successful; but the falsehood of these absurd rumours was well
known before Mc Kenzie arrived on the American side.

It was known also that the ridiculous attempt of 400 men to revolu-
tionize a country containing nearly half a million inhabitants, had been
put down by the people instantly and decidedly, without the loss of
a man.

Nevertheless a number of American citizens in Buffalo, and other
towns on the frontier of the State of New York, enlisted as soldiers, with
the avowed object of invading Canada, and establishing a provisional
government.

Public meetings were held to forward, this design of invading a coun-



try with which the United States werè at peace. Voluntéers were called
forand arms, ammunition, and provisions were supplied by contributions
openly made. All this was in direct and flagrant violation of the express
laws of the United States as well as of the law of nations.

The civil authority of Buffalo offered some slight show of resistance
to themovement, being urged to interpose by many of the most respect-
able citizens, but no real impediment was offered; and on the 13th of
December some hundreds of the citizens of the State of New York, as an
armed body, under the command of a Mr. Van Rensselaer, an American
citizen, openly invaded and took possession of Navy Island, a part of
Upper Canada, situate in the Niagara River.

Not believing that such an outrage would really be committed, no
force whatever was assembled at the time to counteract this hostile
movement.

In a very short time this lawless band obtained from some of the
arsenals of the State of New York, clandestinely as it is said, several pieces
of artillery and other arms, which, in broad daylight, were openly trans-
ported to Navy Island, without resistance from the American authorities;
the people of Buffalo and the adjacent country continued to supply them
with stores of various kinds, and additional men enlisted in their ranks.

In a few days their force was variously stated from 5,000 to 15,000, of
whom a small proportion were rebels, who had fled from Upper Canada.
They began to intrench themselves, and threatened that they would in a
short tilne make a landing on the Canadian side of the Niagara River.

To prevent this, and to keep them in check, a body of militia was
hastily collected and stationed on the frontier, under the command of
Colonel Cameron, Assistant Adjutant-General of Militia, who was suc-
ceeded in this command by Colonel Mc Nab, the Speaker of the House of
Assembly, an officer whose humanity and discretion; as well as his activity,
have been proved by his conduet in putting down the insurrection in
London district, and have been acknowledged in warm terms of gratitude
by the misguided persons who had surrendered themselves into his hands.
He received orders to act on the defensive only, and to be careful not to
do any act which the American Government could justly complain of as
a breach of neutrality.

An official statement of the unfriendly proceedings at Buffalo was
without delay (on the 13th December) made by me tohis Excellency the
Governor of the State of New York, to which no answer has been received.
And after this open invasion of our territory, and when it became evident
that nothing was effected at Buffalo for preventing the violation of
neutrality, a special messenger was sent to your Excellency at Washing-
ton, to urge your interposition in the matter. Sufficient time has not yet
elapsed to admit of his return. Soon after his departure, this band of
outlaws on Navy Island, acting in defiance of the laws and government of
both countries, opened a fire from several pieces of ordnance upon the
Canadian shore, which in this part is thickly settled; the distance from
the island being about 600 yards, and within sight of the populous village
of Chippewa.

They put several balls (six-pound shot) through a house in which a
party of militia-men were quartered, and which is the dwelling-house of
Captain Usher, a respectable inhabitant. They killed a horse on which a
man at the time was riding, but happily did no further mischief, though
they fired also repeatedly with cannon and musketry upon our boats.

They continued daily to render their position more formidàble, receiv-
ing constant supplies of men and warlike stores from the State of New
York, which were chiefly embarked at a landing-place on the American
main shore, called Fort Schlosser, nearly opposite to Navy Island. This
place was once, I believe, a military position before the conquest of
Canada from the French, but there is now neither fort or village there,
but merely a single house occupied as a tavern, and a wharf in front of it,
to which boats and vessels are moored. The tavern had been, during
these lawless proceedings, a rendezvous for the band who cannot be called
by any name more appropriate than pirates, and was, in fact, openly and
notoriously resorted to as their head-quarters on the main-land, and is so



to this time. On the 28th December. positive information was given to
Colonel Mc Nab by persons from Buffalo, that a small steam-boat, called
the " Caroline," of about fifty tons burthen, had been hired by the
pirates, who called themselves "patriots," and was to be employed in
carrying down cannon and other stores, and in transporting men and
anything else that might be required between Fort Schlosser and Navy
Island.

He resolved if she came down and engaged in this service, to take
or destroy her; she did come down, agreeably to the information he
received; she transported a piece of artillery and other stores to the
island, and made repeated passages during the day between the island
and the main shore.

In the night he sent a party of militia in boats, with orders to take or
destroy her; they proceeded to execute the order; they found the "Caro-
line" moored to the wharf opposite to the inn at Fort Schlosser. In the
inn there was a guard of armed men to protect her, part of the pirate
force, or acting in their support; on lier deck there was an armed party,
and a sentinel also demanded the countersign.

Thus identified as she was with the force which, in defiance of the
law of nations and every principle of naturàl justice, had invaded Upper
Canada, and made war upon its unoffending inhabitants, she was boarded,
and after a resistance in which some desperate wounds were inflicted
upon the assailants, she was carried. If any peaceful citizens of the
United States perished in the conflict, it was and is unknown to the cap-
tors, and it was and is equally unknown to them whether any such were
there. Before this vessel was thus taken, not a gun had been fired by the
force under the orders of Colonel Mc Nab, even upon this gang of pirates,
much less upon any peaceable citizens of the United States; it must
therefore have been a consciousness of the guilty service she was engaged
in that led those who were employing her, to think an armed guard neces-
sary for her defence. Peaceable citizens of the United States were not
likely to be found in a vessel so employed at such a place and in such a
juncture, and if they were there, their presence, especially unknown as it
was to the captors, could not prevent, in law or reason, this necessary act
of self-defence. Fifteen days had elapsed since the invasion of Upper
Canada by a force enlisted, armed, and equipped, openly in the State of
New York. The country where this outrage upon the laws of nations
was committed is populous. Buffalo alone contains 15,000 inhabitants.
The public authorities, it is true, gave no countenance to those flagrant
acts, but did not prevent them, or in the slightest degree obstruct them
further than by issuing proclamations which were disregarded.

Perhaps they could not, but in either case, the insult and injury to
the inhabitants of Canada were the same, and their right to defend them-
selves equally unquestionable.

No wanton injury was committed by the party who gallantly effected
this service. They loosed the vessel from the wharf, and finding they
could not tow her against the rapid current of the Niagara, they aban-
doned the effort to secure her, set her on fire and let her drift down the
stream.

The prisoners taken were a man who, it will be seen by the docu-
ments accompanying this despatch, avowed himself to be a subject of Her
Majesty's, inhabiting Upper Canada, who had lately been traitorously in
arms in that province, ànd having fled to the United States, was then on
board for the purpose of going to the camp at Navy Island; and a boy who,
being born in Lower Canada, was probably residing in the United States,
and who, being afraid to land from the boat in consequence of the firing
kept up by the guard on the shore, was placed in one of the boats under
Captain Drew, and taken over to our side, from whence he was sent home
the next day by the Falls ferry, with money given him to bear his
expenses.

I send with this letter-

1st. A copy of my first communication to his Excellency Governor
Marcy, to which no reply has reached me.
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2nd. The official reports, correspondence, and militia general order
respecting the destruction of the " Caroline," with other documents.

3rd. The correspondence between Commissary General Arcularius, of
the State of New York, respecting the artillery belonging to the Govern-
ment of the State of New York, which has been and is still used in making
war upon this province.

4th. Other correspondence arising out of the present state of things
on the Niagara frontier.

5th. The special message of Governor Marcy.
It will be seen from these documents that a high officer of the Govern-

ment of the State of New York has been sent by his Excellency the
Governor, for the express pur pose of regaining possession of the artillery
of that State which is now emptoyed in hostile aggressions upon this portion
of Her Majesty's dominions; and that being aided and favoured, as he
acknowledges, by the most friendly co-operation which the commanding
officer of Her Majesty's forces could give him, he has been successfully
defied by this army of American citizens, and has abandoned the object
of his mission in despair. It can hardly fail also to be observed by your
Excellency, that in the course of this negotiation between Mr. Van
Rensselaer and the Commissary General of the State of New York, this
individual, Mr. Van Rensselaer, has not hesitated to place himself within
the immediate jurisdiction of the Government, whose laws he had violated,
and in direct personal communication with the officer of that Government,
and has nevertheless been allowed to return unmolested to continue in
command of American citizens engaged in open hostilities against Great
Britain.

The exact position of affairs on our frontier may be thus described:-
An army of American citizens, joined to a very few traitors from

Upper Canada, and under the command of a subject of the United States,
has been raised and equipped in the State of New York against the laws
of the United States and the treaties now subsisting, and are using artil-
lery plundered from the arsenals of the State of New York in carrying on
this piratical warfare against a friendly Power.

The officers and Government of the United States and of the State of
New York have attempted to arrest these roceedings, and to control
their citizens, but they have failed. Althoug this piratical assemblage
are thus defying the civil authorities of both countries, Upper Canada
alone is the object of their hostilities. The Government of the United
States has failed to enforce its authority by any means, civil or military;
and the single question, if it be a question, is, whether Upper Canada was
bound to refrain from necessary acts of self-defence against a people whom
their own Government either could not or would not control.

In perusing the message of his Excellency Governor Marcy to the
Legislature of the State of New York, your Excellency will probably feel
some degree of surprise that, after three weeks' continued hostility carried
on by the citizens of New York against the people of Upper Canada, his
Excellency seems to have considered himself not called upon to make this
aggression the subject of remark for any other purpose than to complain
of a solitary act of self-defence on the part of Her Majesty's province of
Upper Canada, to which such unprovoked hostilities have unavoidably led.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) F. B. HEAD.

Sub-Inclosure 2 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1. "

Sir Francis Head to Governor M\arcy.

Government House, Toronto,
Sir, December 13, 1837.

YOUR Excellency has doubtless received intelligence, though not of
an authentic character, of an insurrectionary movement, which, within
the last few days, has been made in this province, and which the loyal
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feeling of the great mass of Her Majesty's subjects has enabled me
promptly to suppress. Though an occurence of this particular nature in
a country immediately adjoining the State under your Excellency's
Government, must naturally excite a considerable degree of interest, I
might not have felt myself called upon to communicate with your Excel-
lency upon the subject, if I had not received an official paper from the
magistracy of the district of Niagara, that efforts are made by calling
public meetings in Buffalo, to procure countenance and support among
the inhabitants of that city to the efforts of the disaffected in Upper
Canada.

I am perfectly persuaded that, under any circumstances, the public
authorities in the United States would exert themselves to strengthen
rather than to disturb the kind feeling which has for so many years
united the nations of Great Britain and the United States, in the most
amicable relations. And when I acquaint your Excellency that the
armed party of traitors, which are now dispersed, during the few days
that they remained embodied, were guilty of such unprovoked and wanton
acts of murder, arson, and robbery, as disgusted their adherents, and
occasioned their rapid desertion, I feel no doubt that, whatever may
be justly done by the government of one friendly and enlightened nation
towards restraining its subjects from disturbing the 'peace, and injuring
the unoffending inhabitants of an other, may confidently be expected from
your Excellency. It is fit I should apprise your Excellency, that there is
not at this moment, to my knowledge, within the whole extent of Upper
Canada, a single body of men assembled with arms, or otherwise, in
opposition to the Government.

Before the 5th of December, there had been about 500 or 600 men
hastily got together at the instigation of a Mr. Mc Kenzie, the editor of a
seditious newspaper here, but these have been wholly dispersed, and their
leader, we understand, is now in Buffalo, endeavouring to excite there a
support which he fails to meet with in this province.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) F. B. HEAD.

Sub-Inclosure 3 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Mr. Rogers to Colonel Mc Nab.

Sir, Bufalo, December 29, 1837.
OUR city has been thrown into commotion this morning by a report

that certain forces under your command had within the last twelve hours
landed upon Grand Island, within the territory of the United States. I
have no confidence in the report, and believe it utterly without foundation;
but to quell the apprehensions of our citizens, I have pledged myself, as an
acting officer of the Government, to take every possible means to ascer.
tain the truth of the report and to prevent such an occurrence. In the
absence of the Marshall, I have commissioned Judge Mc Lean, of this
city, to wait on you immediately, and to make ou acquainted with the
present attitude of affairs. The judge will bear this to you, and upon his
statements and representations you can rely with the most perfect confi-
dence. Be assured, Sir, that the public authorities upon this frontier will
put forth every effort to restrain our citizens and to maintain a strict
neutrality.

With great consideration, &c.,
(Signed) W. H. ROGERS,

District Attorney.



Sub-Inclosure 4 in lnclosure 2 in No. 1.

Colonel Mc. Nab to Mr. Rogers.

Sir, Head-Quarters, Chippewa, December 29, 1837.
I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of this

morning, just handed to me by the honourable Mr. Justice Me Lean.
With respect to the report in the city of Buffalo, that certain forces

under my command had landed upon Grand Island, an island within the
territory of the United States, I can assure you that it is entirely without
foundation, and that so far from having any intention of the kind, such a
proceeding would be in direct opposition to the wishes and instructions of
Her Britannic Majesty's Government in this colony, whose servant I have
the honour to be.

Entering at once into the feelings which induced you to address me
upon this subject, I beg leave to call your attention to the following facts:
That so far from occupying or intending to occupy that, or any other por.
tion of the American country, aggressions of a most serious and hostile
nature have been made upon the forces under my command from that
island. Two affidavits are now before me, stating, that a volley of
musketry from Grand Island was yesterday fired upon a party of unarmed
persons, some of whom were females, without the slightest provocation
having been offered.; that on the same day, one of my boats, manned by
British subjects, passing along the American shore, and without any
cause having being given, was fired upon from the American side, near
Fort Schlosser, by cannon, the property, I am told, of the United States.
I have also before me most positive information, that a steam-boat, called
the " Caroline," was sold to the pirates, who have joined the rebels in
Navy Island, and loaded with provisions and munitions of war, not only
within your country, but immediately under the notice of the authorities
of the United States, and of the citizens of Buffalo, whom you state to
have been thrown into commotion by the report mentioned in your com-
munication; and that these stores and munitions had been forwarded to
Navy Island, for the use and assistance of the band of pirates assembled
there, for the avowed purpose of invading and plundering the country,
and dividing Her Britannic Majesty's lands amongs:t tbeir 4eluded
followers.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) A. N. Mc NAB.

Sub-Inclosure 5 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Mr. Lockwood to Colonel Mc Nab.

Sir, Chippewa, December 29, 1837.
I HAVE the honour to inform you, that this morning, at eight

o'clock, about twenty men appeared on Grand Island (two miles below
Black Creek) constructing a bridge aéross a ravine, and when they saw a
party of men on the Canada shore watching their movements, they fired
a volley of musketry towards· them: after having completed their work,
they left two men on the bridge, and retired towards the lower part of the
island.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) WILLIAM LOCKWOOD,

First Lieutenant of the St. Catherine's
Troop of Cavalry.



Sub-Inclosure 6 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Lieutenant Elmsly to Colonel Mc Nab.

Sir, Chippewa, December 29, 1837, 8 A.x.
I HAVE the honour to inform you, that I have just returned from

the neighbourhood of Navy Island, to which point I proceeded at daybreak,
with my spy-glass, to inspect the position of the rebel forces. Soon after
my arrival there, I perceived our eight-oared gig just rounding the north-
era extremity of Navy Island; she ad been ail round the island, and was
fired at from all points of it with round shot, grape and canister, and
musketry.

On our [Qu. boat] coming abreast of Fort Schlosser, I distinctly saw
two discharges of heavy ordnance from a point on the main-shore on the
American side, not far from that Fort. Assoon as our boat had passed,
the firing ceased.

I have deemed it no more than my duty to call your attention to this
fact, to the truth of which I am prepared to make affidavit whenever
called upon.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) J. ELMSLY,

Lieutenant, Royal Navy.

Sub-Inclosure 7 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Commiary-General Arcularius to Colonel Mc Nab.

State of New York,
bir, Niagara Falls, January 5, 1838.

INCLOSED I send you a copy of a letter received this morning from
Van Rensselaer, that you may better appreciate the embarrassing situa-
tion in which I am placed.

From the first moment after my arrival on this frontier down to the
present time, I have sedulously endeavoured to accomplish the purposes
of my mission, by every pacific, mild, and moderate measure which my
own, or the ingenuity and wisdom of my advisers, could suggest, and all
without the slightest success.

For your kind and generous forbearance, and courtesy during the
pendency of our negotiations, I tender you my grateful acknowledgments.
I can ask for nothing more at your hands; and if the poor deluded beings
who have encamped at Navy Island are slain, their blood be on their own
head, not mine.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) HENRY ARCULARIUS,

Commissary.General.

Sub-Inclosure 8 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Commissary Van Rensselaer to Commissary-General Arcutarius.

Head-Quarters, Navy Island,
Sir, January 4, 1838.

WHEN I accepted of the command of the forces now on this island,
I found them in possession of ordnance and arms, some of which, I believe,
were considered as donations from private individuals, others as loans, to
be returned whenever the'object which called us together might be accom-
plished.



Since then many additions have been made upon the same terms, as
I understand it, but my avocations have been so manifold, it has not been
in my power to know in all cases to whom we are obliged for the articles
in question.

Since I had the honour to receive your communication of the 2nd
instant however, I have consulted the Provisional Government, and am to
make the necessary inquiries to ascertain whether any of the property on
the island belongs to the people of the State of New York the earliest
leisure opportunity; and if such should be the case, I am to take the
necessary steps to put them in a position where they may be reclaimed,
when I will communicate with you again.

(Signed) RENSS. VAN RENSSELAER.

Sub-Inclosure 9 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Colonel Mc Nab to Commissary-General Arcularius.

Head-Quarters, Chippewa,
Sir, January 2, 1838.

I HAVE this moment had the honour to receive your communication
of this day, in which vou solicit a suspension of an attack on the assem-
blage now lodged on Navy Island, until you can demand the surrender of
any, and all, the arms, ordnance, and ordnance stores belonging to the
people of the State of New York, of which the assemblage have obtained
the clandestine possession, with permission to withdraw the same if they
shall be given up, and assuring me that the above application will be
made immediately, and without any delay, on your part, or on the part of
those citizens to whom the communication is addressed.

As the above application evinces a noble desire on the part of the
State of New York sincerely to co-operate with the Government of Her
Britannic Majesty in maintaining thelaws of nations against the atrocious
attack of a band of pirates, who have equally insulted the American as
well as the British authorities, by plundering their property, and by
openly setting their laws at defiance; I lose no time in assuring you, that
having been directed cordially to co-operate with the authorities, as well
as with the citizens of the United States, in maintaining the treaty which
happily exists between them and the British Empire, and to do everything
in my power to avoid, if possible, the effusion of human blood, I shall have
great pleasure in suspending my attack on the pirates on Navy Island,
and will cheerfully consent on the part of Her Majesty's Government that
any arms or property they may have stolen from your Government, or
from your citizens, may be withdrawn by you from the island for the pur-
pose of being immediately restored to their rightful owners.

Relying upon receiving from you the earliest possible notice of the
result of your laudable exertions, and trusting that the same good feeling
which has determined your Government to deprive these people of the
arms of the United States, which you acknowledge they have clandestinely
possessed themselves of, will induce you to prevent them from receiving
from your shores any further assistance or supplies,

I have, &c.,
(Signed) ALLEN Mc NAB,

Colonel commanding Her Majesty's Forces
on Niagara Frontier.

Sub-Inclosure 10 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1. d

Deposition of Andrew Drew.

District of Niagara to Wit.-Andrew Drew, of the village of Wood-
stock, in the district of London, Esquire, Commander in the Royal Navy,
deposeth and saith, that on the night of the 29th of December last, he

F



proceeded by direction of Colonel Allen Napin Mc Nab, commanding Her
Majesty's forces on the Niagara Frontier, to take possession of the
steam-boat "Caroline," and that deponent did take possession of her
accordingly; that lie immediately gave orders for her to be cast off from
the wharf to which she was moored, and to be set on fire; that previously
to her being cast off from the wharf, the cabin below was searched and
the colours brought from it; that there was a man found lying in the
cabin or deck, severely wounded, and that he was carefully lifted on to
the wharf before the vessel was unmoored; that one fire was made in the
cabin abaft, and another below in the forepart of the vessel, where the
machinery was, and where a quantity of cord-wood was piled together,
which was lighted from the coals of the fire-place; that full ten minutes
elapsed before the fire started into a blaze, and that one of deponent's
own men was there the whole time kindling the fire; that deponent does
not believe that any living being was on board the "lCaroline" after his
party left ier, and that it was impossible to suppose any person would
ave remained there knowing that a fire was lighting to burn the vessel;

that deponent was the last person who left the vessel except one, and that
man stepped into the boat immediately after him, and that deponent does
not believe that any person on board the "Caroline" jumped or was
thrown overboard.

(Signed) ANDREW DREWI
Sworn before me at Chippewa, this Commander, Royal Navy.

10th day of January, 1838. (Signed) JàAms CUMMINGS,
Justice of Peace.

Sub-Inclosure Il in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Deposition of Luke Walker.

Upper Canada, District of Niagara to Wit.-Luke Walker, of the
city of Buffalo, in the State of New York, in the United States of
America, labourer, maketh oath, and saith, that he was on board the
steam-boat "Caroline" last night, when she was captured; that there
were about thirty armed men on board; that the said boat, as he under-
stood, was the property of the patriots on Navy Island. She had been
employed during the day in taking provisions and stores in the island;
that deponent was in the cabin lying down when he heard the watch or
deck cry out, "Hurra boys, here comes the enemy ;" that he heard the
captain say to the men, "Sleep well to night, for we shall have hard work
to-morrow; there are many gentlemen coming from Rochester, and we
shall bave to take them over."

his

(Signed) LUKE WALKER.
mark.

Sworn before me at Chippewa, first having
been fully read and explained to him,
this 30th December, 1837. (Signed) W. H. MERRITT,

Justice of Peace.

Sub-Inclosure 12 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Deposition of Sylvanus Fearnes Wrigley.

Upper Canada, District of Niagara to Wit.-Sylvanus Fearnes
Wrigley, late of the township of Dumfries, in the district of Gore,
labourer, deposeth and saith, that he is a British subject ; that he enlisted
with Charles Duncombe and joined him in the London district; that
after Duncombe's men were dispersed, he went with Alfred Luce, another
of Duncombe's men, down to Chippewa, crossed the Niagara river to join
the patriots; that he was on board the steam-boat "Caroline," with the



said Alfred Luce, on their way to Navy Island, at the time she was
captured; that he believes said Luce was killed in the engagement; that
he understood the boat to be the property of the patriots; that on the
same day she was captured she had taken a six-pounder to the island
from Fort Schlosser on the American shore, with provisions and other
necessaries for Mc Kenzie's army; that the flag they had on board was a
British flag; that the deponent saw the cannon put on board; that the
cannon as he understood was the property of the United States, and that
it was in charge of one Parker, who this deponent understood was
brother to the Parker now in goal in Upper Canada, for high treason,
and who formerly kept a shop in Hamilton; said Parker had several
recruits for Me Kenzie with him; that when the boats approached the
steam-boat, a rifle was fired at them from the steam-boat; that he then
ran forward to the front of the steam-boat, when he was made a prisoner.

(Signed) SILvANUs FEARNs WRIGLEY.
The only firelock deponent saw on board was muskets and rifles.

(Signed) SILVANTus FEARNB WRIGLEY.
Sworn before me at Chippewa, this

30th day of December, 1837. (Signed) W. H. MERRITT,
Justice of Peace.

Sub-Inclosure 13 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Deposition of George Nolop.

Upper Canada, District of Niagara to Wit.-George Nolop, of the
village of Brantford, in the district of Gore, yeoman, deposeth and saith,
that he is a British subject; that on the 28th of this present month he
went over on business to the United States ; that on arriving at Fort
Schlosser in the said United States, he was taken prisoner by a body of
armed men, who said they were citizens of the United States; that he,
was put under guard and detained for about twenty-four hours; that he
this deponent, repeatedly applied to be liberated, but was told by the
guard that they would not let any damned tory go; that whilst he was a
prisoner at Fort Schlosser, he saw a six-pounder, belonging, as his guard
informed him, to the United States, taken from the fort, put on board the
steam-boat "Caroline," and taken to Nav Island; that while he was
prisoner, he heard the men belonging to the boat state that the boat
belonged to the patriots, and that she was to be employed in taking
stores, guns, and other necessaries to Navy Island, for the use of the
patriot army; that while deponent was a prisoner some armed men came
up to the tavern where he was, and said that the tories had got the boat;
that the men turned out and fired upon the persons they called tories;
that deponent heard from his guard that there were about thirty armed
men on board the boat; that during the confusion he made his escape;
that when the men of the boat went down to man her, they marched in
regular order; that in the guard-room in the tavern where he was con-
fined, there was a cask filled with six-pound shot, and two casks of grape
and canister, and the mon belonging to the steam-boat said, that said
shot had been taken out of the arsenal at Buffalo, and was sent to the
patriots; that one of the crew told this deponent after the steam-boat
had been taken, that he was sentry on deck when the attack was made,
and demanded the counter-sign several times from the attacking party,
but they did not give it.

(Signed) GEORGE NOLOP.
Sworn before me at Chippewa, this

30th day of December, 1837. (Signed) GEORGE RYKERT,
Justice of Peace.

I I III
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Sub-Inclosure 14 in Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Deposition of James Hood.

District of Niagara to wit.-James Hood, late of the city of Buffalo,
in the State of New York, mariner, but now of the village of Chippewa,
in the province of Upper Canada, maketh oath and saith, that lie was at
Buffalo when the steamer " Caroline" was cut out of the ice; he saw the
men working at her, and in his opinion the number employed could not
be much less than one thousand; that it was generally understood that
they were volunteers ,working for Mc Kenzie and the patriots on Navy
Island, and it was the common talk of the town that the " Caroline" was
intended for the use of the patriots on the island; that he, this deponent,
saw on board of the said boat when she left, muskets, swords, and flour;
that he asked Captain Appleby who commanded the boat, where she was
going; and that Appleby said to Dunkirk, which is forty-five miles above
Buffalo; that deponent replied that he believed the Dunkirk he meant
would be in another direction, meaning Navy Island; that the captain
then smiled, and made no reply. Deponent further saith, that he has
heard many rich people in Buffalo say, that if the patriots would fight
they would find them.

(Signed) JAMEs Hoen.
Sworn before me at Chippewa, in the district
of Niagara, this Sth day of January, 1838. (Signed) WARNER NELLES,

Justice of the Peace.

C

Inclosure 3 in No. 1.

Mr. Benton to Mr. Forsyth.

Sir, Buffalo, January 8, 1838.
I HAVE the honour to hand you for the information of the President,

copies of sundry affidavits relating to the destruction of the steam-boat
" Caroline" at Schlosser, within the territory of the State of New York,
the originals of which are retained in my possession. I am informed by
H. W. Rogers, Esq. of this city, that a communication in relation to the
burning of the steam-boat and other matters connected with that unfor-
tunate event have been communicated to the President.

I am, &c.,
(Signed) N. S. BENTON.

United States' Attorney.

Sub-Inclosure 1 in Inclosure 3 in No. 1.

Deposition of Samuel Longley.

State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

Samuel M. Longley, residing in Buffalo, being sworn, deposes and
says, that he has just returned to this city from Canada; that whilst there
he was in the village of Queenstown; that lie was in said village on the
evening of the 30th of December, 1837; that whilst in the bar-room of
the Queen's Hotel, where lie put up, he saw there a number of persons,
among whom was a man whom this deponent was informed was Lieu-
tenant Mc Donald or Mc Donough of the militia; also a young and tall
man of the name of Allen, as this deponent was informed. There were
several others with the said Mc Donald and Allen. The said Mc Donald
or Mc Donough stated in the presence of this deponent, that he was one
of the party who crossed from the Canada side to Schlosser to attack the
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steam-boat *lCaroline ;" that there were in all from forty to seventy
persons in the boats which crossed; that there were four boats in all that
crossed; that the boats were under the command of three naval officers;
that the enterprize was undertaken to excite the people of the United
States to war; that they were acting under authority; that before leaving
Canada they knew where the boat lay ; that on approaching the boat they
were hailed by the sentry on board the boat; that they replied "Friends;"
that they immediately boarded and commenced firing upon the persons
on board the boat, who were then just rushing up from the cabin. The
said Mc Donough or Mc Donald further stated, that the names of the
naval officers who were in command, were Warren, Mosier, and Drew.
On answering to the sentinel that they were friends, they were fired upon
by the sentinel from the steam-boat. They immediately fired at and
killed him; that on ascending the boat they commenced an indiscriminate
slaugbter, giving no quarter. A man of the name of Arnold attacked a
man on board the steam-boat, who resisted the said Arnold, received a
wound. He then knocked down the man and with his foot held him
down, and with his pistol beat the man's face until his teeth were all
beaten out; that Arnold then knocked his brains out with his pistol, and
then continued beating him until he had shattered his pistol; that Arnold
carried the pistol over to Chippewa all covered with the brains of the
murdered man, and boasted of the deed, exhibiting his pistol as proof of
the fact; that after firing the boat and cutting her loose, the said Warren
remained on board the boat to prevent any persons who might be below
from escaping; that on several persons coming up from the cabin they
were all stabbed with a sword by the said Warren; that the said Warren
remained on board the steam-boat for the purpose of preventing said
escape, until he was obliged to leave the boat on account of the fire. The
said Mc Donough further stated, that they knew that the persons whom
they attacked were citizens of the United States; that they took two
prisoners, and that they were now at Chippewa, and that violent means
had been used to force the said prisoners to unfold the plans of the force
on Navy Island and on the frontier. The said Mc Donough further
stated, that they knew that the boat was from Buffalo, and that she did
not belong to Navy Island; that they expected that there were a great
many persons on board, and that having gone over in order to murder so
many persons, they were disappointed in filnding so few persons on board;
that there were killed twelve or fourteen persons. The said Allen, who
was in company with the said Mc Donough or Mc Donald, stated the
same matters and facts as Mc Donough. They were then on their way
to Coburg-where they resided.

Sworn before me this 1st day of (Signed) S. M. LONGLEY.
January, A.D. 1838.
(Signed) H. A. SALISBURY, Commissioner of Deeds forErie County.

Sub-Inclosure 2 in Inclosure 3 in No. 1.

Deposition of Henry Emmons.

State of New York, County of Niagara Sessions.

Henry Emmons, of the town of Niagara in said county, being duly
sworn, says, that he is bar-tender at the public-house kept by James
Field, at Schlosser in said county, and has been such bar-tender for one
month preceding the day of the taking this affidavit; that there never has
been an individual detained by a military guard at Schlosser during any
part of that time. And this deponent further says, that from his employ-
ment at Schlosser it would be impossible for any person to be detained
there without the knowledge of this deponent; that particularly no such
person as George Nolop ever was known to be at Schlosser in any manner.
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And this deponent further says, that he has read a copy of George Nolop's
affidavit taken at the district of Niagara in Upper Canada, on the 30th day
of December last, and that no part of the same is true to the knowledge or
belief of deponent. And this eponent further says, that there is no fort
at Schlosser or nearer that place than Fort Niagara, a distance of sixteen
miles from Schlosser; that there never was a cask filled with six-pound
shot, or two casks of grape and canister in the house or near the premises
where this deponent resides. And this deponent further says, that no
person fired a gun at the persons engaged in taking the boat "Caroline,"
and massacreing the persons on board of her, and that there were no
armed men near the boat at the time she lay at the wharf; that so far as
he saw or believes, no guns or arms were carried on board said "Caro-
line " by the persons going on board to sleep the night she was taken.

(Signed) HENRY EMMONs.
Sworn and subscribed this Ist day of

January, 1838, before me, (Signed) JAMES M. SMITH, JUN.,
Commissioner of Deeds.

Sub-Inclosure 3 in Inclosure 3 in No. 1.

Deposition of Benjamin Holt, Milton Keyes, Alanson Liscom, 4c.

State of New York, County of Niagara Sessions.

Benjamin Holt, Milton Keyes, Alanson Liscom, William Chappell,
E. Burton Reynolds, all of Schlosser in said county, being duly sworn,
say, that they have heard the foregoing affidavit of Henry Emmons read,
and that the same is true in all respects from their knowledge and belief,
and that each and all of these deponents were at Schlosser at the time the
steam-boat "Caroline " was taken and burnt.

(Signed) BENJAMIN HoLT,
E. BURTON REYNOLDS,
ALANSON LiscoM,
MILTON KETES,
WILLIAM CHAPPELL.

Sworn and subscribed this 1st day of
January, 1838, before me, (Signed) JAMES M. SMITH, JUN.,

Commissioner of Deeds.

Sub-Inclosure 4 in Inclosure 3 in No. 1.

Deposition of Philo Smith.

I HEREBY certify that I heard several of the officers under the com-
mand of Colonel Mc Nab at Chippewa, say on Saturday morning the 30th
instant, that the expedition which took the steam-boat "Caroline" on the
night previous had acted properly; and that the men did perfectly correct
in going into an American port and massacreing the persons on board the
steam-boat "Caroline." That there were two officers who made such
expressions, and that he knows they were officers from the fact that they
were dressed in uniform, and had on one or two epaulettes and iron
swords; that they said the reason of their sending to take the boat was,
that she was furnishing and carrying arns and provisions to the troops
on Navy Island which they gave as a justification. That deponent resides
at Chippewa in Upper Canada, and left there yesterday morning, and
that he did not know the names or rank of the officers who made such
expressions.

(Signed) PHILO S. SMITH.
Sworn and subscribed before me, this

31st day of December, 1837. (Signed) N. K. HALL,
Alderman of the 5th Ward of the

City of Buffalo.
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Inclosure 4 in No. 1.

Mr. George Pratt to the President of the United States.

Sir, Rochester, January 10, 1838.
COLONEL Mc NAB having avowed that the steam-boat "Caroline"

was destroyed by his orders, justifies himself by the plea, sustained by
affidavits, that hostilities were commenced from the American shore.

I inclose you the affidavits of four respectable citizens of Rochester
who were present at the time, who contradict the assertions of Colonel
Mc Nab.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) GEORGE W. PRATT.

Sub-Inclosure 1 in Inclosure 4 in No. 1.

Deposition of Amos Sawyer, Matthew Leffingwell, Daniel Osborn, and Nathan
Blossom.

THE Undersigned, citizens of the United States, residing in the county
of Monroe, having had our attention called to the official statement of
Colonel A. N. Mc Nab, accompanied by documents, represent that they all
staid at Schlosser, on the night of the 28th day of December last. That
there is but one dwelling at or near all Fort Schlosser, which is the tavern
kept by James Field, and at which they staid on the night aforesaid; that
on the said night there was no body of armed men at or about the said
tavern, and there was no person at that place detained as a prisoner, or
kept under guard, or confined in any way, as represented in the affidavit
of George Nolop, accompanying the communication of Colonel Mc Nab;
that old Fort Schlosser is entirely in ruins, and there was no fortification
of any kind.at said place, or any garrison or military station at that place
on the evening or night of the 28th day of December aforesaid.

That on the night aforesaid the tavern at which these deponents
staid was crowded, and these deponents all slept on the floor, and rose
very early in the morning; that just about the time of their rising as
aforesaid, they heard the discharge of cannon either from Navy Island or
the main land of Upper Canada; and these deponents immediately went
out, and down to the shore of the Niagara River; that no cannon or gun
of any kind was discharged from the American shore during the morning
of the 29th day of December last.

The Undersigned, Amos Sawyer, further states, that whilst standing
on the shore, and after his companions separated from him some distance,
he saw a boat coming round the upper end of Navy Island, and pass
down the river between that island and the lower end of Grand Island;
that whilst the boat was so passing round said Navy Island, and down
the river as aforesaid, several guns or cannon-shots were discharged from
said Navy Island towards said boat; that he, said deponent, continued to
watch said boat, until she arrived at Chippewa, on the main land of the
Canada shore; that said Sawyer has no doubt that said boat was the
same under charge of Lieutenant J. Elmsley, of the Royal Navy, referred
to in his letter to Colonel McNab; that from the time the said boat
appeared in sight at the upper end of Navy Island until she landed at
Chippewa, there was no cannon or gun of any kind discharged from Fort
Schlosser, or from the American shore at or near said place, or within
hearing at said place. (Signed) Amos SAWYER.

MATTHEw LEFFINGWELL.
DANIEL OSBORN.
NATHAN N. BLOSSOM.
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Monroe County Sessions.

The above-named Amos Sawyer, Matthew Leffingwell, Daniel Osborn,
Nathan H. Blossom, being by me sworn, deposed and said, that the state-
ments above mentioned by them respectively made and subscribed, are
correct and true.

(Signed) ELISHA JOHNSON,
Sworn this 9th day of January, 1838. Mayor of Rochester.

Inclosure 5 in No. 1.

Mr. Rogers to Mr. Forsyth.

Sir, Buffalo, January 16, 1838.
YOUR'S, of the 6th instant, addressed to Mr. Benton, United States'

Attorneyfor the Northern district of this State, came to hand on Saturday
last. Mr. Benton had previously left this city for Albany, whither he has
gone to attend court, which he deemed absolutely necessary for the public
interests, giving me instructions to act in his behalf during his absence.
I shall proceed immediately to collect the information desired, so far as it
is in my power to do so, and keep you constantly advised of the progress
of my efforts. Inclosed I send you copies of affidavits taken subsequently
to the transmission of the first documents in reference to the Schlosser
affair, some of which, and especially the one made by Appleby and others,
were intended to meet certain points in the affidavits taken under the
direction of Colonel Mc Nab, with copies of which you have been already
put in possession by the Canadian authorities, as I understand. I have
written for, and shal probably receive to-morrow, a certified copy of the
minutes of the grand jury taken by the district attorney of Niagara
county upon the complaint preferred against some of the prisoners engaged
in the capture of the "Caroline," and the murdering of her inmates,
which I will immediately forward to your department, and will endeavour
at the same time to send other affidavits, throwing light upon the same
transaction. It is possible you have already received from Mr. Benton
copies of some of the affidavits herewith sent, but for greater certainty I
forward at this time all now in my possession.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) H. W. ROGERS,

District Attorneyfor the County of Erie, V.

Sub-Inclosure 1 in Inclosure 5 in No. 1.

Deposition of Messrs. Gilman Appleby, William Seaman, jun., John
C. Haggerty, 8;c.

State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

Gilman Appleby, William Seamen, jun., John C. Haggerty, Charles
F. Harding,JWilliam Kennedy, William Wells, being duly sworn, say,
and each for himself says, that, since making affidavits on the 30th in-
stant, in the county of Niagara, in relation to the outrage upon the steam-
boat "Caroline," at Fort Schlosser, they have heard certain papers read
purporting to be copies of affidavits made at Chippewa, Upper Canada, on
the 30th instant, by Luke Walker and Sylvanus Fearnes Wrigley, before
William H. Merritt, esquire; and they further say, that there were no
armed men on board of said steam-boat "Caroline" on the night of the
29th instant, except the British force which attacked said steam-boat.
And the·said Gilman Appleby says, that he did not say, and the other
deponents say, that they did not hear any person say that night, "Sleep
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well to-night, for we shall have hard work to-morrow; there are many
gentlemen from Rochester, and we shall have to take them over," or any
such expression.

These deponents also say, each for himself, that the only flag on said
steam-boat "-Caroline" was the American flag; that they heard no firing
from the steam-boat at any time before or during the fight, for theyhad
no fire-arms on board with which they could fire, except as stated below
in this affidavit.

These deponents further say, and each for himself says, that it was
not understood on board of said steam-boat, that she was the property of
the patriots on Navy Island, but it was well understood on board that she
was the property of William Wells, of the city of Buffalo.

The said John C. Haggerty says, that he had in his pocket a pistol,
with about a four-inch barrel to it; but it was not loaded, and was not
out of his pocket during the night, and he had nothing with which he
could have loaded it.

And these deponents severally say, that they are citizens of the
United States, and further say not.

(Signed) GILMAN APPLEBY.
WILLIAM SEAMAN, JUN.
JOHN C. HAGGERTY.
C. F. HARDING.
WILLIAM KENNEDY.
WILLIAM WELLS.

Sworn before me, December 31, 1837.
(Signed) D. TILLINGHAST,

Sup. Commissioner, 4'c.

Erie County Sessions.-I certify the foregoing to be a true copy of an
original affidavit taken before me this day.

(Signed) D. TILLINGHAST,
Bufalo, December 31, 1837. sup. Commissioner, sc.

Sub-Inclosure 2 in Inclosure 5 in No. 1.

Deposition of Norman Barnum.

State of New York, County of Erie Sessions.

Norman Barnum, being duly sworn, says, that on the 29th day of
December instant, this deponent was at the British encampment at
Chippewa, in Upper Canada; that during the afternoon of that day, this
deponent saw the steam-boat "Caroline" passing from Schlosser, on the
American or United States' side of the Niagara River, to Navy Island;
that immediately after the "Caroline" was seen so passing, a great excite-
ment prevailed among the officers and soldiers at Chippewa, under the
command of Colonel Allan Mc Nab; that it was there determined by
some of the officers under the command of Colonel Mc Nab to seize the
said "Caroline," and the command of the expedition was given to Captain
Mosier. That this deponent further says, that he heard distinctly Colonel
Allan Mc Nab say to the officers engaged in said expedition, that if the
cavalry soldiers would let their swords and pistols go, that he would be
personally responsible for their return.

And this deponent further says, about eight o'clock in the evening,
twelve boats left Chippewa, with the intention of seizing the said steam-
boat, and bring her a prize to Chippewa; that at the time the said boats
started, the lights from said steam-boat were distinctly seen, and it was
well known that said steam-boat lay at the wharf at Schlosser.

And this deponent further says, that among the officers and persons
engaged in said expedition, were said Mosier, Rowland Mc Donald, and
Alexadder Mc Leod; and that the said Mc Leod boasted when he returned
to Chippewa, that his sword had drunk the blood of two men on board
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the qaid qteggir-boat. And this depontent further says, that soon after said
bq4‡s lad left Cþippewa, preparagtiona vere made to build beacon-lights#
little above Chippewa; and soon after the signal was given from the boats,
two be cons were -ight end the boatg retured n t them.

And this deponent fprthpr say#, ;hat, from what he heard and saw
dring the day and night at Chippewa, ho Ihs not the least doubt but
that Coloqel MQNa was cquantedt with -nd approved of said expedition.

(Signed) No a9N* BAaNUM
SWqrn and asihcribed this t31s day

pf p)e~eser, 1837, Qpfqre me, T(Signed) N. K. HALL,
Alderman of the th ward of -he

City of BDual.

Sub-Inclosure 3 in Inclosure 5 in No. 1.

Deposition of Luke Walker.

State of New York, County of Niagara Sessions.

Luke Walker, of Buffalo, in the county of Erie, being duly sworn,
deposes and says, hat he is nineteen years old; that on Saturday morning,
the 30th of December, 1837, about half-past twelve o'clock, he was on
board the steam-bot "Caroline," which was at that time lying at the
wharf called Schlosser, landing about two miles and a half from the Falls
of Niagara, in' the town of Niagara, in the county of Niagara; that on
board of the said boat this deponent thinks there was about twenty-five or
thirty men; that this deponent at the time last aforesaid was awoke by some
persons breaking in doors and windows of said boat; that he immediately
got up and went on deck, and saw a number of armed.ng-g=hould think
about forty or fifty; that the men were armed with pikes, sworde and
pistols; that this deponent saw one man wounded who lay on deck; that
this deponent was seized and thrown down on said man, and one of the
men who were on said bQat threatened to run this deponent through,
unless he would tell where the men were who were on the boat. This
deponent was thrown down upon the wounded men, and where he came in
contact with him was covered with blood; heard the man groan, and say
" Oh dear 1'' This deponenit was taken. into one of the boats that con-
tained the men who boarded the steam-boat "Caroline," and carried to
Chippewa, in Upper Canada, to the officer's quarters. This deponent was
asked if he knew of the steam-boat "Caroline"having carried anything
to the sl194, ansi how many men there were on Navy Island, and many
other questions, ylàeh this depount does not recollect; that the men i
said bçats towed said boat isuo the river, that they.then set ire to it, and
it went over the Fglls. And this, deponentlfurther says, that beforethey
toQk the boat from the ahore anud towed her into the river, they set lire to
it in the cabin, ondeck, snd'could notget it to hurn until they toredown
some of the doors and sed them for kindling wood; that when the men
came on said boats, this deponent heard some of them say, "give no quar-
ters;" that the men on board the steam-boat had no arms ; that this dépo-
nent went on board to sleep; that one of the men on board was calléd
Mc Cormxick and Zealand; witness heard other names mentioned, but dues
not recollect them.

One of the men said he went on to the wharf and turned over a negro
man that was dead: that the men who boarded the "lCaroline" remained
at the landing about three quarters of an hour before they took her off;
that at the time they landed at Chippewa there was a large body of men
collected at the place of landing, who had a large fire for the purpose of
affording a light to the men who had boarded and burned the "Caroline;"
that when some of the men who had boarded the "Caroline" landed, those
assembled gave them cheers ; that while on the Canadian side he heard
many of them say that the burning of the "Caroline " was one of the best



acts that could have been done; that if the Yankees want to war with
them they will catch it; that they detained him, witness, until the after-
noon of Saturday, 31st of December, and. then gave witness a pass.

his
(Signed), Taxl M WALKER.

mark.
Subscribed and sworn January Ist, 1838,

beforë ine. (Signed) C. W. SMITH,
Commissioner of Deef 4gc.

Sub-Inclosure 4 in Inclosure 5 in No. 1.

Deposition of Jaes H. King._

State of New.York, Erie County Sessions.

James H. King, of the city of Buffalo, being duly sworn, says, that he
made an affidavit on the 30th December last, in relation to the outrage on
the steam-boat "Caroline," on the night of the 29th December last, at
Schlosser; that he has heard the foregoing affidâvit made by Gilman,
A'pleby, William Seamanjunior, John C. aggerty, Charles F. Harding,
William Keznnedy and William Wells, and the copies of affidavits of
Luke Walker and Sylvanus Fearnes Wrigley, mentioned therein, read;
that the facts statedin said affidavit of Gilman Appleby and others are
tiie; that deponent is a citizen of the United States.

(Signed) JAMES H. KING.
S vorn before me January 8th, 1838.

(Signed)D." TtfLL ING H A ST,

up. Com6missioner, tic.

Erie Sessions.-I certify that the foregoing is a copy of an affidavit
this day taken before me.

(Signed) D. TILLINGHAST,

Buffalo, January 8th, 1838.

Sub-Inclosure 5 in Inclosure 5 in No. 1.

Deposition of Alford Luce.

State of New York, Erie County Sessions,

Alford Luce, being duly sworn, deposes and says, that his late resi-
dence has been in the town of Dumfries, Gore district, Upper Canada,
that he, in company with SyIvanus Fearnes Wrigley, was on board the
steam-boat "Caroline " at Sehlosser, on the evening of the 29th of Decem-
ber last; that he had retirèd to sleep in the upper-deck cabin at an early
hour; about midnight he was awakened by one of the watch on board,
and was requested to give up his berth to him; he accordingly did so, and
went down into the lower cabin; in.a short time, Mr. Kennedy, another of
the steam-boat watch, made an outery to Captain Appleby, that boats ful
9 f men, calling themsèlves friends, were coming up to the " Caroline ;" this
deponent immediately ran upon deck, and discovered the boats coming
under the stern of the "Caroline," along the side of the wharf, and the
men commenced jumping on-the wharf; at this instant deponent passed
off the -forward part of the said boat upon the open floor of the warehouse,
aíd while going to the main dock, two muskets were fired from the boats,
and Mr. Durfee; who was about six feet from deponent, a little in the rear,
fell; deponent escaped to the road; heard firing and clashing of arms.
This deponent further says, that there were no arms nor armàed men on
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board the "Caroline," nor were there any upon the wharf, nor upon the
shore.

Deponent has read the affidavit attributed to the above-named Syl-
vanus Fearnes Wrigley, and from his knowledge of him, being an intimate
acquaintance and relative, is positive that if lie made said affidavit the
material part must have been from compulsion and terror.

(Signed) ALFORD LUcE.
Sworn before me this 12th day of

January, A.D. 1838. (Signed) MILTON MC NEIL,
Commissioner of Deeds of Erie County.

Sub-Inclosure 6 in Inclosure 5 in No. 1.

Deposition of Parkhurst Whitney.

State of New York, County of Niagara Sessions.

Parkhurst Whitney, of the town and county of Niagara, being duly
sworn, doth depose and say, that on the 4th day of January, in the year 1838,
at Chippewa, in the province of Upper Canada, he had an interview with
Sir Francis Bond Head, Lieutenant-Governor of said province; that in the
course of conversation with said Sir Francis Bond Head, the capture and
destruction of the steam-boat "Caroline," and the killing of some of lier
inmates, was spoken of and conversed about freely, both by this deponent
and the said Sir Francis Bond Head; that in such conversation it was
understood and admitted by the said Sir Francis Bond Head that the said
"Caroline-" was captured and taken at Schlosser, and within the United
States; that the said Sir Francis Bond Head expressly and distinctly
stated to this deponent, that he fully justified and approved of the cap-
ture and destruction of the said "Caroline," and of the circumstances
under which it was effected; that the said "Caroline " was a piratical
vessel, and that it was alike the duty of his Government and that of the
United States, and all others, to seize her wherever found; that this con-
versation took place at the head-quarters of Colonel Mc Nab, command-
ing Her Britannic Majesty's forces at Chippewa aforesaid, and further this
deponent saithi not.

(Signed) PARKUURST WHITNEY.
Subscribed and sworn, January 14, 1838,

before me, (Signed) W. HUNT,
First Judge of Niagara Court.

Sub-Inclosure 7 in Inclosure 5 in No 1.

Deposition of Samuel Chase, John Hibbard, and John Vail.

State of New York, County of Erie Sessions.

Samuel Chase and John Hibbard, of the city of Buffalo, in the said
county of Erie, and John Vail, of Hanover, in the county of Chautauque,
being duly sworn, depose and say, and each for himself says, that he has
known the steam-boat "Caroline" for at least four years next previous
to lier capture and destruction by British troops at or near Schlosser, on
the 30th day of December last past; and these deponents each for himself
say, that they were well acquainted with the construction of the said
steam-boat and with her machinery, and that she was worth, at the time
of capture and destruction aforesaid, exclusive of her furniture, the sum
of 4,500 dollars; these deponents further say, that they have understood,
and verily believe, that the said steam-boat, at the time of lier capture
and destruction as aforesaid, was owned by William Wells, of the city of
Buffalo, in the county of Erie aforesaid, and that a part of the furniture
and other property, then in the said' steam-boat, was also owned by the
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said William Wells, to wit, one table, worth, in the opinion of these depo-
nents, the sum of six dollars, one stove worth thirty-five dollars, an awn-
ing worth ten dollars, oil and jugs worth ten dollars, one carpet worth
five dollars, bar furniture worth five dollars, one over-coat worth twenty-
five dollars, an oil-can, four lamps, four brooms, and wash-bowl, worth in
the aggregate at least the sum of four dollars; and further these depo-
nents say not.

(Signed) SAMUEL CHASE,
JOHN HIBBARD,
JOHN VAIL.

Subscribed and sworn, January 16, 1838,
before me, (Signed) IsAAC HUMPHREY,

Judge of the Erie County Courts.

Inclosure 6 in No. 1.

Mr. Benton to Mr. Forsyth.

United States, District Attorney's Ofice,
Sir, Little Falls, February 16, 1838.

I HAVE the honour to hand you the affidavit of three of the indi-
viduals residing at Rochester, which in my letter of the 6th instant from
Buffalo I informed the department I had taken measures to procure.
Mr. Blossom, the fourth person, being absent, his verification of the facts
stated was not procured, nor is it very material in any way as he would
not, I am told, swear to anything more than Messrs. Osborn and Leffing-
well have done.

My object in procuring this proof was, to show by it that Lieutenant
J. Elmsley, Royal Navy, was mistaken, wholly and entirely so, when he
made the statement that he was fired upon from the main American
shore on the morning of the 29th of December last in passing round Navy
Island.

I am, &c.,
(Signed) N. S. BENTON,

United States' Attorney.

Sub-Inclosure in Inclosure 6 in No. 1.

Deposition of Messrs. Amos Sawyer, Daniel Osborn, and
Matthew Leffingwell.

Rochester, New York, February 13, 1838.
THE Undersigned citizens of the United States, residing in the county

of Monroe, having had our attention called to the official statement of
Colonel A, N. Mc Nab, accompanied by documents, represent that they
all stayed at Schlosser on the night of the 28th day of December last ;
that there is but one dwelling at or near Fort Schlosser, which is the
tavern, kept by James Field, and at which they stayed on the night
aforesaid; that on the said night there was no body of armed men at or
about the said tavern, and there was no person at that place detained as
a prisoner, or kept under guard, or confined in any way as represented
in the affidavit of George Nolop, accompanying the communication of
Colonel Mc Nab. That old Fort Schlosser is entirely in ruins, and there
was no fortification of any kind at said place, or any garrison or military
station at that place, on the evening or night of the 28th day of December
aforesaid.

That on the pight aforesaid, the tavern at which these deponents
staid was crowded, and these deponents all slept on the floor, and rose
very early in the morning; that just about the time of their rising as
aforesaid, they heard the discharge of cannon, either from Navy Island or



the main iand of Upper Canada ; and these deponents immediately went
out and down to the shore of tIe Niagara River ; that.no cannon or gu
,f any kisd was discharged from the Arieèan shore drring the reorna
of the 2th day of December last.

- The U ig yed, Amos&wyer, further stetes, that whilst standirg
lm &e shore, ad after bis eômpanions separated from hiindsômédistance,
he saw a boat coming round the upper end of Navy Island; and pass
down the river between that island and the lower end of Grand Island;
that whilst the boat was passing round said Navy Island and down the
river as aloresalid, several guns or cannon-shots were discharged from
said Navy Island towards said boat ; that he, said deponent, continued to
watch said boat until she arrived at Chippewa, on the main land of the
Canada',hare' that gaid Sawyer has no doubt that said boat was the
same under charge of Lieutenant J. Elmsley, of the Royal Navy, referred
to in his letter to Colonel Mc Nab ; that from the time the said boat
appeared in sight at the upper end of Navy Island, until she landed at
Chippewa, there was no cannon or gun of any kind discharged from Fort
Schlosser, or from the American shore at or near said place, or within
hearing of said place.

(Signed) AMOS SAwYER,
DANIEL OSBORN,
MATTHEw LEFFINGWELL.

State of New York, Monroe Coitty Sessions.

On -the 13th day. o .February, 1838, before ae the Subscriber,
Recorder of Rochester, came Amos Sawyer, Matthew Leffingwell, and
Daniel Osborn, and made solemn oath that the foregoing stateinent of
fact:in pÉint,subscribed_.by them, is tr(e.

f(Signed) IsAAc ýHILs.

Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Mr. Benton to Mr. Forsyth.

Sir, Bufalo, February 6, 1838.
IN obedience to the instructions contained in your letter of the 6th of

January last, wherein I was directed by the President to collect all the
evidence within my reach of the circumstances relating to the extraordi-
nary outrage committed at Schlosser, the value of the property destroyed,
the names of the persons killed and wounded, the fate of those who were
carried off, and especially the namesand official characters of the persons
who were the perpetrators or the instigators of those acts of atrocity, I
have now the honour to-hand you, for ihe information- of the President, all
the evidence I.have been able!to pvocure iniregard tothatmost extraordi-
mary outrage.. Ishoukdhave put yur department-in possession of these
ppers.,at:aî9 earlier day, but, as I havebefore advised you, the letter con-
t4ining the.instructions.camet to this ,city during my absence, and Ifound
itatfLitteFalls on - myreturu from Albany, where I1had been to -attend

:ttedsessionofythe district court. On .my arrival in this city1 com-
niencedcollecting information,and drawing. .'up the:âffidavits *hich are
inclosed, aMdhave progressed therein with all the expedition in my power,
having been omewhat delayed in consequence of various interruptions in
the progress of taking thetestimony.

It doses not become me to. say anything in regard to the bearing of
the testimony, but I. can assure the department, that the character and
standing of most of the affirmants are highly respectable, and every indi.
vidual whose affidavit, was drawn out by me was rigidly exainined, and
the.statements made by., the affirmants were taken down and written out
as nearly in the language used as could be done. The affidavits were
tbçn carefully. read over, and. every alteration or-amendment which waà



suggeste4 was made, and 'then'fair copies of the drafts were, made and
sworn to. iaving been on the spot imxhediately after the trañactîoù
took lace, and remained here a considerable time, and having mñpde the
efforts tô get oit the truth when the public mind here wats quiet and com-
pçsed, which I think could not fail to produce what I had ii view, and
that was to get at nothing but the truth, I am free to say that in rny
jüdgment it will be wholly out of the power of Her Britannie Majesty's
officers iUpjer Canada to change or alter any of the material facts
stated in ihe affidavits. I have taken the liberty of appending to thé
þpe-rs the copy of a letter from Andrew Drew, Commander ftoyal.-Navy,
tHon. f A. N. Me Nab, Colonel commanding Her Majesty's forces, bing
the report of the former officer of the capture and destrúctioi of the
steamnboat "daroline,".which I took from the Niagara "6Reporter'' of the
11th of January; 1838, a newspaper printed in Upper Canada, and is no
loubt an authentie paper. The British forces carried away two persons

from the "Caroline," Sylvanus Flavuâ Wrigley a British subject, and
LukeWalker a boy and an American citizen. Walkerwas sent over to
the American.side within two or three days after he was tâken prisoner,
and I saw him at Niagara Falls on the lst day of January Iast, and undei-
stand he is now in the city of Buffalo. Luke Walker did not complain in
my hearing of harsh or ill usage while he was detained in Canada, and I
have not learned that he has done so to any other person. Wrigley. after
having been confined in the guard-house some time at 'Chippewa, has
been, as I am informed, discharged by the British authorities, and per-
mitte to go at eirge. I have not been able to obtain the names of any of
the persons on board the "Caroline" who were killed, or are' supposed to
have;lost their lives in that affair, or who are missing, except Amos Durfee
of Buffalo, and the little èabin-boy, who is in the affidavits called "Little
l3illy," whose real naime was Johnson, both of whom it appears were shot
after they had left the steam-boat, on the American shore;and within our
territòries.

.W. L. Mc Kenzie and R. Van Rensselaer, with their .followers, took
possession of Navy Island on or about the 14th of Decernber last past; and
froái.that period to the 14th.day of. January last, at which time Navy Islan4
was abandoned by the forces collected under the authority of what was
called the Provisional Government of the State of Upper Canada; the
wharf and dock on the American side of the Niagara River, and nearly
opposite to Chippewa, was, I am informed, used as a landing-place, and
iýaany of the people whopassed to and from Navy.Islaid dui-ing the period
a6ove mentioned,departed from and landed at this place. From this
point also.a very considerable part of the stores, provisions, arms, and
munitions of war were taken on to the island, util the Marshal of the
Districtand Mr. Barker.the collector, under and pursuant to my advie,
interposed and prevented thé em4arkàtion of armed men and munitions of
war at this place. Thelanding above mentioned is about half a mile up the
river -from the spot where Fort Schlosser once was, but there is h a
vestige of the fort left, and therè is nothing to indicate to the sight that
there ever' was a- fort at the spot pointed out: as the place where it was.

I have not, after the most diligent inquiries, been able to learn that
arms of any desçription belonging to the United States were carried on to
Navy Island; and I am well assured that the six-pounder taken to the
island on the 29th, day of December last was not the property of the
Jnited States.

I am constrained to say, and it is with deep regret and mortification,
that while the armed forces occupied Navy Island, and previous to the
"'Caroline's " going to Schlosser, small parties of theNavy Islanders were
upon the wést side of Grand Island ; that Mr. Van Rensselae- removed
some of his sick on to the latter island at one time ; and that it is pro-
bable discharges from small arms were made from Grand Island at the
inhabitants or armed forces on the Canadian side of the river, although
nothing very serious happened in consequence of it.

IPhese discharges of musketry were made by persons belonging to, or
attached to, Navy Island ; and this point is some miles distant from the
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landing place at Schlosser where the "Caroline" was destroyed, and
higher up the river. A British subject by the name of George Nolop has,
I understand, made an affidavit wherein he states, among other. things,
that he was taken and detained a prisoner at Schlosser, and that a cannon
was taken from the fort, put on board the "Caroline," and taken to Navy
Island. The affidavits of Henry Emmons and others refute and deny the
statements of this man very positively and decidedly. I have annexed to
the papers, herewith handed to you, a newspaper copy of a letter from J.
Elmsley, Lieutenant of the Royal Navy, to Colonel Mc Nab, and have done
so because the outrage complained of in that letter is alleged to have been
committed on the morning previous to the capture and destruction of the
" Caroline," and from a point on the main American shore near where
that tragic event took place. I have made the most diligent inquiries
into this alleged outrage, and have not been able to ascertain that the
statements made in that letter, in regard to the firing from the American
shore, are founded in fact; but, on the contrary, I inform the department
that it is highly improbable that any such transaction took place. I have
taken measures to procure the affidavits of four persons at Rochester who
were at Schlosser on the night of the 28th, and morning of the 29th, of
December last, which I shall annex to the papers now prepared, if received
before they are sent off, and if not, I shall forward that affidavit as soon
as it is received.

Allan N. Mc Nab, of Upper Canada, was the officer in command of
Her Britannic Majesty's forces stationed at Chippewa, and ordered the
expedition to cut out and destroy the "Caroline," as it is well understood
and believed on this frontier. Andrew Drew, Commander Royal Navy,
led the expedition, as appears by the official Reports of this transaction
published in the Canadian papers. I have not been able to ascertain by
proof, in the shape of an affidavit, the names and official standing of all
the persons who were the perpetrators of the acts of atrocity in question,
but I have official information from the State District Attorney of the
County of Niagara, that an indictment for murder had at a late term of
the County Courts of that county been found against Allan N. Mc Nab,
John Morier, Rolland Mc Donald, James Chalmers, Peter Rigley, Angus
Mc Leod, Edgeworth Usher, Edward Zealand, John B. Warren, William
Warren, Thomas Mc Cormac, and J. and F. Jarvis, and that he, the
district attorney, had forwarded to the department a copy of the testi-
mony taken before the grand jury on that occasion.

After I had got through with taking the affidavits on the points
indicated in your letter, it was intimated to me that the "Caroline'' left
Buffalo under a particular agreement between the owner and several
citizens of this place, that in case of loss of the boat they would indemnify
the owner.

I immediately instituted an inquiry into this matter, and find that
about the time the "Caroline" left Buffalo a paper, in the following words,
was circulated and signed by sixteen or seventeen citizens of this place:-
" We, the Undersigned Agents, sign a bond of 1,000 dollars for the safe
return of the steam-boat 'Caroline' from her present expedition." This
paper was to be signed by twenty individuals, and the bond drawn and
delivered to Mr. Wells, neither of which was done; and the boat left
Buffalo and proceeded on her trip to Schlosser without the owner having
any indemnity. I have not learned who the persons are who signed the
paper, but am assured by Mr. Wells, the owner, that he never saw the
paper previous to the destruction of the " Caroline," and that he has never
had any consultation or conversation with the persons on Navy Island in
regard to manning the boat, or fitting her out. This whole frontier is
now quiet, and the Marshal and myself now propose leaving this place in
a short time to return home. At present we cannot do anything here in
the way of making arrests; and as soon after my return home as I can
do it, I propose to forward to the department a detailed report upon the
subject connected with the events which have recently transpired on this
frontier. I cannot refrain from saying, that the prudent and energetic
course pursued by Major-General Scott, after his arrival on this frontier,
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completely frustrated all the plans of the people assembled on Navy Island,
and prevented their second embarkation from our territory to invade
Canada, and has restored this frontier to quiet and composure.

I am, &c.,
(Signed) N. S. BENTON,

United States' Attorney.

Sub-Inclosure 1 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of Gilman Appleby.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

Gilman Appleby, of the City of Buffalo in the County and State afore-
said, being duly sworn, deposeth and saith, that he is an American
citizen; and that on the mornmng of the 29th day of December last past he
left the port of Buffalo in the steam-boat " Caroline," owned by William
Wells of Buffalo aforesaid, and bound for Schlosser, upon the east side of
the Niagara River, and within the United States of America. That he,
this deponent, commanded the said steam-boat "lCaroline," and that she
was cleared from Buffalo with the intention of running between said
Buffalo and Schlosser to carry passengers and freight. That this depo-
nent caused the said "Caroline " to come to at the wharf at Black Rock
Dam on her way down; and that while there this deponent caused the
American flag, which was the flag called the American Ensign, to be run
up; and that soon after leaving Black Rock harbour several muskets were
discharged at the said "Caroline " from the Canadian shore, but without
any injury ; that the said "Caroline" continued her course down the
Niagara River unmolested, and came to outside of certain scows or boats
attached to Navy Island, when a number of the passengers disembarked ;
and, as this deponent supposes, certain articles of freight were landed;
that from the place last aforesaid the said "Caroline" was run to
Schlosser, and arrived there at about three o'clock in the afternoon ; that
between this time and dark the said steam-boat made two trips from
Schlosser to Navy Island, coming to at the place above-mentioned; and
that on the return of the said steam-boat to Schlosser on the last trip
made that day, she was made fast at the dock at the latter place at about
six o'clock in the evening with a chain cable. That the officers and crew
of the said "Caroline " were ten in number; and that in the course of the
evening twenty-three individuals, all of whom this deponent then and
now supposed were citizens of the United States, came on board of said
boat, and requested this deponent and the other officers of the boat to
permit them to remain on board during the night, as they were unable to
procure lodgings at the tavern near by. These requests were acceded to,
and the persons thus coming on board the said boat retired to rest, as did
also the officers and crew of the said "Caroline," except such as were
stationed to watch during the night; that about midnight this deponent
was informed by one of te men stationed to watch, that several boats
filled with armed men were making towards the "Caroline " from the
river; and this deponent immediately gave the alarm; and before he was
able to reach the deck the "Caroline " was boarded by some seventy or
eighty men, all, of whom were armed; that they immediately commenced
an attack with pistols, swords, and cutlasses upon the unarmed crew and
inmates of the "Caroline," under a fierce cry of " God damn them; give
no quarters; kill every man; fire! fire !" That the "Caroline " was
abandoned without any resistance; and the only effort made by either the
crew or inmates seemed to be to escape slaughter; that this deponent
narrowly escaped, having received several wounds, none of which,
however, were of a serious character; that immediately after the "Caro-
line " fell into the hands of the armed force which boarded her, she was set
on fire, and cast loose from the dock, and towed into the current of the
river, and then abandoned, and soon after she went over Niagara Falls.
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That this deponent has made diligent search for the individuals, thirty.
three in number, who were known to have been upon the "Caroline'' at
the time she was boarded, and twenty-two only have been found alive;
that one of the men on board of said boat, Amos Durfee of Buffalo, was
found dead upon the deck, lie having received a musket or pistol shot in
the back part of his head, and it came out at the forehead; James H.
King and Captain Charles F. Harding were seriously though not mortally
wounded; and several others received slight wounds. The ten indi-
viduals, besides the said Amos Durfee, who are still missing, this deponent
has no doubt were either murdered upon the said boat, or found a watery
grave in the cataract of the Niagara Falls. And this deponent further
says, that immediately after the said "Caroline" was towed into the
current of the stream and abandoned, as before mentioned, beacon lights
were discovered upon the Canada shore near Chippewa; and after
sufficient time had elapsed to enable the boats to reach that shore, this
deponent distinctly heard loud and vociferous cheering at that point.
That this deponent has no doubt that the individuals who boarded the
"Caroline " and committed the said outrage, were a part of the British
forces stationed at Chippewa, Upper Canada. And this deponent further
saith, that since the capture and destruction of the said steam-boat
" Caroline " lie, this deponent, hath heard inquiries made for Michael
O'Reily, a boy, and a Mr. Wetman, of the city of Rochester, as being
missing, and another person, name not now recollected, from Williams-
ville. That deponent had a boy with him on board said boat who was
usually called "Little Billy," and who had formerly been with deponent
on the lake in "Constitution" steam-boat ; and that this boy was shot in
the store-house door, and fell into the river; and deponent has not been
able to hear of him since that time. That he, this deponent, recognized one
of the persons who made the attack on said boat at the time above stated,
and is positive that he was Angus Mc Leod, of Upper Canada, a subjeet
of Her Britannic Majesty. And this deponent further saith, that when
the said steam-boat "Caroline " left Buffalo she had not, to the knowledge
and belief of this deponent, any arms or munitions of war on board of
her: and that lie, this deponent, did not see any arms or munitions of war
of any kind taken on to Navy Island in said steam-boat "Caroline,"
except one iron six-pound field-piece well mounted; and lie does not
believe any others were carried in her. And this deponent also saith,
that the officers, and crew, and people on board the said "Caroline," on
the night of her capture and destruction, were wholly unarmed, and had
no weapons of any kind, offensive or defensive; and no defence of said
" Caroline" was made or attempted when attacked by the persons who
boarded lier; and that before the people on board of said "Caroline"
turned in to sleep a count was made, and thirty-three persons were ascer-
tained to be on the said boat; and deponent also saith, that he believes
that a few persons with arms went in said. boat on the day aforesaid,
either to Grand or Navy Island; but he does not know whether they
intended to join the forces at Navy Island, or were going on to Grand
Island, but he thinks now that the armed persons were American citizens
destined to Grand Island; and further this deponent saith not.

(Signed) GILMAN A Epi£By.
Sworn this 2nd day of February, 1838,

before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Brie County Courts.

Sub-Inclosure 2 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of Mesurs. William Seaman and William Kennedy.

United States of Aierica, State of New York, Erie County Sessions,

William Seaan, junior, and William Kennedy, of the city of
Buffalo, in the said state and county, being duly sworn, each for himself
deposeth -and saith, that he is an American citizen, and these deponentà,
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each for himself saith, that he hath heard the affidavit of Gilman Appleby
hereto annexed, read, and know the contents thereof, and that each of
said deponents were on board said steam-boat "Caroline" at the time of
her capture and destruction, as stated in said Appleby's affidavit, and
that the statements made in the said affidavit of the capture and destruc-
tion of the said "Caroline," by British forces, are true, to the knowledge
of these deponents; and the said William Kennedy, for himself saith, that
he was one of the men on watch in said "Caroline," and was at the time
on the forward part of the said boat, but did not bail said boats, but a
man standing near deponent who did not belong to said "Caroline" did
hail said boats, saying "Who comes there," twice; and the second time of
hailing, the answer from some the armed boats was "friends," in a low
tone of voice; at this time deponent was standing on a box, and as he
jumped down he partly fell, and as he jumped down a shot was fired from'
one of said armed boats. Deponent gave the alarm to the inmates of the
"Caroline," saying, "There are four or five boats," come on deck; and
de onent went off to see who the men were, not expecting at the moment
a hostile or murderous attack, but before this deponent had reached the
after gangway, the "Caroline" was boarded, and an attack was made on
the persons on board said "Caroline" by the discharge of pistols and the
use of swords. That deponent finally succeeded after considerable diffi-
culty in getting on shore from said "aroline" at the forward gangway,
and in passing towards the after part of said "Caroline" along the dock,
deponent saw a man j ump from the said "Caroline" at the after gang-
way, and near to where deponent stood, and as this man jumped on the
dock, deponent heard the report of a musket or pistol, and the man fell
face downwards and sprung up immediately, an taking three or four
steps jumped into the river, and deponent heard the splash made by the
fall into the water, and saw the said man in the river. Deponent does not
know the name of this man, the man appeared to be slim, dressed in dark
coloured clothes, and after the "Caroline" was taken from the dock or
wharf, deponent took a lantern and went down to the dock to look for the
man, but did not find him or any other person about the dock; and depo-
nent that night conversed with all the persons he saw who were in the
"Caroline," and that they all denied having seen him in the water at that
place, and that the other man on watch with deponent when the "Caro-
ine" was boarded was not killed; his name is Steward, and deponent has

seen him in Buffalo several times since, and within a few days ; and
deponent also saith, that the man who hailed said armed boats, who has
usually been called "Dutch Peter," and is the only name he knows him
by, was not killed or wounded; and further these deponents say not.

(Signed) WILLIAM SEAMAN, junior.
WILLIAM KENNEDY.

Sworn this 2d day of February, 1838, before
me, by William Seaman, junior.

(Signed) F. P. STEvENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

Sworn before me this 3rd day of February, 1838,
by William Kennedy.

(Signed) JAMES STRYKER,
First Judge of Erie County.

Sub-Inclosure 3 in Inclosure '7 in No. 1.

Deposition of William Wells.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

William Wells, of the city of Buffalo, in the said county and state,
being duly sworn, deposeth and saith, that he is an American citizen, and
that on the 29th day of December last past, he was the ,true and only
legal owner of the steam-boat "Caroline," and at the time of the destrue
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tion of the said "Caroline" he was such owner, and for some time
previously had been, although there had been an understanding between
deponent and one Hamlet Scrantoun, that when he the said Serantoun
should pay to this deponent the one-half of the purchase money and
amount expended, he was to be equally interested with deponent in said
boat; and that when deponent fitted up said boat, he intended to run her
from Black Rock Dam to Schlosser, once a day, and also intended to run
her to Navy Island, and touch at Grand Island and Tonawanda, should
he find it necessary and profitable to do so. That this project was set on
foot with a view of making money, as he supposed he ha a legal right
to do it, running the risk of seizure by the British Authorities in Upper
Canada, and not evading or transgressing the laws of the United States.
And -this deponent further saith, without any reservation whatever, that
no person on Navy Island, or elsewhere, connected with the persons or
people on that Island, or any other person whatever, had any control over
the said steam-boat, and that he, this deponent, was not in any manner
whatever under any control or obligation to use or run on any particular
business, or to do any particular service. That when said boat left the
port of Buffalo, she proceeded to Schlosser, touching at Black Rock,
Tonawanda, and Navy Island, at which latter place, several passengers
and some freight were landed; and this deponent now believes but one of
the passengers had any arms, and he had a rifle, which rifle was used on
the passage down in shooting ducks. That said steam-boat made two
trips from Schlosser to Navy Island, on the said 29th day of December
last past, conveying passengers and freight, many of the passengers were
citizens of Buffalo, with whom this deponent was well acquainted, and
that at no time were any arms and munitions of war carried to Navy
Island in said steam-boat, except one mounted field-piece, which deponent
supposed belonged to a person who was a passenger in the said steam-
boat from Schlosser to the Island. That when said steam-boat returned
to Schlosser about six o'clock in the evening, deponent intended to have
had the boat come up to Black Rock Dam, but in consequence of some
derangement in the machinery connected with the engine, Captain
Appleby directed the steam to be blown off, in order to repair the
machinery. That the officers and crew of the said boat were unarmed,
and there were no arms in the boat at the time she lay for the night at
Schlosser. That he hath heard the affidavit of Gilman Appleby, giving
a description of the capture and destruction of the said steam-boat read,
and the facts therein stated are true of this deponent's knowledge, except
that this deponent has not any knowledge of the shooting of the boy
called "Little Billy," and he has not any particular knowledge of any of
the personal acts of the said Appleby, as deponent was unable to get on
deck until.most of the persons in the boat who landed on making their
escape had effected it. And this deponent further saith, that when he got
on shore from the said steam-boat, he passed a man lying on the dock ten
or twelve feet from the said boat, and about seven feet from the lower
end of the dock, apparently dead, as he did not move or stir, and Amos
Durfee was found dead at a different place and in a diffèrent position.
And deponent further saith, that he cannot give any information as to the
persons who were killed and missing from the said boat on the night
above-mentioned, except as above stated, as all the persons who came on
board the said boat at Schlosser, to sleep, were strangers to the deponent,
and collected from different parts of the county, and he has heard but
few inquiries made after individuals. That James H. King was very
badly wounded in the attack made on said boat by the British forces.
Captain Charles F. Harding received a bad cut over his left eye; a
coloured man, whose name deponent does not know, was stabbed in the
hip, a pretty bad wound; Sylvanus Staring received a blow on the head,
not·a bad wound. And this deponent further saith, that he was informed
and believes that Allan N. Mc Nab, who is reputed to have been the
commandant of the British forces at Chippewa, ordered the expedition to
capture the "Caroline," but has no knowledge of the names of the indivi-
duals who composed the expedition, or conducted it. That deponent consi-
ders the said boat with her engine and boiler, was fully worth the sum of 4000
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and 500 dollars, and the furniture and clothing in the boat which was
destroyed, belonging to deponent was worth the sum of 100 dollars. That
deponent has no doubt Captain Gilman Appleby furnished the boat with
sea stores and provisions, and he saw portions of all the articles mentioned
in the bill hereto annexed, made out by Otis Allen, on board of said steam,.
boat on the 29th day of December last past, and of the articles mentioned in
the furniture and bedding taken from the steam-boat "Constitution;" this
deponent saw most of them on board of the steam-boat "Caroline" on the
day aforesaid, and has no doubt the provisions, furniture, and bedding
were in the said "Caroline" when she was captured, as none of them were,
to this deponent's knowledge, removed from said last-mentioned boat.
And this deponent further saith, that the aid and assistance he received
from Captain Gilman Appleby and Harrison Chase in fitting out said
steam-boat and getting her in order and furnished to run, entirely from
personal friendship of those gentlemen towards this deponent, as he, this
deponent, believes. And this deponent further saith, that he recollects
seeing a small boy on board said steam-boat, and bas no doubt he is the
same person spoken of by Captain Gilman Appleby in his affidavit, and
he saw him assisting the cook in said "Carolme.' And this deponent
further saith, that lie was in the lower cabin of said boat when she was
boarded, and attempted to get out through the engine-room, and was pre-
vented by the armed men who had possession of the passage leading out
of the lower part of the boat on to the deck at that place; that deponent
then went forward, alongside of the boiler, until lie could see out of the
forward hatchway, and one of the armed men jumped down into the fire.
room in front of deponent, and some one cried out "Fire up," when this man
immediately commenced hauling the fire into the forward part of the fur-
nace; deponent then went back, and attempted to get out of the lower
part of the boat through the engine-room, but was prevented as before;
and deponent then went forward again, and being in the dark, the armed
man before mentioned hauled out and took hold of Amos Durfee, and said,
" Who in hell are you ?" and Durfee replied, he belonged to the boat, and
followed the man on deck, making no resistance whatever; and after
Durfee and the said armed man had got on deck, he, deponent, heard a
scuffling, but did not see said Durfee again until the next morning, lying
dead upon the dock, about twenty feet from the edge of the dock or wharf
next to the river, where said steam-boat lay; and that this deponent
finally effected his escape from said "Caroline " with great difficulty and
risk; and deponent believes that, when lie left the boat, there were several
persons who were American citizens in the lower part of the boat, who
appeared to be endeavouring to secrete themselves from the party assail-
ing the people on board said boat; and further deponent saith not.

(Signed) WiLLIAM WELLS.
Sworn and subscribed this lst day of

February, A.D. 1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

Sub-Inclosure 4 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of Charles F. Harding.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

Charles F. Harding, of the city of Buffalo, and county and state
aforesaid, being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, he is an American
citizen, and has for the year past been employed in navigating the upper
lakes, a master of a brig, and is well acquainted with vessels, and in navi-
gating the lakes and other waters, and their small boats; that he was on
board the steam-boat "Caroline" at the time of her capture and desttuc-
tion, on the night of the 29th day of December last past, and that a small
boat, called a jolly-boat, which belonged to the steam-boat "Constitution,"
was at Schlosser in the afternoon of the day aforesaid, and at night when the

L
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said steam-boat IlCaroline"' came to at the wharf at Schlosser, and said
jolly-boat was made fast to the dock at Schlosser, or to said steam-boat
" Caroline," and that said boat was not at the dock or at Schlosser the
day after the "Caroline" was destroyed; and that the said jolly-boat,
exehxsive_ýof the oars and rigging, was worth the sum of 120 dollars in the
opinion of. this deponent; and this deponent further saith, that he hath
heard the-.affidavit of Gilman Appleby, hereto.annexed, read, and knows
the contents thereofzand was on board of the, said steam-boat "Caroline"
from the time she left the harbour of Butfalo Creekaugtil shewas.captured
andsdestroyed on the night of the 29th day of December last past, and that
ali the matters.offact stated by the said Gilman Appleby in the said affidavit
annexed, occurred as stated therein to the knowledge of this deponent,
and. they aretrue, except that this deponent ,dd not see the boy called
"Little Billy ". shot, as stated in said Appleby's affidavit. And deponent
farther saith, he saw said boy on board said boat at the time above men-
tioned, and has not, seen or heard of, the said boy. since the destruction of
the 'F Caroline." .That he, this deponent, was attaçked while on board the

Caroline'" by a man armed with a cutlass and pair of pistols, and depo-
nent defended himself against him as well. as he.could with a.ahort billet
of. wood, and! afterwards the same nxan retur»ed after retreating towards
the stern of. the boat, and struck deponent a blow on the head with g
cutiass,which wounded defendant pretty severely. And deponent further
saith, that .he saw a man layingdead upon the deqk in the forward part
of the boat-*who this deponent supposes was shot or received his death-
blow in the.after part of the said steam-boat, as shewas boarded from the
boats.on ithe quarter and,after gangway. That there was a person op
board of the," Caroline,'' on the night aforesaid, who, this deponent is
informed, was taken; and carried into Canada, and detaines1 for, a while in
the guard-house at Chippewa, and who this deponent thinks was a spy,
and was. sent over to come on board the ''"Caroline," and pretending to
seek a night's lodging in the boat ; and further saith, not.

(Signed) C, F. HARDINO.
Sworn this lst day of February,

1838, before me. (Signed) F. P. STEYNS,.,
Judge.of Erie CJounty Courts."

Sub'Inclosure 5 in Inélosure 7 in No. 10

Deposition of James H. King.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

James H. King, of the city of Buffalo, and State and County
aforesaid, being duly sworn, deposeth' and saith, he is an American
citizen, and was on board the steam-boat "lCaroline" on the 29th day of
December last past, and at the time of, her destruction as mate, or second
in command under Captain Gilman Appleby. That deponent was
employed by William Wells, the -owner of said boat, who expressed his
intention at the time of running the boat between Black Rock Dam and
Schlosser, té carry freight and passengers, and said he thought the
business would be such as would enable him to pay deponent forty dollars
per month. That he, this deponent, follows the business of navigation in
the season of it, on the lakes and rivers. That he, this deponent, further
saith, he has heard the affidavit of Gilman Appleby read, and concurs in
the statement of facts therein made so far, as regards what took place on
board of the "Caroline'' during the day of the 29th day of December
aforesaid, and the capture and destruction of the said boat on the night
of said day; but deponent did not see the said Appleby during the
affray, and .does not know what took lace in the part of said boat where
aaid .Appleby was, and did not see the boy caled "Little Billy," shot.
That deponent that night went to bèd in the deck cabin, where there were

£ive, persons besides this deponent, and at the. time the attack was made
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by the British armed forces, the five persons who were in said cabin,
deponent believes escaped to the shore unharmed. That when the first
alarm was given, deponent supposes he did not fully awake out of his
sleep, and when deponent finally awoke, he pulled on his boots and put on
his at and started for the shore; and when deponent got out of the cabin
on to the-deek, he was met by six or eight .men armed.with pistols and
swords, who shoved deponent into the cabin against the back part of it,
where they compelled this deponent to lay down in the cabin, and after
striking deponent several blows with swords or cutlasses, and wounding
deponent very severely, .they asked deponent, calling. him a damned
Yankee curse, who and' how many persons were aboard of the boat, and
what they were about there, and deponent could not get any opportunity
of giving an answer to the questions which were asked ; that while this
deponent lay wounded and bleeding in said cabin on the mattresses spread
out there, one of these armed men called out to deponent, saying, "Roll
over, you damned Yankee son of a bitch, roll over, and give us these
mattresses, they will do for me to sleep on ;" and that five or six of the
mattresses were handed out of the cabin window, which had been broken
in, and all the bedding in that cabin was also taken out. That a short
time before the boat left the wharf or dock, and after, as deponent sup-
poses, most if not all the surviving American citizens had left the boat, a
màncame into the cabin where deponent was, who deponent believes was
one of the o[licers, and another of the boarders said, "Is it best to take this
fellow a prisoner"; others said "No, let us kill him," but the officer said,
"We don't want prisoners,we had better let him go onshore;" deponent then
gôt up and followed theeofficer out of. the cabin door, and then he stopped,
when deponent spoke to,him;; said, he, deponent, could not get off unlesé
he ,passed -deponent off the boat, ,and this. oficer sent a man to pass
deponent off the boat; :as deponentieft the boat some one said, "There is a
good mark 'tor 4ire at," and immediately a pistolwas discharged; but
deponentwas not hitp that the officer above mentioned kept his back
towardsgdeponent, and he could. not recognize said officer. After.leaving
the boat; deponent attempted to make his way up to the tavern, about
twenty ,rods from the dock, but howas so faint and weak from-loss of
Wodd, that 'he could not get there:without being assisted; that deponeht
received a severe sabre cut acroas the left shoulder blade and joint, about
four inches long, cut into the.bone;, another severe sabre cut inthe fleshy
part of.the left arm below the elbow ; and deponent received a blow on
the head which did not, however, do any harm, ther. than cuit through
the hat; -delonent was also :kicked and.stamped upon *by the men whd
came into said boat-and-captured her; that the boat was set on fire in- the
babin, where deponent was. before he,!was permitted to leave tbe boat;
that thé :people who boarded and destroyed said boat cane from thé
Canada shore and returned there, as deponent believes, in boats. Arid
deponeut also saith, that he has been unable to do any business since he
was wounded, in consequence of those wounds, and does not expect toib
able to doany business for, some time to come in conseuence'thereof;
and heis apprehensive his left arm may be always lame and not so strong
às usuali that he has been put to avery considerable· expeiise in 'being
curedýof the NF onds1hea-eceived in saidsteam-boat at the time aforesaid;
that deponent has now been disabled of his wounds .upwards of four
weeks, and that the expenses attending deponent's sickness and lameness,
including doctor's bih, will amount. to the sum of 118 dollars up to this
tîme, exclusive of deponent's loss of time, and that deponent when eni-
ployed in his profession- has usually received the sum of 35 dollars per
nmontfr; that he, this deponent, recollects seeing the little cabin .boy
spoken of by Gilmaa -Appleby, in his affidavit, on board of the stearm-
boatIG0arolne" when the said boat went down the river on the said
99th day ôf December last past, and has not heard of or seen hiin since;
and this deponent also saith, that he. bas no knowledge or information
that the said steam-boat " Caroline" was under the pay of the people on
Navy Island, or any person connected with them; and eli does not believe
that any person had any controt of the boat exceptthe oviner, William
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Wells, except in the sailing and managing the boat she would be under
the command of the captain or officer who might be put in charge for
that purpose ; and further this deponent saith not.

(Signed) JAMES H. KING.
Sworn and subscribed this 1st day of

February, A.D. 1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

Sub-Inclosure 6 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of John C. Haggerty.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

John C. Haggerty, of the city of Buffalo, state and county aforesaid,
being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that he is an American citizen,
and was in the steam-boat "Caroline" on the 29th day of December last
past, having gone on board said boat at Black Rock Dam, and was also
on board of said steam-boat on the night of the said 29th day of Decem-
ber last past; and he hath heard the affidavit of Gilman Appleby read,
and knows the contents thereof; and that the said affidavit is true to the
knowledge of this deponent, wherein the same describes the capture and
destruction of the said boat by the British forces from Upper Canada, and
also in other respects, except thatdeponent did not see the said Appleby on
board the said steam-boat during the affray, and deponent did not see the
boy, called ''"Little Billy," shot. And deponent further saith, that he
turned in to sleep that night in the upper cabin, and when the alarm was
first given, that boat-loads of armed men were coming towards the
"Caroline," deponent got up and went out on deck, in the after part of
the boat, and proceeded to the starboard side of the said boat, and then
he saw five boats approaching, one of which he saw was filled with armed
men, and the others he has no doubt were also filled with armed men, but
they were so far off that he, this deponent, could not tell with certainty
whether the said four boats had armed men in them or not; that the boat
which was nearest, and armed, soon came alongside of the steam-boat, at
the after gangway, on the starboard side, and deponent stepped up to the
railing on that side of the boat, and some men who were in the "Caroline"
followed deponent; and while deponent was standing at the side of the
boat as aforesaid, three discharges of pistols were made from the
approaching boat, and a man, whose name deponent cannot tell, as he was
a stranger to this deponent, was shot dead, and he fell on the deck; and
deponent stepped over him to go to the gangway on larboard side of the
boat, and.not being able to get away from the boat at that place, he
returned, and passed this same dead man, in going to the forward part of
the boat to get ashore.

And this deponent further saith, that he went into said steam-boat to
go down the river, as a matter of curiosity, having no connexion with any
of the hostile parties at Navy Island, or on the main Canada shore, and
paid his own expenses; that he saw the jolly-boat which belonged to the
steam-boat "Constitution" made fast to the dock at Schlosser, and after
the attack was made, this boat was adrift from the wharf, about twenty
feet astern of the steam-boat, with two men in her, and she afterwards
came back to the dock, and the men got out of her; and deponent a little
while afterwards saw the said jolly-boat drift ashore on to the American
side, between twenty and thirty rods below the dock at Schlosser; and
while the said jolly-boat lay at the place above stated, deponent saw two
of the British boats approach the said jolly-boat, and two men from the
said boats got into her, and this was the last he saw of the said jolly-boat;
and further this deponent saith not.

(Signed) JOHN C. HAGGERTY.
Sworn this 2nd day of February,

1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.



Sub-Inclosure 7 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of John C. Haggerty.

John C. Haggerty, of Buffalo, had destroyed in the steam-boat
"Caroline," December 29, 1837,-

Dol. Cts.
One round-about sailor coat, destroyed on

board the steam-boat "Caroline," at Schlosser - 10 00
One pair of Wellington calf-skin boots, at

same time, on board the "Caroline" - - 6 00
Two pocket handkerchiefs, destroyed at

same time, on board the "Caroline" 2 00

18 00

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

John C. Haggarty, of Buffalo, in said State and County, being duly
sworn, deposeth and saith, that at the time of the capture and destruc-
tion of the steam-boat "Caroline," this deponent had on board said boat
the above articles of property, and the same were then and there destroyed
and entirely lost to this deonent, and that this deponent hath not
recovered or seen the said property since; and that said articles of pro-
perty were severally fully and justly worth the sums above carried out
opposite said articles, and amount in the whole to eighteen dollars; and
further this deponent saith not.

(Signed) JOHN C. HAGGERTY.
Sworn this 2nd day of February,

1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

Sub-Inclosure 8 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of G. J. Storer.

Steam-boat "Caroline," December 28, 1837.

Captain Appleby,
To Otis Allen, Dr.

s. d Dol. Ct.
50lbs. B. Sugar - - 1 0 - - 6 25
20lbs. Ground Coffee - - 2 0 - - 5 00
10lbs. G. H. Tea - . - 6 0 - - 7 50
14bs. L. Sugar - - 1 6 - - 2 63

l1b.Pepper - -20- - 25
2 boxSalt - - - 1 3 - - 31

150lbs. Pork - - - 1 0 - - 18 00
150lbs. Corn Beef - - 0 6 - - 9 00

301bs. Butter - - 1 8 - - 6 00
2 Pails - - - 6 0 - - 1 50

101bs. Candles, Tallow - - 1 8 - - 2 00
6Ibs. Sperm Candles - 3 6 - - 2 63
8bushels Potatoes - - 3 0 b , 3 50
5gall.Oil - - -12 0 - - 7 50
1Demijohn- - -12 0 - - 1 50

Dollars 73 57
M
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s. d Dol. Cts.
Brought over - - - - - 73 57

30ilbs. Cheese - 1 0 - - 3 81
i bushel Crackers - dollars 3 25 - - 3 25

251bs. Mackerel - 8 0 - - 2 00
30lbs. Cod Fish - - a 6 - -I 8

84 51

Received payment of the above January 14, 1838.
(Sigied) OTIs ALLEN.

By G. J. STORER.

UnitediStates of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

George J. Storer, of the city of Buffalo, County and State aforesaid,
being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that he is an American citizen,
and was, in the month of December last past, and now is, a clerk in the
store of Otis Allen, of Buffalo; that he, this deponent, made out the bil,
which is hereunto annexed, of sea stores sold and delivered to Captain
Gilman Appleby; and that depenent delivered about half the goods men-
tioned in said bill by the direction of Harrison Chase, on saidAppleby'S
account; and that one William Tingley delivered the remainder, who was
also a clerk in said Allen's store at e ime; and that said goods are
charged in said bill at the usual and ordinary price of selling goods at the
said store to other people; and further thisl eponent saith not.

Sworn this 2nd day of February, (Signed) G. J. STORER.
1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,

Judge of Brie County Courts.

Sub-Inclosure 9 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of William J. Bush.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

William J. Bush, of the town of Tonawanda, in the County and State
aforesaid, being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that he is an Ame-
rican citizen, and that on the 3rd day of January last past, he, this
deponent, was riding on. horseback on the western side of Grand Island,
and within the territory and jurisdiction of the United States; he, this
deponent, was fired at by a large party of armed men on the Canada main
shore of the Niagara River, but was not hit; and deponent supposing it
would be prudent for him to get entirely out of the reach of any shot from
that shore, turned his horse to go back from the shore, when the men on
the Canada side set up a loud shout. That deponent was wholly unarmed,
and the place where deponent was fired at was about four miles above
Navy Island, and a little more than that distance from the lower part of
Grand Island; and further this deponent saith not.

Sworn and subscribed this 3rd day of (Signed> W. J. BusH.
February, 1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,

Judge of Brie County Courts.
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Sub-Inclosure 10 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Deposition of Harrison Chase.

INVENTORY of Goods burnt and
boat "Caroline:"-

To 8
3
2
1
8

12
6
2

3

2
1i

hair mattresses -

straw ditto - -

dozen blankets -
dozen towels -
hair pillows - -

dining plates (china) -
small ditto ditto -,
large meat platters, ditto
dozen knives and forks,i
handles - -

carver and fork, ditto -
large coflee-pot -

globe lanterns -

dozen teas (china) -

large pitchers - -

boat, oars, rigging, &c.

ivor

Bufalo,.January 19, 1838.
destroyed on board of the steam-

Dol. Cts.
- 10 50

- 00
- 00
-3.

- 00
1 50doz.
1s 6d.
3 00

y
- 00

6 00
8s.
18s.

4 50
10ls.

Dol.
84
12
48
3

16
4
1
6

6
3

6
4
2

182

Cts.
00
00
00
50
00
50
13
00

00
00
00
75
50
50
00

Deduci
Dollars 380 88
t last item 182 00

Dollars 198 -88

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

Harrison Chase, of the City of Buffalo, in the State and County
aforesaid, being duly sworn, deposeth and saith, that he is an American
citizen, and was last summer and fall, during the season of navigation,
employed on board of the steam-boat "Constitution," which navigated
Lake Erie, as a steward; that on the 28th day of December last past, he,
this deponent, by the directions of Captain Gilman Appleby, who had
charge of the said steam-boat "Constitution," took all the above-men-
tioned articles of property, except the small boat, oars, and rigging, from
the said steam-boat *"Constitution," and put the same on board of the
steam-boat "Caroline ;" both of said boats then laying in the harbour of
Buffalo Creek; and that all the said articles of property were justly and
fairly worth the several sums carried out and set opposite thereto, and
amounting, exclusive of the said small boat, to the sum of 198 dollars and
88 cents, which this deponent believes to be the just and fair value of the
same; and this deponent further saith, that by the directions of the said
Captain Gilman Appleby, he, this deponent, ordered a quantity of pro-
visions and ship-stores to be sent on board the steam-boat "Caroline,"
from the grocery-store of Otis Allen; and that he, this depohënt, saw the
principal part of the goods mentioned in the bill of Otis Allen which is
hereto annexed, delivered on board of the said steam-boat " Caroline," on
the 28th day of December last past; and further saith not.

(Signed) H. CHASE,
Sworn and subscribed before me, this 6th day of

February, 1838. (Signed) FREDER1C P. STEVENS',
Judge of Erie County Courts.

.1
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Sub-Inclosure 11 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

A Statement of Claims for Losses sustained in consequence of the Captur
and Destruction of the Steam-boat "Caroline," at Schlosser, on the 29th
day of December, 1837, by a British Armed Force, from Chippewa,
Upper Canada.

Dol. Ct,
William Wells, of Buffalo, for the value of the

said steam-boat, engine, and boiler - 4,500 00
The same, per boat furniture, clothing, oil jugs,

as per affidavit - - - - 100 00
Gilman Appleby, of Buffalo, as agent for the

owners of the steam-boat "Constitution,"
for boat-furniture, as per bill annexed - 198 88

The same, as agent as above, for small boat,
called jolly-boat, oars and rigging, &c. - 120 00

Gilman Appleby, in his own right, for sea-stores
in the "Caroline," captured and destroyed
as per bill annexed and proofs - - 84 51

John Johnson, of Buffalo, for clothing captured
and destroyed on board of the "Caroline" 16 50

William Hinton, of Buffalo, for clothing cap-
tured and destroyed in the "Caroline" - 15 75

James Wilson, of Buffalo, for clothing and trunk
captured and destroyed in the 'lCaroline" 48 62J

John C. Haggerty, of Buffalo, for clothing cap-
tured and destroyed in the "Caroline" - 18 00

James H. King, of Buffalo, for nursing and other
expenses attending his recovery from his
wounds - - - - 118 00

Same, for one and half month's time wholly lost
in consequence of his wounds - - - 52 50

Dollars 5,272 76J

Sub-Inclosure 12 in Inclosure 7 in No. 1.

Aßfidavit of Cyrus K. Anderson.

State of New York, Erie County Clerks' Office, Sessions.

1, Cyrus K. Anderson, clerk of said county, certify that Frederick
P. Stevens, James Stryker, and Isaac Humphrey, Esqs., before whom the
annexed affidavits were taken, were each of them at the time of taking
the saie, judges of the Erie County Courts. And that Dyre Tillinghast,
before whom the annexed affidavit was taken, was at the time of taking
the same a Supreme Court Commissioner, and also, that Milton Mc Neil
Esq., before whom the annexed affidavit was taken, was at the time of
taking the same a Commissioner of Deeds, all appointed, and sworn, and
duly authorized to take the same. And further, that I am well acquainted
with their handwriting, and verily believe that the signatures to the affi-
davits aforesaid are genuine.

(L.S.) In testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand
and affixed the seal of said County, the 7th day of February,
A.D., 1838.

(Signed) C. K. ANDERSON,
Clerk.

By (Signed) R. W. PADELFORD,
Deputy Clerk.



Inclosure 8 in No. 1.

Captain Drew to Colonel Mc Nab.

Head-Quarters, Chippewa,
Sir, December 30, 1837.

I HAVE the honour to inform you that in obedience to your com-
mands to burn, sink, or destroy, the piratical steam-vessel which had
been plying between Navy Island and the American shore, the whole of
yesterday I ordered a look out to be kept upon her, and at about 5 P.M.,
of yesterday, when the day was closed in, Mr. Harris, of the Royal Navy,
reported the vessel to me as having moved off Navy Island. I imme-
diately directed five boats to be armed and manned with forty-five
volunteers, and about eleven o'clock, P.m., we pushed off from the shore
for Navy Island, when not finding her there as expected, we went in
search and found her moored between an island and the main shore. I
then assembled the boats off the point of the island, and dropped quietly
down upon the steamer; we were not discovered until within twenty
yards of her, when the sentry upon the gangway hailed us and asked for
the countersign, which I told him we would give him when we got on
board; he then fired upon us, when we immediately boarded, and found
from twenty to thirty men upon her deck, who were easily overcome, and
in ten minutes she was in our possession. As the current was running
strong, and our position close to the Falls of Niagara, I deemed it most
prudent to burn the vessel; but preriously to setting her on fire we took
the precaution to loose her from her moorings, and turn her out into the
stream to prevent the possibility of the destruction of anything like
American property. In short, all those on board the steamer who did
not resist were quietly put on shore, as I thought it possible there might
be some American citizens on board. Those who assailed us were of
course dealt with according to the usages of war. I cannot speak too
highly of the conduct of the officers and men who accompanied me; their
coolness and bravery shows what may be expected from them when their
country requires their services; where all behaved so well, it would be
invidious in me to particularize any oie, but I may be excused for men-
tioning the gallant conduct of Lieutenant Shepard Mc Cormack of the
Royal Navy, who nobly seconded me and had to encounter several of the
pirates iin the fore-part of the vessel, by which, I regret to say, he has
received five desperate wounds. We have also two other wounded, and
I regret to add, that five or six of the enemy were killed.

A return of our wounded I beg to subjoin.
I have, &c.,

(Signed) ANDREW DREW,
Commander, Royal Navy.

P.S.-I beg to add that we brought one prisoner away, a British
subject, in consequence of his acknowledging that he had belonged to
Duncombe's army, and was on board the steamer to join Mc Kenzie upon
Navy Island.

(Signed) ANDREW DREW.

Return of the Wounded.

Lieutenant Shepard Mc Cormack, Royal N avy, desperately. >

Captain Warren, ,, ,, slightly.
John Arnold, , ,, severely.

(Signed) ANDREW DREW.
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Inclosure 9 in No. 1.

Lieutenant Elmsley to Colonel Mc Nah.

Sir, Chippewa, December 29, 1837, 8 A.I.

HAVE the honour to inform you that I ha.e just returned from the
heighbourhod of Navy Island, to. which point I proceeded at daybreak
With my spy-gläss tô inspect the position of the rèbel forces.

Soon after my arrival there L1 perèeived.odr eight-oared gig just
rounding the northern eitremity of Navy Island. She had beebi round the
island, and was fired at from all parts ôf it with round shot, grape, and
canister; and tiusketry.

On our cotning abreast of Fort Schlosser I distinctly saw two dis-
charges of heavy ordnance from a point on the main shore of the American
side, not far from the fort. As soon as our boat had passed, the firing
ceased.

I have deemed it no more than my dlty to caliYOur atàni4ion tô this
fact, to the truth of which I am prepared to make àffidavit whenever
called upon.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) J. ELMSLEY,

Lieutenant, Royal Navy.

Inelosure 10 in No. 1.

Depsition of Aaron L.- Porter and AskeitBàrbr.

United States ot'America, State of New Yorl, Erie Cona essions.

Aaron L. Porter, of the city 'of Buffalo, and County ,and State afore-
said, and Asakel Barber, ofithe to*ù of Buffalo, also in the County and
State afbresaid, being duly sworn, each for themsslves, depose and say,
that they severally took passage in the steam-boat "Caroline'' from
Schlosser, the last trip she made to Navy Island, on the afternoon of the
29th day of December last past, with the intention of going on to Grand
Island, and they did go on to Grand Island that same afternoôn or even-
ing; and that they; bôth of these deponents, remained in Grand Island
during tthe night of the said 29th day of December last past; and that
they each of them are American citizens; and that the said Barber had a
sword with him, and the said Porter had no arms whatever; and that the
reason why these deponents went to Grand Island was, that a report had
been in ciculation that the Canadian Indians had come on to Grand Island,
and deponents were sent over by Messrs. Dorsheimer and Green, United
States' Deputy Marshall, to have the truth of the said report; and that
they, these deponents, did not observe any of the passengers in said boat
had any small arms with them, except the said Barber, in the passage
and trip aforesaid; and further these deponents say not.

(Signed) AsAHEL BARBER.
AARON L. PoRTER.

Sworn this 31st day of January, 1838,
before me. (Signed) F. P. STEVENs,

Judge of Erie County Court,.



Inelosure 11 in No. L

Deposition of Edward Norton.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

Edward Norton, of the city of Buffalo, in said State and County, and
a counsellor at law, being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that he is
an American citizen, and well acquainted With M. William Wells, also
of the said City and State, and, as deponeit is informd an believes, was
the reported owner of the steam-boat "Caroline" át tlie time of her cap-
ture and destruction; that he, this deponent, saw fhe said Wells on a
passage from Navy Island to Schlosser in the said steam-boat the after-
noon of the 29th day of December last past, and had a conversation with the
said Wells in reference to the employment of the said boat, and the com-
pensation he was to receive ; and the said Wells said he espectèd to charge
freight for the services of the boat while used in passing to and from Navy
Island; and remarked further, that he would lay up the steam-boat that
night at the Black Rock Dam; and deponent further saith, that he saw a
flag hoiged on said steam-boat, which was a United States' flag, and that
he did not see any other flag on board said steam-boat; and further this
deponent saith not.

(Signed) EDwARD NORTON.
Sworn before me this 1st day of

February, A.D. 1838. (Signedy F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

Inclosure 12 ini No. 1. -d~-

Depositionof Thomas R. Stocking.

Uited Sttes of America, State ôf New York, Erie County Sessions.

Thomas R. Stocking, of the city of Buffàlo, in sid State.and County,
mnerchant, beinig duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that lIe is an American
citizen, and is well acquainted with William Wells, of the city of Buffalo,
and the reputed owner of the steam-boat "Caroline; and that he, this
deponent, had a conversation with said Wells about using the steam-boat
" Caroline" in running from Black Rock Dam to Schlôsser, and that said
Wells then said his object was to make money in running the boat from
the Dam 0 Schlosser, in opposition to the railroad ; that he, the said
Wells, intended to do a legal business; that he did not care anything
about either party, meaning the Navy Islanders and Loyalists, and that
this conversation took place from two to four days previous to the boat
leaving the port of Buffalo; and this deponent further saith, that after the
boat was destroyed, he heard the said Wells remark, that if he had been
let alone, and his boat not destroyed, he should have had all the people off
of Navy Island in three days ; and further saith not.

(Signed) T. R. STOcKCING.
Sworn and subscribed before me, this

1st day of February, A.D. 1838.
(Signed) F. P. STEVENS,

Judge of Brie County Courts.
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Inclosure 13 in No. 1.

Deposition of James Wilson.

James Wilson, of Buffalo, and county of Erie, engineer on board the
steam-boat "Caroline" at the time of her capture and destruction at
Schlosser, had on board said boat at the time, and lost-

Dol. Cts.
One leather trunk, worth - - 5 00
One over-coat, - - - 7 00
One dress coat of black broad cloth - 18 00
Four cotton shirts - - - 5 00
Three flannel shirts - - - 4 00
One pair of flannel drawers - - 1 50
Two pair of pantaloons - - 7 00
Three pair of woollen socks - - 1 12J

48 624

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

James Wilson, of the city of Buffalo, in said State and County, a
coloured man, being duly sworn, deposeth and saith, that he is a free
citizen of the said United States of America; and that on the 29th day·of
December last past, he was employed as an engineer on board of the
steam-boat "Caroline," of and from Buffalo aforesaid; that on the morn-
ing of the day above-mentioned the said steam-boat left the port of Buffalo,
and proceeded to a place called Navy Island, and proceeded from thence
to Schlosser, in the United States of America, and from Schlosser made
two trips to Navy Island on the day aforesaid; and that all the arms and
munitions of war which this deponent had any knowledge of being taken
on to Navy Island on the day aforesaid, in the said steam-boat "Caroline,"
was one small field-piece; and that said boat was destroyed on the 29th
day of December last past, by a band of armed men; and that deponent
had on board of said boat at the time she was destroyed the articles of
property above mentioned, which were lost and destroyed, and he has
never been able to recover the same, or find out where they are if not
destroyed with said boat; and he, this deponent, has no doubt, and is
fully satisfied, that the property above mentioned, lost and destroyed in
said boat at the time of her capture and destruction, belonging to depo-
nent, was justly and fairly worth the sums above mentioned, amounting
in the aggregate to the sum of forty-eight dollars and sixty-two and a
half cents; and further saith not.

his
(Signed) JAMES WILSON.

mark.
Sworn this 29th day of January, 1838,

before me. (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

Inclosure 14 in No. 1.

Deposition of William Hinton.

William Hinton, of the city of Buffalo, and who was cook on board
the steam-boat "Caroline" at the time of her destruction at Schlosser,
had on board said boat, and lost-
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One over coat, green blanket, worth M 1000 dollars.
One striped vest - - - 100
One cotton striped shirt - - - 100
One pair blue broad-cloth pantaloons - 200
One cotton pocket handkerchief -- 2
One Tatpalon hat - - -

One pair of slippers - - 50

Total - 1575 dollars.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie Couty Sessions.

William Hinton, of the city of Buffalo, in the county and state afore-
said, a coloured man, being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that he ig
a free citizen of the United States of America, and was, on the 29th day
of December last past, employed on board of the steam-boat IlCaroline,"-
of and from the port of Buffalo, as cook, and that he took with hlm on to
the said boat the articles of property above mentioned, ail and every one
of them, and that the same property was justly and fully worth the sums
above mentioned, amounting in the whole to the sum of 15 dollarsand
75 cents; and that at the time said boat was captured and destroyed in
the manner stated in the annexed affidavit of James Wilson, deponent had
said property in said boat and left it there, and the same was destroyed
and lost to l m, and he mlas not been able to find it if the same lias not
been destroyed; and that deponent did not see any arms or munitions of
war of any kind carried on said boat to Navy Island, except one keg,
whichle supposed contained shot of some sort, eitya er iron or lead, and
one small field-piece, which lie believes was an iron six-pounder; and
further saith not.

His
(Signed) WILLIAM >1 HINTON.

mark.
Sworn this 29th day of January,

1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Co nkrts.

Inclosure 15 in No. 1.

Deposition of John Johnson.

John Johnsonsfo! the city of Buffalo, and who was fireman on board
of the steam-boat"Caroline" at the time of lier destruction at Schlosser
in December last, had on board of said boat, and lost-

One over coat, pilot cloth, worth E 500 dollars.
One vestIcou 1 i 200
One coat , o c - 300
One pair boots - - - - 3.00
One pair pantaloons - - 350

Total - 16.50 dollars.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

John Johnson, of the city of Buffalo, in the state and county aforesaid,
a coloured man, being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that he is a
free citizen of the United States of America, and was, on the 29th day of
December last past, employed on board the steam-boat " Caroline," of and
from the port of Buffalo, as a fireman, and that he took with him on board
of said boat the several articles of clothing and property above mentioned,
and that each and every of the said articles of property above mentioned

o
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were severally justly _and fully worth the several sums of money above
mentioned, and amounting in the whole to the sum of 16 dollars and 50
cents; and that at the time the said boat was captured and destroyed in
the manner stated in the annexed affidavit of James Wilson, the above-
mentioned property was in said steam-boat, and was left in said boat
by this deponent when he went off of said steam-boat, and the same was
destroyed and lost to this deponent, and he has not re-possessed himself
of the same, and he does not know where it is, but has no doubt the same
has been burnt up and destroyed in the said steam-boat; and that he, this
deponent, did not see any arms or munitions of war of any description
whatever carried on to Navy Island in said steam-boat, except one small
field-piece, called a six-pounder ; and further this deponent saith not.

His
(Signed) Joiiw X JoHNsON.

mark.
Sworn this 29th day of January,

1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

Inclosure 16 in No. 1.

Dqposition of Pierre A. Barker.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

Pierre A. Barker, of the city of Buffiao, 'in the state and county
aforesaid, being duly sworn, maketh oath and saith, that he was on
1st day of December last past, and still is, the Collector of the Customs
and Inspector of the Revenue for the district of Buffalo Creek in the State
of New York, and that he knew the steam-boat "Caroline " before her
capture and destruction, and that the annexed papers, being a Licence
and Enrollment of the said boat, were made out the day they bear date,
but the same were not actually taken from the Custom House by Mr.
William We"s, of the city of Buffalo, to whom they belong, until about
the 29th day of December last past, as this deponent believes ; and that he
has no knowledge of any transfer of said boat having been made at any
time by said William Wells to any person whomsoever, from the date of
said papers to the time of her reported destruction at Schlosser on the
night of the 29th day of December last past; and that James W. Brown,
whose signature is written to the -annexed papers above mentioned, was,
at the time they bear date, a deputy of this deponent, in the office of Col-
lector aforesaid; and further this deponent saith not.

(Signed) PIEaE A. BARKER>i.
Subscribed and sworn before me this

lst day of February, 1838, (Signed) F. P. STEvENS,
Judge of Erie County Cowrt.

Sub-Inclosure 1 in Inclosure 16 in No. 1.

ENROLLMENT.

No. 49.-(Forty-nine.)

IN conformity to an Act of the Congress of the United States of
America, entitled, "«An Act for Enrolling and Licensing Ships and
Vessels, &c.," passed the 18th February, 1793, and "An Act to Regulate
the Foreign and Coasting Trade on the Northern, North-Eastern, and
North-Western Frontiers of the United States, and for other purposes,"
passed 2nd March, 1831, William Wells, of Buffalo, New York, having
taken or subscribed the oath required by said Acts, and having sworu



fhat he is a citizen of the United States, sole owner of the steam-boat
or vessel called th4e "Caroline " of Buffalo, whereof he is at present
master: and, as he hath sworn, is a citizen of the United States, and that
the said ship or vessel was built at Ogsdenburgh, New York, in the year
1824, as appears by ber Enrollment, dated at the Port of Buffalo, New
York, June 27, 1837, and numbered thirty-four (34). And the said
Enrollnent having certified that the said steam-boat or vessel has one
deck and no nmats, and that--

Her length is seventy-one feet - - - 71 Q
Her breadth is twenty feet and six inches - 20 6
Her depth is five feet and six inches - - 5 6

and that she measures foQrty-ilve tons and ninety ninety-fths; that sbe is
a steam-boat, has no galleries and a figure-head. ÀAd the said William
Wells having agreed to the description and admeasurement above speci.
fied, and sufficient security having been iven in conformity with the
terms of said Acts, the said steainboat has¶een duly enroled at the Port
of Buffalo Creek.

(L.S.) Given under my hand and seal of office at the Port
of Buffalo Creek in the said district, this lst day of December,
1837.

(Signed) JAMEs W. BROwN,
Deputy Callector.

Sub-Inclosure 2 in Inclosure 16 in N. 1. *

LICENCE.-No. 58. (Fifty-eight.)

District of Bufalo 0reek, Port of Bufalo Creek.

IN pursuance of an Act of Congress of the United States of America
entitled, 4"An Act for enrolling and licensing ships or vessels, &c," passed
the 18th February, 1793; and "An Act to regulate the Foreign and
Coasting Trade on the northern, north-eastern, and north-western fron-
tiers of the United States, and for other purposes," passed the 2nd of
March, 1831. William Wells having given bond that the steam-boat,
ealled the " Caroline," whereof the said William Wells is master, burden
forty-five and ninety ninety-fifths tons, as appears by her enrolment,dated at the Port of Buffalo, New York, December 1, 1837, and No.
(49,) forty-nine, shall not be employed in any trade while this licence
shall continue in-force, whereby the revenue of the United States shall
be defrauded, and having also sworn that this licence shall not be used
for any other vessel, licence is hereby granted for the said steam-boat
"Caroline" of Buffalo, to be employed in conformity with the terms of
said Acts, for one year from the date hereof and no longer.

(L.S.) Given under my hand and seal of office at the Port
ofB.alflo Creek, in the said district, this lst day of December,
1837.

(Signed) JAMEcs W. BROwN,
Deputy Collector.

Inclosure 17 in No. 1.

Depositions of William Taylor and Eliska Lee.

United States of America, State of New York, Erie County Sessions.

William F. P. Taylor, of the city of Buffalo, State and County afore-
said, and Eliska Lee, of the same place, being duly sworn, each for him-
self saith, and the said William F. P. Taylor saith, that he is an American
citizen, and has been engaged in the forwarding business on Lake Erie



and the Upper Lake for fifteen years past, and is well acquainted with
steam-boats on the said lakes ;their mode of construction and capacity
for -doing business, and has known the steam-boat "Caroline" several
years, and has understood she was originally built of live oak, and that
the said " Caroline" was rebuilt new from light water-mark some time last
season, and that, exclusive of her engine-boilers and outfit, and including
her hull, j0iner-work, and painting, the said steam-boat "Caroline" was
worth 60 dollars per ton on the 29th day of December last past, and if
the engine and boiler of the said "Caroline" were in a good running con-
dition, this deponent would estimate the said boat at 100 dollars per ton,
and thinks she was worth that sum exclusive of her furniture; and the
said Elisha Lee, for himself saith, that he is an American citizen and a
steam-boat engineer and a boiler-maker, and was well acquainted with
the engine and boiler on board the steam-boat " Caroline ;" that the engine
on board of said "Caroline" on the 29th day of December last past, was a
good one and would work fifteen horse-power and upwards; the boiler was
old but in good repair on the day aforesaid, and would last with careful
usage from two to three years; and that the said steam-engine and boiler
were justly worth on the said 29th day of December last past the sum of
1,800 dollars; and further these deponents say not.

(Signed) ELISHa LEE.
Sworn and subscribed this 2nd day of

February, 1838, before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,
Judge of Erie County Courts.

(Signed) W. F. PORTER TAYLOR.
Sworn and subscribed by the above-named William

F. P. Taylor, this 3rd day of February, 1838,
before me, (Signed) F. P. STEVENS,

Judge of Erie County Courts.

Inclosure 18 in No. 1.

Mr. Stevens to Mr. Forsyth.

Dear Sir, Lockport, New York, January 23, 1838.
AT suggestion of H. W. Rogers, district-attorney of Erie, I inclose

to you a copy of the Grand Jury's minutes, taken by them, relative to the
murder on board of steam-boat "Caroline," at Schlosser.

Your's truly,
(Signed) R. H. STEVENS.

Sub-Inclosure in Inclosure 18 in No. I.

Niagara General Sessions, January Term, 1838.

The People of the State of New York,
versus

Allen Mc Nab, John Mosier, James Chalmers, Angus Mc Leod, Edge-
worth Usher, Edward Zealand, John B. Warrens, William Warrens,
Peter Rigley, Thomas Mc Cormick, Rolland Mc Donald, Jared F.
Jarvis.

BILL FOR MURDER.

COMPLAINT in this case for murder of William Durfee and others
on board steam-boat ciCaroline," at Schlosser, in the town of Niagara,
29th of December last,

being duly sworn, deposes and says, that he was
in Canada near Chippewa, at the time steam-boat was burnt, lives near
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there; he has given his name to district Attorney, but don't want to be
known just now. There were about twelve boats started from Chippewa
Creek, containing about seven to twelve men in each. It was said there
that they were. to burn steam-boat then lying at Schlosser wharf. The
steam-boat was then in sight of Canada side. Before boats started some
of the men wanted some swords that the officers or horsemen had, and
they were not willing to let these boatmen have them, when a man at the
officers' barracks, whose name he learned was Allen Mc Nab, said to
these horsemen or officers, that he, Mc Nab, would be responsible for a
safe return of the swords. These horsemen then gave the swords to men
who were going across in boats. It was the general rumour in all the
camp, that McNab ordered this expedition and that John Mosier was to
head it, and the Guards so understood it. About twelve at night two
beacon lights were struck up on the Canada shore, and a few minutes
after this he saw steam-boat on fire, and it went over the falls; when the
men who went out on these boats came back and passed these beacon
lights, they hurra'd, and said it was a Yankee trick. It was said there
that Mc Leod bragged of having killed three of the damned Yankees;
saw a young man they called a prisoner in the guard house, an officer
each side of him examining him; saw a man next morning at Schlosser,
he was shot through his head and was dead, his name was William
Durfee. Captain Harding was wounded in his head with a sword-cut.

Luke Walker sworn; says, last Friday he was on board steam-boat
"Caroline;" twenty-five or thirty were on board her. About half past
twelve at night first he heard was "here is the enemy," and they then in
boat all rushed up stairs. One man lay on deck wounded; they threw
down witness on top of this wounded man; they asked witness if he
knew where the men were who were on board of the steam-boat, and
witness said "No;" they then told witness to tell or they would run him
through; witness said to them that he did not know as he had only come
on board to sleep. They then went to a man who was wounded, and
asked him same, and the man answered same as witness did. They then
caught witness and threw him into a yawl boat, leaving wounded man on
deck; he heard a pistol go off; heard a man hollow "Murder," behind
partition. The asked this man when the men were on board; the man
said he did not now. One said "run him through," and the man behind
partition hollowed "Murder.' One fellow, after they got into Canada,
told witness "he went a number of times to run witness through, but
did not do it after all;" witness did not hear this man's name, he was a
young man, and was about twenty-two years old, had on no whiskers,
was thick set and short.

Captain Mc Cormick was on board boat the witness was put into;
heard him so called by the crew, just as steam-boat took fire, crew called
and said, IlWhere is Captain Mc Cormick, and he said, "IPm here, let me
jump in,'' and he got off steam-boat into yawl boat. After they got
across into Canada, he heard Captain Mosier's name spoken of. He
heard Captain Zealand's name when he was on steam-boat. He heard
Jarvis' name mentioned, but can't tell whether it was on steam-boat or
after they got into Canada, is not sure which; he went into officers' camp
and saw Colonel Me Nab, who asked witness if he knew steam done
business for Navy Island or not. When there (in officers' camp) he
heard one man say he knocked one man's brains out with pistol down
into the fire-hole. Mc Nab was there then in camp, and heard this.
Another said he run a man through three times, down among engines,
and left him there. There was much crowd there in Mc Nab's quarters.
Witness was told Mc Nab was head man, and was a fine man; was sent
for by Mc Nab three or four times. The second time he went to Mc Nab,
he called a Justice of Peace, and swore witness as to what steam-boat
was going to do, One said he turned over a negro on deck, dead. Over
in Canada witness saw a man with the guard dressed in blue roundabout
and cloth cap, who asked witness if he did not recollect of riding in
waggon near Black Rock with him the day before the night the steam-,
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boat was burnt; witness answered "No;" (but witness says he knew him
but would not let him know it; he did ride with him in a waggon nea
Black Rock;) the man then said, " You are an old boy and ought to bç
hung." The man was then spoken to by guard; they said to the man,
w You were not on that steap-boat?" the fellowanswered that he was, anq
could prove it; this man was about twenty-five years old, and shortish, an4
witness would know him anywhere; he looked some like a sailor, (this was
Monday morning.> Five boats came to steam-boat, understood that
twelve started to go. After Me Nab swore witness he gave him 5s. or 6..,
and told him to go home. Another man was taken from steam-boat tQ
Canada, and théy said they would hang iim. When these men came
on te steam-boat, they hollowed "No quarter ;" the men who belonged to
boat had no arms. He heard in Mc Nab's camp a man tell Mc Nab thaý
none of their men were hurt, except one old nign, who was wounded ii
the arm, and the man said he guessed some of their own men did it by
mistake.

Witness has been a driver on Erie canal; when he was on steam'-
boat, he expected to be run thtough ; but he should not have flinched it,
but have stood it. Mc Nab aske witness if he was intending to go on tç
the iàland. Witness told himi "No;" (for he knew too well t'hat if he did
tell him right he should not have got back, and so he told him a straigl4
story); there was about fifty in these five boats; seven was in the béat
witness was put into. Captain Mc Cormick jumped into yawl boat; and
as he jumpe into it, he (Mc Çorpuck) stubbed,.his toe and fell intp the
river, and they pulled him out; and then they were a little bewildered,
and went dQwn stream, and they hollowed out; "This is the way, and tht
is the way," apd they turned their boats about and riin, so a to g ab
lights on the other side the river.

Tkpmas age sworn; says, he was in Canada last Friday; eame home
across Ferry 4t Lewiston, four P.M. Saturday; he was at St. David's in
Çaa4a, and heard men there talking about burning steam-bôàt, and that it
went ovpr falls with twenty odd in it. One man was thet e*ho told witness
ho jammed them down in the engine way and bolted hatehes, and served
hem all as eywould serve all.the damped Ygnkees; Me something, it

sounded sme like Me Donald; could not- say certainly. Some of these
mnen were from Coburg; ,Chisholmis name was mentioned as ïone of the
çrew ; e Leod and self was also named; Warren's naine was niepê

Jilman Appleby sworn; says, 29th December he was in steambpa
"Caroline." Witness was master; had on American flag; Beltish fired
at steam-boat while coming down above Grand IslIn; Uie men on
board steam.-boat were thirty-three in 4lU ; gave his berth to a geptlemas
from Rochester to sleep in. Captain Harding got out first. Wh4n
witness was going up he met Mc Leod, who said, 4Down you darmned
Yankee," and then run sword nçar witness' breast down his belly; t
went between clothes and skin, and witness fell and feigned de&-d; 
one dead man on deck; did not know who it was; they shot boy alle
Little Bill; his real name was Johnson; heard Mosier's name clted while
on deck; there must have been eleven killed, as this number is mnissing,
besides the prisoners. He knew three which he saw killed-Willianm
Durfee, Little Billy, and a dead man on deck. One Negro was wounded .
Mr. King so badly wounded that he may not live; Harding wounded by
sword-cut on head. Some of them said half a dQzen times, "Show the
damned Yankees no quarters ;" they said so beforç they came into bogt.
There was not an armed man on the steam-boat, other than those who
came from Canada on to her in the small boats; pot even 80 much as a
pocket-pistol. This fellow who was taken prisoner (not Walker) was a
man who pretended he had come from Duncomb's army; witness saw his
affidavit at Buffalo which was taken in Canada to that effect. Little
Billy was run through while witness was in warehouse; he groaned and
staggered and fell into river; witness saw the blood, and he saw where
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the ball struck the pier. This spy, who said he was from Duncomb's
army, swore in Canada that there were thirty armed men on steam-boat
wheD Canada boats came up; witness says there was not one armed.

paisiel J. Suart; resides at Buffalo; was on steam-boat "Caroline"
same night she was burnt. The crew and passengers were not armed.
Witness was watch on deck; heard no names called on deck; the first
mun who came on deck was a full faced man, and as witness met hirm, the
man unsbeathed his sword and witness turned, and a gun was fired from
felow in.small boats, but it did not hit witness. Another gun was fired
ànd witness run and up boat. This spy was called Peter saw light;
e.coss on Canada shore.

Charles P. Harding; lives at Buffalo; Captain Canada was on watch,
and came and said a'boat was coming, and in a few minutes came again
and said, several boats are coming. The firing commenced; witness
startedand fell over a, dead man ; heard swords ringing, and shouting,
and saying, "IFire !" Witness got on forecastle, and looked for sometlîing,
In hopes to help his friend Appleby and Wells who were below; a man
rushed at him with a sword an dsaid, "Who are you ?" and witness said,
" Stop ;" the fellow struck and hit the upper deck. Another man was
looking at witness, probably to see who witness was. Witness grabbed
tks fellow's hands around the butt end of a pistol. This fellôw might
haýegone ovrer1poard if he was a mind to. Another man came befor
Sp tness and made a stroke, but did not hit; struck twice and did not hit;
then a voile'y of bullets came from aft ; and as witness turned he was hit
on jbead with swordhe stumbled and fel1 partly down over a Negro; and
Negro shoved the witness forward some ; witùess kept þold of Negro's
shoulder. The man who struck witness, he supposes, lives at Coburg,
and thinks his name was Warren; eleven were killed; thirty-three on
board; there were five botg, about sixty men. Mr. Longley, merchant
of Buffalo, swore, that Rolland Mc Donald, brewer of Coburg, was one of
the masterg of the Canada4 bots an nQ Qf the g g.Peter Jigley was

yl4vangs Starrg, of Iluff4lQ, sworn ; says, he was on w4tch bptween
eg~ht #jd eg pkIQck.gt-pght; whils .p wgs on w4ph, tw q pegm pande an

4 theranted4l4-i; tay weet a, y Sfege-hqat's crew had no
ri givpn witness supposed it wa s joke, but

soon another alarm was given, and witness jumped and put p loqts, and
the firing began, and singing q1.t lQiye the daned rascals ,o 'qarters;
kiß eery dm4ned pne of them, and to secure gangways." Witness picked
up his coat and put it on his arm, and made for forward ganeway, and
near chimney were a cluster of men, who appeared to be at woik at some
one, and witness got along among.their legs, and got a blow over the eye
as with a musket-stock ; saw no man that he knew. As witness was
struck, he cried out, "hlo}d »n j' ;"e thexe got another blow, which brought
him on to the deck; he run a little way, and stopped, and thought a little,
apd started to run giýi, and was afraid and could not run. Saw Durfee

fter he wes killed; this Dµirfee stood watch tl4at nighp with the Witness
in the evening. As near as he can tell, there were thirty-çd4 men on
board steam-bôat, and he can gecopnt for eighteen. ie took the invaders
to be Canadians. After witness stopped, hé saw lights over on Canada
shore, near the eut from Chippewa Creek, in the Niagara River. The
mrderers went towards these lights. After they had fired the team-
boat they gave thrge cheers.

William Wells, of Buffalo; got names frouu Mc Kenze, Angus
Mc Leod, Mc Giver, now or late clerk with Mc Lin of Chippera, John
Mosièr. Witness got off boat after she was on fire; tley had pgde two or
three attempts to fire her. Witness was the last man who got off boat,
and he stumbled over some men below who were alive, and they probably
went over Falls.
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Some one seized Durfee by collar and said, " Who the devil are you?
go ashore with me, or I will blow your damn'd brains out," &c. He soon
heard a gun go off. He looked up on deck, and saw three have hold of
one man by his arms; another was behind, punching this man, or cutting
him to pieces. Witness owned this steam-boat; had thirty-three on board;
ten were killed, or went over Falls. Witness passed one dead man on the
dock, who was not Durfee.

Joshua H. Smith, of Buffalo was sworn, and said, on the night the
boat was burnt, at twelve o'clock, he was in ladies' cabin when alarm was
given. The men on board steam-boat were not armed. When alarm was
given second time five or six boats were coming up armed. Starring was
along a little forward, and a gun was fired, and a man behind witness fell
on deck. Some blood got on to the witness from this man. This man
could not have been Durfee. Witness got off, and run up rail-road, and
when boats went away, he went back to dock, and found Durfee on dock
dead. Thirty-three were on board, seventeen accounted for, so far as he
can tell; calling the spy one would make eighteen who have been found.
Saw lights strike upon Canada shore, and those boats rowed towards these
lights; don't know any of them.

Robert H. Steele, of Lockport, sworn. Was at Hamilton, and went
to get a pass to come home ; and the man told him they barred the hatches
down, and some twenty went over Falls. The man had a piece of the
wreck of the boat in his hands, and said Mc Donald and Mc Cormick were
in the affair. The man pretended they found the boat at Navy Island.
This man was talking with Colonel Chisholm, who seemed not to oive
credit to what was said, and said people were fools for believing all they
heard. Did not learn the names of the men.

Niagara County Sessions.

I, Robert H. Stevens, district attorney of Niagara County, in the State
of New York, do certify that the foregoing is in substance and effect all
the testimony taken by the Grand Jury of said county at the late Niagara
general sessions of the peace, at which time a complaint was pending
against the several persons named at the commencement of this testimony.
And I further certify that I have copied the foregoing from the original
minutes taken by said Grand Jury, and by them han ded to me, and now in
my possession.

Dated at Lockport, 25th January, 1838.
(Signed) R. H. STEVENS.

No. 2.

Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Stevenson.

Foreign Office, August 27, 1841.
THE Undersigned, Her Majesty's Principal Secretary of State for

Foreign Affairs, in proceeding to reply to the note which Mr. Stevenson,
Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary from the United
States, addressed to him on the 22nd of May, 1838, upon the subject of the
capture and destruction of the steam-boat "Caroline," by a detachment
of Her Majesty's forces, on the River Niagara, on the night of the 29th
of December, 1837, thinks it necessary, in the first place, to explain the
reasons why this reply has not been made sooner.

Mr. Stevenson's note, which had been preceded by a correspondence
on this subject between Mr. Fox and Mr. Forsyth, in January, 1838, was
accompanied by voluminous documents, purporting to contain statements
of facts collected by the law officers of the United States' Government,
from a variety of witnesses, whom they had examined for this purpose ;
and it was absolutely necessary that, before Her Majesty's Government
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could give a full answer to Mr. Stevenson's note, copies of those docu.
ments should be sent to the Governor-General of Canada, in order that he
might direct witnesses on the British side to be examined, and that he
might transmit to Her Majesty's Government correct accounts of those'
transactions to which the statements of the American witnesses related.

The proceedings connected with these inquiries necessarily occupied
a considerable portion of time, and it was not till the spring of the year
1839, that full information was received.

Other border conflicts also happened, which appeared to Her
Majesty's Government to diminish the relative importance of the affair of
the "Caroline;" and it seemed to Her Majesty's Government, that the
Çiovernment of the United States could not but feel that the result of all
these events must be, that there was a large account to be settled between
the two Governments, which must be adjusted entirely, or not at all; and
that it was useless to discuss separate and particular incidents, as if they
were the only points to be arranged between the two countries.

Moreover, the Government of the United States was perfectly aware,
even before Mr. Stevenson's note, of May, 1838, was written, that Her
Majesty's Government considered the destruction of the "Caroline" as a
justifiable act of self-defence, properly done by the local British authorities
for the protection of British subjects and their property, and for the
security of Her Majesty's territories.

This opinion had been made known to the United States' Government
by Mr. Fox, in an Official Note to Mr. Forsyth, and by the Undersigned,
in more than one conversation with Mr. Stevenson.

Moreover, Mr. Stevenson, in his Note of May, 1838, did not repre-
sent the transaction as being the unauthorized enterprize of private indi-
viduals, acting upon their own responsibility, and which it was doubtful
whether Her Majesty's Government would or would not consider as being
a matter for which the British Government and nation were answerable;
but Mr. Stevenson, on the contrary, represented the transaction as one
which had been deliberately planned with the knowledge and approbation
of the Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, and executed by armed
troops, forming a portion of the British force stationed at Chippewa; and
Mr. Stevenson called upon Her Majesty's Government to disavow and
disapprove the conduct of the Lieutenant-Governor in this respect. But
Her Majesty's Government did not, after the receipt of Mr. Stevenson's
Note, retract the opinions expressed on this matter by Mr. Fox and by
the Undersigned, nor did Her Majesty's Government in any manner dis-
avow or disapprove the conduct of the Lieutenant-Governor of Canada;
and, therefore, both that which Her Majesty's Government had done, and
that which Her Majesty's Government abstained from doing, could leave
no doubt whatever on the mind of the President, that the British Govern-
ment intended to decline to comply with the demand contained in
Mr. Stevenson's note.

It is to be presumed that it was a conviction to this effect, which in-
duced Mr. Stevenson to refrain from pressing for an answer to his Note,
without special instructions from his Government to do so; and which,
also, led Mr. Forsyth to instruct Mr. Stevenson to abstain till further
orders from taking any step in the matter. The Government of the
United States seems, like that of Her Majesty to have felt that no good
could arise from the communication of a formal refusal on the part of
Great Britain to comply with a demand explicitly made by the United
States, and that it might be better to let that refusal be inferred fron the
silence of the British Government.

But as recent communications received from the United States'
Government show that a formal reply to Mr. Stevenson's Note of the 28th
May, 1838, is desired by the President, the Undersigned feels that he is
bound to give it; and he has, therefore, now again to declare, that, in the
opinion of Her Majesty's Government, the capture and destruction of the
" Caroline" was a justifiable act of self-defence, and that Her Majesty's
Government, far from disavowing and disapproving the then Lieutenant-
Governor of Canada, who sanctioned, or the officers and men of Her
Majesty's forces, who planned and executed this transaction; on the con-
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trary, fully avow and entirely approve, the conduct, in this respect, of all
those persons; that no redress is due by Her Majesty's Government on
this account, and that, therefore, none can be given,

The grounds- upon which. this opinion rests, will be found in the
following aummary of the leading facts of the case; and Her Majesty's
Oovernment cannot but indulge a hope that the Government of the
Jjnited States will see in this statement, and in the proofs by which it is
supported, sufficient reason for the decision of Her Majesty's Government.

If a wrong had reallybeen done by Her Majesty's colonial «iuthori-
ties, Her Majesty's Government would most readily have given reparation;
but if on the other hand it can be shown that no wrong hus been done,
and that the transaction in question was, in truth, a 1efepsive measure ç
the part of the British authorities in North America. The Government
of the United States is too just, to press for a, reparation which is nt
due.

In December, 1837, no civil war existed in Canada; there was .no
party within the. British Provinces arrayed in armis against the Queen's
authority; disturbances had, indeed, broken out in Lower Canada in the
autuma of 1837, but those disturbances had been promptlyq4elled by the
energetic loyaltyr of IIer Majesty's Canadian subjects, and by the action
of Her Majesty's regular troops; those disturbances had ended aftera
short conflict, and with little loss of life on either side; the leaders of the
insurrection had fled to the United States, and for some time before
December, 1837, order ajnd tranquillity had been restored in the Canadiqp
provinces.

In this state of things, a small band of Canadian refugees who had
taken shelter in the State of New York, formed a league with a number
of citizens of the United States for the purpose of invpding the British
territory, not to join a party engaged in civil war, because civil war a.t
that time in Canada there wAs none, but in order to commit within the
British territory the. crimes of robbery, arson, and murder. Her
Majesty's Government and Her Majesty's Minister ut Washington hve
called these people pirates, and tIre American Secrptary 9f State in, a
recent note to Mr. Fox observes, that this name cannot properly -be

applied to.them. The Undersigned is ready to admit thgt, technically, the
word " pirate" is applied to persons who, without authority or c9mmis-
sion, commit upon the high seas the crirnes which this band of offenders
determinied to commit upon the land; but if the term is in.this case inap-
propriate, it is so, not. on account of the nature of the acts w ici these
men were about to perpetrate, but on account of the element on which
those acts were to be committed.

The intentions of these men were publicjy known; but the Goveru-
ment of New York took no effectual steps to preve4t them fpn arrng
those intentions into effect. By a neglect on the part of th at vernment
which seems to admit of but one explanation, the storeho.ses wbich con-
tained the arms and aramutition of the State were left. u4 gnrled; and
were consequently broken open by this gang, who carried of· froin thence,
in open day, and in the most pubic manner, cannon, and other impleents
.of war.

After some days of preparation, these people proceeded, without apy
interruption from the Government or authorities of the State çf fNew
York, and under the command of an .American citizen, to invadç and
occupy Navy Island, a part of the British territory; and lhving engaged
the steam-boat "Caroline," which, for their special service, was cut. ot of
the ice in which she had been inclosed in the port of J3uffalo, they-used
her for the purpose of bringing over to Navy Island from the United
States' territory, men, arms, ammunition, stores, and provisions. The
preparations made for this invasion of British territory by a band of men
organized, armed, and equipped within the United States, and consisting
partly of British subjects and partly of American citizens, had induce1
the British authorities to station a military force at Chippewa, to repel
the threatened invasion, and to defend Her Majesty's territory.

The commanders of that force seeing that the " Caroline" was used
as a means of supply and reinforcement for the invaders who had
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mccupied Navy Island,. judged that the capture and destruction of that
vessel would prevent supplies and reinforcements from passing over to the
Island, and yould moreover.deprive the force in the Island of the means
of passing over to the Britiqh territory on the main land. They therefore
deterrined at .once- to capture tbe "Caroline," boti for the purpose of
impeding the further progress of the inyaders, and to hasten their retreat
from Navy Island. The British commanders having taken this determi-
psAion, lost no time m carryin1g it into execution, cause every hour's
del y vfogld have defeated.thir purpose; but in order to avoid as much

posble, lops of life apd efusion of blood on eithèr side in accom-
pIisiing tþieir object, they choseto capture the vesse by a sqrprizein te
qight, whep the maraudersbeing assaled unawares, andin ,the dark, bg
,persons ating iypon g. concertéd plan, would be less able 'to resisçan
wogid be more easily overpomne .an if attacked þy daylght a npces-
sarily wvarned for defence by seeing the gr4ual pÏpproachof the B-itis
boats.

Acecrdingly, seven 3ritiýh boats, with an officer and eight men in
çach, al of tlem volunfeers f'rom the 4ritish force saiioned at Chippewa,
ptarted og the night of the 29th of cember, 1837, from Chippqwa, to
cut oqt the "Caroline," which àhey e pecLeò to find at <avy Islandbut
which they discovered lower down the river, moored at the warf it Fort
ßghlesser.

ftçr being challenged by, the watch on deck, they boarded the
.vessel, pnd a'ter a shqrt but smart resistance, d iing which, some of the
bogrding party were seyerelywonded, they carried the vessel, drove on
ehore the crew and the other persons who were on board, cast her off from
her noorngs, and proceeded to tow her îway, intesding to carry iher over
to the. Brtishi shore. But they fund'her too heavy to be towed up
against the stream, gnd thersforer after carefully see g that there was
pobody left on board, tbey sel 1e2r on^f e, andlët her "drift doi to the
Falls. Iaving tMrus accomplished their obect, ,tly returned quietlyto

hippewa, without-any retaliatory attack upon that portion of the iostile
land iyho were collected a Fort Schlosser and ho intendëd, unooubt,
,to pass over the next day in the " C*roline' to ýavy Island.
· In execpting this operation, t 1ritsh party used no greater deree
9f violence tlian was necessary to,carry the vess. They took with them

o $re-gi'ps, and had nothing b >t u.tasses, aiL some swords borrowed
for Ahe ecaion from the.cavafry, sgtipqped at hippewa.

Suclrof b .perensfound oan board the ".Crplie'? as didot resist,
1vere put P nshore. llnhjured ad as the vesse wasclose tq e wharf,
the greater parf of th. persojas op- boa rd lnde without dif1culty. Lt
appears that a few were wounded, and U1er Ma.esty's Governient very

îmuch regret that one Apierican citizen, named Dyrfee lost his life by a
sþot through the head. But as it is positively ,decIred .y the British
pp-ty that they took.no fire-arms with them, and as it is proved that the
SAmerican party had fire-arms and used them, it seems possible tó account
for the deaith ff Durfee without assuming that he lll by the hands of the
:ritish pprty.

-The details,of whkh the foregoig statement is a sumnary, are given
in the inlosures to this note; and the Undersigned requests that Mr.
Stevenson will havethe, goodness to draw the special attention of his
Government to the particulars contained in those sub-ip cosures.

For an attentive perusal of those inclosures will show how erroneous
are many of the statements which have been transmitted to Mr. Stevenson,
and of which he gave a summary in his note of December, 1838. But
sone other parts, ofthat summary are perfectly consistent witi the British
.statement, and tend to confirm .instead of contradicting it.

Mr. Stevenson begins his narrative by stating that, towards the.end
,of.December, 1837, the "Caroline" was cleared from the port of Buffalo,
.with a view of running between that port and Schiosser, and for the pur-
pose of carryin g.passengers and frei ht. But Mr. Stevenson omits to
state that the 4 aroline ".was "clegred" not only from the custom-house,
but from the ice, in which she had been locked up for the winter; and he
has omitted to explain whence and how arose that sudden outburst of
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traffic on the river between Buffalo and Schlosser, which, in the depth of
a North American winter, could render it a profitable undertaking to set
on the "Caroline" as a passage vessel between those two points, between
which there is an established railway communication.

Mr. Stevenson commences his narrative by stating that he is about to
give a recital of "the prominent and important facts" of the case; and
yet he omits ail mention of the most prominent and most important fact of
the whole transaction, of that fact which, indeed, is the very foundation of
the whole proceeding, and in which lies the essence of the whole matter;
namely, the then recent invasion of the British territory at Navy Island,
by a band of British refugees and of American citizens, commanded by a
citizen of the Union, organized and equipped under the eyes, and there is
too much reason to suspect, with the connivance of the authorities, of New
York, and provided with cannon and other arms, and warlike stores which
were the public property of that State, and were taken openly and without
impediment frorn the storehouses of the State.

Mr. Stevenson, however, is obliged to admit that the very first thing
that was done by this'steam-vessel, which had cleared out to carry pas-
sengers and freight between Buffalo and Fort Schlosser, was to land
passengers and freight not at Fort Schlosser at all, but at Navy Island,
then occupied by the hostile force which had invaded it from the United
States. Mr. Stevenson says, that the "Caroline" then went on to Fort
Schlosser, but he does not assert that she landed at that place any passen-
gers or freight from Buffalo; but he admits that this steam-boat, whose
professed employment was to run between Buffalo and Schlosser, having
first disembarked her passengers and freight from Buffalo, not at Schlos-
ser, but at Navy Island, and having arrived subsequently at Schlosser,
returned not to Buffalo, but to Navy Island, and then not once, but twice,
in the very day on which she arrived at Schlosser, went from Schlosser to
Navy Island, and back from Navy Island to Schlosser. And thus it
appears, even from Mr. Stevenson's own statement, that the real purpose
for which the "Caroline" was employed was not to run with passengers
and freight from Buffalo to Schlosser, and from Schlosser to Buffalo; but
to convey passengers and freight from Buffalo and from Schlosser to
Navy Island, a place not within the United States' territory, but a British
island, to which, in ordinary times, no man would have thought of carry-
ing either passengers or freight, because it has scarcely any inhabitants,
and has neither accommodation for travellers nor demand for mercantile
commodities; and is, in fact, in consequence of the strength of the current
at that point, so difficult of access for rowing boats, that on that account the
invaders found a steam-vessel necessary as a sure and safe means of com-
munication with the shore.

What then was the reason why, in the depth of winter, the "Caroline"
carried in one single day three cargoes of passengers and freight to this
usually almost uninhabited island ? Why the answer is plain: these pre-
tended passengers were reinforcements for the band of invaders who had
seized possession of that portion of British territory; and the freight con-
sisted of arms and warlike stores. This fact is perfectly notorious, and has
been admitted by Mr. Appleby the master, who, in his recent examination in
the case of Mr. Mc Leod, confessed that part of this pretended freight was
nothing more or less than a six-pounder. It is clear, therefore, from Mr. Ste-
venson's own statement that the " Caroline" was not engaged in the innocent
occupations of commerce, but was employed to assist the hostile proceed-
ings of the band who had invaded the British territory ; that she had
three times in one day made landings on the British territory for hostile
purposes; that her character was identified with that of the band on Navy
Island; and that the British authorities were fully justified in treating
her as an enemy's vessel and in capturing or destroying her as such.

Mr. Stevenson then goes on to say, that the "Caroline " was moored
for the night to the wharf at Fort Schlosser; and that on board of her
there were her own officers and crew, amounting to ten in number, and
twenty-three other individuals, all citizens of the United States, who were
unable to procure lodgings at the Inn. That Inn, indeed, as is well known,
was entirely filled that night with other citizens of the United States who
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mentioned twenty-three had come; and Mr. Stevenson says, that all the
thirty-three persons on board the "Caroline " retired to rest, except the
night watch. Now upon this the Undersigned would beg to remark, in
passing, that considering that the " Caroline" was a small steamer,
pretended to be destined merely as a passage vessel in the river between
Buffalo and Schlosser, it seems strange that she should have been encum-
bered with so large a number of officers and men; and the fact that the
master deemed it necessary to set a night watch seems to indicate a con-
sciousness on his part, that lie was engaged in an undertaking which
might, probably, expose him to the very danger which actually came
upon him.

Mr. Stevenson then states, that about midnight the "Caroline" was
boarded by people from four or five boats who, armed with pistols, swords,
and cutlasses, began an indiscriminate attack upon the unarmed crew and
inmates of the vessel under the cry of "lGive no quarter ;" that the
steamer was yielded without resistance, and was then set on fire, and sent
down the Falls.

Now upon this the Undersigned would beg to remark, that it is
stated by the British witnesses, that the parties in the boats took no fire-
arms with them ; and there was evidently a good reason for this, because
in the darkness of the night they could not have used fire-arms without
danger to each other ; for, although each might be able to distinguish
friend from foe as far as his sword could reach, he could not possibly tell
who might find himself in the way of the range of a pistol or musket
bullet; and as the parties from the different boats were to board the
" Caroline " at different parts and in opposite directions, they would, by
using fire-arms, have been as likely to shoot one another as to shoot any
of the enemy's party. The strong probability, therefore, is that the
British statement upon this point is the true one; and as it is proved that
the American party had fire-arms, it may not unnaturally be supposed
that in the confusion of their surprise, and in the darkness of the night,
they may have mistaken the report of the fire-arms discharged by their
own party, for a report of fire-arms discharged by the boarders.

In a similar way it may be possible to account for the assertion,
wholly untrue, that the boarding party cried out to each other to give no
quarter ; for it appears that one of the party desired another to put on
shore unharmed one of the people found in the "Caroline," saying that
they wanted the vessel, but did not want to make any prisoners: and in
the hurry and alarm of the surprise the people on board the "lCaroline"''
might have construed that declaration into an intention to give no
quarter.

If, indeed, the boarding party had meant to put the people in the
"Caroline" to death, and if it were true, as stated to Mr. Stevenson and
recited in his Note, that a party of men from four or five boats who could
not, therefore, well have been less than forty in number, and who are
said to have been armed with swords and pistols, boarded by surprise a
vessel containing thirty-three men wholly unarmed, mostly asleep at the
time, and all of them unresisting, is it possible that if the intention of
such a boarding party had been to give no quarter, a great portion of the
people in theI "Caroline " must not have perished that night ? and yet the
only one among the number who lost his life was Durfee, who, probably,
fell by a shot from his own friends.

These facts, which are now clearly ascertained, completely vindicate
the boarding party from the charge of unnecessary violence in performing
the public service on which they were employed.

Mr. Stevenson then proceeds to say, that there was no fortification
of any kind at Schlosser; that hostilities were not commenced on the
American side; and that no shot from cannon or from other fire-arms had
been discharged from the American shore on thei morning of the 29th of
December, as pretended by one of the British officers,

As to the last point, the Undersigned requests the particular attention
of the United States' Government to the statements made regarding it by
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the British witnesses, and on the correctness of which Her Majesty'a
Government must be permitted to rely.

'Phat ther· iwas no fortification at Schlosser Her Majesty's Goverm-
ment are ready to admit, for thougli the place is called Fort Schlosse,
lier Majesty's Government believe that no fortified building at present
exists there. It'is also perfecly tru that no hostilities had been com
nièièéd on the American sie, if by.that expression M-. Stevenson means
thé American side of the river; but that hostilities had beén commenced
by thé Americans is now an historical fact, and those hostilities consisted
i» an invasion of British territory by an armed force from the State of
New York. In fact, the people of New York had begUn to make war
against.Uer Majesty's Canadian Provinces. Theyhad done so apparentYy
with the .connivance of the Authorities of the State; not only the New
York territory at Schlosser had lost its neutral character, and had become
enemies' 1land, but other portions of the territory of that State had
assumed the same condition.

ne or other of two things must be. Either the Government of New
York knowingly and intentionally permitted the band of invaders to
organize and equip themselves within the State, and to arm themselves
for war against British territory, out of the military stores of the State;
or else 'the 9tate Government had Iôst its authority over the border dia-
tricts ; and those districts were for 'the moment in open defiance of the
power ofihe State Government, as well as at war with the opposite British
province.

' In the first case the lBritish Authorities in Canada had a right to
retaliate war for war; in the second case they weie no longer bound to
respect ~as neutral that portion of territory which, by shaking off its
obedience to a neutral Government, had ceased to be neutral, and cold
certainly not be entitled to the privilege of protecting persons who were
activély engaged in making war upon 1er Majesty's territory. And this-
is an answer to the objection, if it should be made by the United States'
Government, that even admitting that the "Caroline" was employed .in
the service of the invaders of Navy Island, which it'is presuned will not
longer be denied, the British authorities in Canada might'have dealt with
her as an enemy if they hadfound her within the British limits, but had
no right to pursue and éapturë her within the limits of the United
States.

The answer to that objection is, that although Schlosser is unques-
tionably within the limits of the United States, it had ceased at that time
to preserve that neutral and.peaceful character which every part of the
United, States was bound to maintain even if civil war had been raging
in Canada; but which was, if possible, still more incumbent upon evèry
portion of the Union, at a time when peace prevailed, not only between
the United States and Great Britain, but within the Canadian Provinces
themselves.

These then are the grounds upon which Her Majesty's Government
conceive that the Government of te United States has no just right to
demand reparation for the capture and destruction 6f the "eCaroline," and
these are the grounds upon which it is impossible for Her Majesty's
Government to consent that any such reparation shall be made.

The Undersigned avails, &c.,
(Signed) PALMERSTON.



Deposition of theBritish Officers and Volunteers engaged in thek Capture
the Sea-boat ' Caroline."

Inclosure 1 in No. 2.

Mr. Jos8pÀ to Mvr. pikie, Cerk of the Ezective Co ncil.

Sir, GJoveµGent House, 4pril 3, i83.
I H4VE received the commands of his Excellency the Lieutenat-

G*overnor diret yot :tQ conyey to the honourable the Executive Council
his Fxcel))ncy's reqgest that tJey wili, with all cûnveneéht déspateb, take
such steps as they may deem eitpedient for obtaining what evidencè 'it my
ho in their poyer to procure respecting the proceeding-Wf the master and
crew of the steamer, "Çaroline,' 1from the time of her being taken from
hçr winter moorings at »uglo tp, her capture and destruction by Hei
l4ajesty's forcQ under Ca4ptaiin Drew.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) J. JOSEPH.

Sub-Inclosure 1 in No. 2.

Deposition of John Harris.

John Harris, of London, in the London district, and province of
Upper Canada, Esq., Master in the Royal Navy, maketh oath and saith,
that he, this deponent, was one of the naval party at Chippewa, under
Colonel Mc Nab during the occupation of Navy Island by the rebels and
brigands from the United States, in the months ofDecember and January
last.

This deponent further saith, that on the 29th day of December1last he
was directed by the commanding officer to watch the motions of a steam
boat expected from Buffalo to asàist the rebel force on Navy Island; that
aboqt> nooncof the said 29th day of December he observed a steamer run-
ning into Schlosser, appare»tly·from Buffalo. She resained a short time
at Schlosser, then got under weigh, and, ran acrossto Navy Tland. This
deponent observe a great màny men on board the' boat, ,which ran under
Navy Island, and a:achored. opposite the house, on the east side of the
island, where she remained a short time, then, returned, to Schlosser, and
went alongside the wharf, talking back with ber a i'gry few men, apparently
not more than her crew. This deponent further saith, that she remained
almost an hour at the wharf, when she agairI returned to Navy Island,
carrying a great number of men; she remained at the island until, nearly
five o'clock P.M., when she returned to Schlosser, and let off her steam.
This deponent then returned .to report her to the commanding officer.
The deponent further saith, that arrangements were immediately made to
cut her out and destroy her;. that seven boats, armed, were ordered for
the attack ; that about ten o'clock the seven boats left Chippewa, under
the command of Captain Drew, Royal Navy. Five of the boats reachèd
Schlosser, carrying in all forty-one men; the other two boats missed the
way. This deponent was in the boat with Captain Drew, who commanded
the expedition.

'Ihis deponent further saith, that when the boat got within forty yards
of the steamer, the sentry on her bow hailed thé boats, and demanded, the
countersign, this deponent distinctly heard the sentry giye the alarm, say-
ing, " The eneny are coming ;" the sentry instantlyfired his piece, and
in a few seconds the leading and other boats were alongside, and their
crews had gained the deck of the steamer. This deponent further saith
there were on boàrd the steamer a number of men, armed, but mostpf
them ran on shore as soon as the attack commenced. That on hearing
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the alarm a number of men turned out of the house at the head of the
wharf, a tavern as this deponent believes, and several shots were fired at
the· steamer; the house was about sixty yards from the steamer. This
deponent observed one man wounded, who was put on the wharf; the
wound was a sabre cut. This deponent further saith, that when the party
got possession of the boat, she was cast off from the wharf to which she
was chained in a most unusual manner, and evidently, as this deponent
believes, with a view to guard against being suddenly cut loose. This
deponent further saith, that the object of casting her off from the wharf,
and taking her out in the stream was, that no private American property
might suffer or be burned ; that when out from the wharf she was fired in
the cabin, on deck, and forward ; that previous to her being fired, a little
boy was found on board, who was put into the boat alongside, out of
danger, by this deponent's order, and brought over to Chippewa. This
deponent further saith, that the boy stated to this deponent, in the boat,
on our return to Chippewa, that there were more than twenty men on
board as a guard when he laid down to sleep, and that the tavern near
the wharf was full of men armed ready to cross over next day to Navy
Island, and that the steamer had taken across that day to Navy Island a
number of armed men and one six-pounder, with shot, and ammunition,
and provisions; and that on the next day it was intended she should take
across more men, and cannon, and provisions.

(Signed) JOHN HARRIS.
Sworn before me, at London, the

6th day of May, 1838.
(Signed) M. BURWELL,

Justice of the Peace.

Sub-Inclosure 2 in No. 2.

Deposition of William Gafeny.

William O. B. Gaffeny, of London, in the London district, gentleman,
personally came before me, one of Her Majesty's Justices of the Peace for
the District of London, and on the Holy Evangelists, voluntarily maketh
oath and saith, that he was one of the party who volunteered, under Cap-
tain Drew, R.N., to cut out the steam-boat "Caroline," from the harbour
of Schlosser on the night of the 29th December last; that deponent was
ignorant of where the vessel lay till lie heard the sentinel hail the British
boats, and on being answered, demanded the countersign, and then instantly
fired on Captain Drew's party. That deponent on getting on board saw a
number of persons running off the boat after first firing some shots. That
deponent seeing the pirates defeated on deck went into the cabin in search
of other pirates that might be concealed there, and on the act of going in
saw two shots fired from the American shore. While searching the cabin
two prisoners were brought in, and given in charge to deponent; the one
a boy, the other a middle-aged man. This deponent questioned them as
to where they were going, what number of men were on board, and where
Mc Kenzie was, &c.; the younger person admitted that he was going to
Navy Island on board the steamer next morning, and said he b1elonged to the
steam-boat; the other did not tell deponent where he was going; said when
he went to bed there were about sixteen persons on board; betieved others
came on board afterwards ; said he had seen Mc Kenzie four or fiye days
previous in Buffalo, but believed he, Mc Kenzie, was then on Navy Island;
said prisoner also told this deponent that ten men run into the hold on the
first alarm being given; this deponent searched the hold of the steamer,
and found no person there. This deponent further saith, that while on
guard over the said prisoners, Lieutenant Me Cormick, R.N., came into
the cabin, and showed this deponent his arm, which was badly wounded
by the pirates, and also said the elder prisoner was one of the murderous
villains who had done it. This deponent having heard the order given to
burn the boat, went upon deck, and asked Captain Drew what was to be
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done with the wounded man who was a prisoner, and Captain Drew
desired this deponent to put the prisoner carefully on shore, and on his
being put on shore, prisoner thanked deponent for his kindness. This
deponent then assisted in unmooring, as they supposed, the piratical
steamer from the wharf, but on getting into their boats, and finding that
something still held the vessel, they boarded her a second time, when
de onent heard some person (believes it was Captain Drew) call aloud,
"i there be any person on board, come out, as the boat is going to be
burned." Deponent assisted in setting said piratical steamer on fire ; and
after getting on board Lieutenant Beer's boat, deponent ascertained that
two others of Captain Drew's party were wounded besides Lieutenant
Mc Cornmick. This deponent saith, that so far from regretting having
assisted to destroy the said vessel, should his services be again required
he will be equally as ready at any other time to assist in subduing any
rebels that may try to subvert the constitution or disturb the peace of this
province. (Signed) WILLIAM O. B. GAFFENY.

Sworn before me, at London, this
8th day of May, 1838.

(Signed) L. LAWRASON,
Justice of the Peace, London District.

Sub-Inclosure 3 in No. 2.

Deposition of Christopher Beer.

Upper Canada, London District to Wit.-Christopher Beer, of the
township of Adelaide, in the London District, a lieutenant in the Royal
Navy, deposeth and saith, that he commanded one of the boats in the
expedition for destroying the piratical steam-boat "Caroline" on the
night of the 29th of December last; that this deponent heard distinctly
the challenge of the sentinel on the steam-boat, and her demand to give
the countersign, and immediately afterwards the report of a gun, which
this deponent believes to be fired from the said sentinel.

And further, this deponent saith, that during the attack he heard the
report of fire-arms in the direction of the Inn at Schlosser, which this
deponent has no doubt were fired at our party or the boats ; gave direc-
tions to put a man on shore who was wounded in the arm from the cut of
a sabre. The steam-boat had passed during the day from Navy Island
to Schlosser.

Sworn before me at London this 19th(Signed) CHRISTOPHER BEER.

day of April, 1838. (Signed) JOHN BoSTWIcK,
Justice of the Peace.

Sub-Inclosure 4 in No. 2.

Deposition of William Hamilton Merritt.

Niagara District to Wit.-Personally came before me, George Rykert,
Esq., one of Her Majesty's Justices of the Peace for this district, William
Hamilton Merritt, of same place, M.P.P. and J.P. for said district, who
being duly sworn, deposeth, that shortly after the dispersion of the rebels
near Toronto, and the escape of certain individuals to the opposite side,
the magistrates of this district received such information as induced them
to make preparations for defence, not from any apprehension within the
district, but to guard against attempts from the opposite shore.

With this view, on Sunday, the 10th of December, 1837, they met at
Niagara, organized committees throughout the different divisions within
the district for mutual defence, and deputed deponent, in company with

S
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Colonel Cameron, who arrived on Tuesday, to establish guards on the
frontier to Fort Erie, which was promptly executed ; a large force was
reported to have assembled on the opposite side, and in a few days after,
Nayy Island was taken possession of by the rebels and Americans. The
militia, only partially armed,,were much harassed, and serious apprehen-
sions were entertained of an immediate attack. Not holding any military
situatjon, and having been m4ny years acquainted with. the oldest and
most respectable inhabitants on the opposite side, deponent was frequently
over, and in.communication with those -ndividuals who were, he is posa-
tive, decidedly averqe to the measures thenenforced by the mnobs. Shortly
after the honourable the Speaker, Colonel McNab, was placed in cem-
mand, deponent was requested by lhim to go over iii company with Doctor
Beadle, of this place, ;and communicate with Mr. Garrow, the United
Sïates' Marshall, then in ßuffalo, to whom he Presented a, letter from
Colonel Mc Nab, the object of which was to ascertqiu whether the civil
authority could or would prevent the arming of and supplies for those
individuals with material. Mr. Garrow appeared desirous to counteract
and restrain those individuals, and so did many others; but he frankly
acknowledged to both Doctor Beadle and deponent, that they could not
be restrained by the civil authority then under his control, and he so
informed Governor Marcy, as well as the Secretary at War at the time;
this he also communicated to the honourable Archibald Mc Lean, who was
then in Washington, and Mr. Fox, our Chargé d'Affaires at that place.
During the night deponent was in Buffalo, the "Caroline" steamer was
cut out of the ice by a number of men who volunteered for the purpose,
as deponent was informed, for the express purpose of conveying material
to, and keeping up a communication between, Navy Island and Schlosser.
He gave information to Colonel Kirby, and recommended the boat being
eut out on passing down the river, and made a similar communication to
Colonel Mc Nab.

The master of the "Caroline" de that the b9at was intended to
ply between Buffalo apd Schlosser; at that time a railr9ad- was in opera-
tion between those points; and deponent does not1 beive, neither is it
reasonable to suppose, at that inclement seasqa, a steamer wopld be cyt
out of the ice fofr the sole purposMof competit ion with, this railroad. He
can only add that such an ides wa s nt entertaîitd tthe, 4me, as far ag
came under his observation, and even now is considered an absurdity by
those with whom lie has conversed on the subject. Deponent believes the
cutting out of this boat was. perfectly justifiableunder .the circumstances;
that it has produced a good effect, and was the same to berepiewed again,.
from the practical effects witnessed, he woi4ld again reconupend the ceptur
of the boat; further this deponent saith not,

(Signed) WILLIAM HAMILToN MERITT.
Sworn before me this 19th day

of April, 18à8. (Signed) GEORGE -RYKERT,
Justice of the Peace.

St. Katherine's, Upper Canada.

Sub-Inclosure 5 in No. 2.

Deposition of John Radenhurst.

Upper Canada.

BEFORE me, the honourable Robert Baldwin Sullivan, one of Her
Majesty's Executive Council, in the said province, on this 24th day of
November, 1838, at the Council Chamber in Toronto, personally came
and appeared, John Radenhurst, of the said city of Toronto, Esquire, who,
being duly sworn, deposeth and saith as follows ; that is to say,-l was
one of the volunteers on.the.Niagara frontier when Navy Island was occu-
pied by a hostile force from the State of New York; I waS acting as aid-.
de-camp to Colonel Me'Nab, and.was under his command on the 29th day
of December last. On the: morningof that day intelligence was receiveç
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in the camp at Chippewa, that the steam-boat "Caroline" had brought
from Schlosser to Navy Island a brass six-pounder field-piece with four
bay horses, and a quantity of warlike stores, for the use of the hostile
force on the island; I saw lier cross from the Ameriean shore to the
island; I saw her çross only once, but I was informed, and it was a matter
of notoriety, that she crossed twice to Navy Island -in the course of that
day, and she evideritly formed the principal .means of communication
between the occupants of Navy ,Island and the main land of the United
States. It was of the utinost consequence to prevent supplies of a-ms and
wpxlike stores from the,.ini laa with thom the enemy would be
enAbled tg erectstrong defences, which would make the capture.of the
island:a iatter of difficulty, and involve gremt loss of life. The current
of tbe Niagara Rver runing rapidly around the island, attack from.the
British side was therçby re4dered difficult and- dangerous; and communi-
caion is .aid of the enemy from the 4meriean shoro was also.impeded
considerably, unless by means-of ,a steam-e4sel, Without easy communi-
cation from, the main land to, the island, the place could not hold out, and
Must .have fallen without effusion of blodd 'on: either ,aide. For these
reasons, Colonel McNab thought: it right to order. that the," Caroline"
steam-boat should be !ct out and captured or destroyed, which.measure
could not be considered. a hostile movement against the: United States'
Government, there. beipg at the time no force on the part ôf that Govern.
ment in, hé neighbourhood to control or prevent the violation,-of peace
between the two countries, the frøntier: oppositec-to' Navy Island, being
virtually as much in possession of the enemy as the island:itself. The
attack on the steam-boat, therefore, would appear to me to-be as. much in
aid of the authority of the United States' Government--.then grossly
violated, and not maintaining itself within its own territory--as for the
service of Her Majesty.

Colonel Mc Nab çommanded Captain Drew, of the Royal Navy, to
cpt out the steam-boat,.and'I volinteored my services to accompany him.

Eight boats, with about fQrty-five.men, werprepared for the expedi-
tion, six:only of them, however, arrived,-the current running too heavily
for the remaining two boats. I wos inthe sami boat with Captain Drew;
The night ,was very dark, sQ that the approacho6f the bôats was not
observed; the boats in the:first place rQwed-round the island to the, side
nereîst the American shore. Captain Irew being; in hopes of finding:the
steamiboat.at the island but being disappointed in thia hope, the expiedi-
tion proceeded to Sèhlosser, where the boat Was discoIered. On approach-
ing withiný about twenty yards: of the; steam.boalt -the boats .were hailed:

Who comes there?" hi-was repeated sevenlitimes, no anawer what-
ever was made; the person .who hailed thexu called out loudly, "The
enemy are coming !'i upon which we.pulled'alongsidé and boarded in the.
after gangway, and the. other boat, commanded by Lieutenant Elnaley,
accompanied by Lieutenant'Mc Cqrmiekrin the. bow; ihen I -got Qa
board, I;ran immpediately forward, where afiring:had oommenced..: There
I met Lieutenant Mc Cormiek, who was severely wounded. with a hall
through his wrist, and eeveral buck shot in his arm and side; and I saw
a number of persons rushing from the boat to the wharf. I then returned
to the after-part of the boat, where Ifogand i the ladies' cabin a man,
whom I am informed was the captain of-the boat, and a boy ; they were
in a dreadful state of alarm, and begged for mercy ; I interfered to pre-
vent them being hurt, and offered to see them both safe ashore; I assured
them they should not be hurt. The captain, who was lying down in a
corner, rose and took my arnp, and I accomçpanied him to the wharf, and
saw him safe ashore; the boy refused to go ashore; he was terrified, and
I put him into our boat. A smart fire of small arms then commenced
from the shore; it was with great difficulty the chain which held the boat
could be got loose. We commenced to set fire to the vessel. I was with
Mr. John Harris, a master in the Royal Navy; in the end, we set fire to
the boat by means of a carcass and firé from the furnaces. I did not
observe any arme on board. I went. on the wharf, and saw the man
whom I believe to be the sentinel, lying about ,fifteen ,drtwenty yards
fronu the boat; hewas dead; andhis musket waàinhis .rms. The first.
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shot was fired from the boat about midships, just as we commenced
climbing the sides of the vessel; there were no shots fired from the after-
part of the steam-boat; the firing, which commenced from the shore,
came from the house, the only one, as far as I can recollect, in the place;
it is a tavern; there were about thirty shots fired from that place; the
boat was then taken out into the stream, Captain Drew ordering that no
damage whatever should be done to American property. I can positively
swear that there was no cry of "Damn them, give no quarter," or any
expression of that nature; the captain of the steam-boat could not have
heard any such cry or expression, as he was, as I have before stated,
lying in the corner of the ladies' cabin; he begged for mercy, offered no
resistance, and found no difficulty in going safe on shore, to which he
went, having hold of my arm. I only saw one man killed. I am satisfied
there were none killed on board the boat, and I am sure there was no
person, either dead or alive, on board the boat when she was fired. I
remained on board until the steam-boat was well on fire, and out in the
stream, the fire been [Qy. being]lit up both fore and aft, and the bulwarks
broken down, there was a clear view between decks and on deck, so that
I conceive it impossible that any person could have remained on, board,
except the attacking party, and when they abandoned her, there remained
no person in the steam-boat. There were but two houses or shantees on
Navy Island when it was occupied by the enemy; it was a place of no
resort, and there could be no possible occasion for taking passengers or
freight to that place, except for hostile purposes, and in aid of the enemy
after the invasion. Schlosser was also a place of little or no resort, and
the crowd, which filled the only house at it, and the steam-boat, when she
was taken, could have had no business at the place, unless in connexion
with the invaders at Navy Island; nor could there have been the armed
party assembled at the said house, and who fired upon our party, upon
the cutting out of the steam-boat, for any purpose but that of joining or
assisting the invaders at Navy Island. I have never heard it suggested
that the house was occupied by United States' troops, or any autlhorized
American force; and I conclude that it was not so occupied, from the fact,
that the most unreserved and open intercourse with the enemy existed
throughout the day of the 29th December, and for many days previous.
I have served in the British Army, with the rank of lieutenant in the 8th
regiment, during the late war; and I have been for twenty years in the
service of Government in the Surveyor-General's department of Upper
Canada; I am also Colonel of militia.

From all the circumstances which I observed on the 29th December,
and for some days previously, I considered Schlosser and its vicinity at
the disposal of the self-styled patriots; and the steam-boat "Carohne"
appeared to me to be actively engaged in their service; and I therefore
considered that the attack was made upon the enemies' vessel, and not
upon a vessel of the United States, and in a place in the possession of the
patriots, over which the authorities of the United States were at the time
virtually exercising no visible power or control.

(Signed) J. RADENBURST.
Sworn at the Executive Council

Chamber, this 24th day of No-
vember, before me, (Signed) R. B. SULLIVAN.

Sub-Inclosure 6 in No. 2.

Deposition of Lieutenant John Elmsley.

Upper Canada.

BEFORE me the Honourable Robert Baldwin Sullivan, one of Her
Majesty's Executive Council, at the Council Chamber in the city of Toronto,
personally came'and appeared the Honourable John Elmsley, a Lieutenant
in Her Majesty's Royal Navy on half-pay, and now Captain in Her Majesty's
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Provincial Marine in Upper Canada, who being duly sworn, deposeth
and saith as follows, that is to say, in compliance with the orders of Sir
Francis Bond Head, authorising Colonel Mc Nab to call upon navy officers
to assist in the reduction of Navy Island, I repaired to the Niagara
frontier on the 28th day of December last, and joined the volunteer force
under Colonel Mc Nab at Chippewa; when I arrived, I found Navy Island
in possession of a hostile force, said to have come from the neighbouring
American shore; during the whole of the 29th of December, I observed a
constant communication with Navy Island from Schlosser and the vicinity,
kept up by means of row-boats and sail-boats, with many men on board.
On my arrival, I learnt that the "Caroline " steam-boat was employed in
the service of the patriots, and that she was cut out of the ice at Buffalo
for that purpose; this news, I believe, came through William Hamilton
Merritt, Esquire, then at Buffalo; on the morning of the 29th of December
I saw the "Caroline " coming from Schlosser to Navy Island, she had
great numbers of men on board; she continued throughout the day cross-
ing the river to and from Navy Island, bringing to the island many men,
and apparently taking back but few; after it was dark, I observed the
sparks of fire from the pipe of the boat as she was crossing on the same
business. Navy Island, previously to the occupation of it by the invading
force, was inhabited only by a widow woman and her son. Schlosser
contains a tavern and a house or two, probably out-houses; it is not a
place of any resort, and the "Caroline " could not have been employed in
any ordinary or lawful business, and I was and am certain that she was
employed in carrying men and warlike stores from the American shore to
Navy Island, and in keeping up the communication between the invaders
on the island and their friends on the main-shore. About four o'clock in
the afternoon of the 29th of December, Commander Andrew Drew, of the
Royal Navy, told me that it was determined to make an attempt upon the
" Caroline" that night, and asked me to accompany him on the expedition,
to which I willingly assented; lie then directed me to prepare a boat's
crew, which I set about immediately; seven boats were prepared, with
nine men in each boat; and about midnight we left Chippewa under the
command of Captain Drew. Before setting out, Captain Drew explained
the object of the expedition, directed the boats to keep close together, to
make no noise, to be calm and steady, and by no means to hurt a single
individual who should not persist in offering resistance; he said our only
object was to destroy the boat; our expectation was, that the boat would
have been well guarded, as no one imagined that she could be considered
in any other light than as part of the armament of the enemy. Two boats
were detached to look for the steam-boat at Navy Island, we hove to for
them; I do not think they went by order; we pulled over to the American
shore above Schlosser, and were drifted down by the current, the stream
running at about three miles an hour; we drifted down until we were
hailed twice from the steam-boat; Captain Drew was in the foremost boat,
I was in the fourth; so soon as we were hailed, we made a dash for the
boat; I boarded at the bow; I saw several men who appeared to me to be
armed; the first report of fire-arms was from the after part of the vessel;
the people on board immediately ran away to the other side of the boat,
and went ashore; before we got on deck they had dispersed; I should
have fired on them, had it not been for Captain Drew's orders; they were
not, however, molested, and we got quiet possession of the forecastle;
there was no cry of " God damn them-give no quarter ;" there was not a
word uttered by any of our party; we went aft, and found Captain Drew
and his party in possession of the after-part of the boat; Mr. Mc Cormick
was wounded, also Captain Warren and Mr. Arnold; I set to work to
loose the boat, and cut off her moorings; she was very securely moored
with chains, and we found very great difficulty in casting off; before we
began to cast off, I stepped on shore, followed by my boat's crew, to pre-
vent a rally; I saw a man lying dead on the wharf; I returned on board,
I there saw a man who complained of being wounded, and who requested
to be put on shore, which request was complied with; I saw several others
put on shore peaceably; I can swear positively that there was no wanton
injury inflicted on any one; whoever was hurt it was in the first brush on

T
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boarding; 1 saw nu one that I knew; ur men were principally armed
with cutlases and boarding-pikes,-some few had pistols loaded with ball;
We had no buek-shot in the army ; Mr. Me Cormick was wounded with
buck-shot in several places, besides a ball which passed through his wrist;
it is well known that the Americans generally use buck-shot as well as
balls- *heâ the boat was cast off, which wAs done to preent injury to the
wharf and store she was set fire ta. I am quite certain that when the
boat w à abandoned, there was nô person on board, either dead or alive.
I saw several men sent by Captain Drew to search the vessel, lest any
person should happen tô remain on board; a boy and one or two men
were brought away in the boats. I ordered-the boy his breakfast the néxt
morning, and he was returned to his friends, who sent for him; this I
understood was the boy who was reported, on the American side, to have
been killed. The two boats for which we lay to did not arrive at the
steam-boat, but pulled back to Chippewa.

On the mnorning of the 29th of Ilecember, 1 went out before breakfast,
and walked towards the foot of Navy Island, about seven o'clock in the
morning bèfore sunrise. I saw a boat belonging to us which had been
despatched at four o'clock to row round the island, rounding the foot of the
island and pullin in the direction of Schlosser down the river; when she
got abreast 0f t chlosser, 1 saw distinctly two discharges of heavy
ordnance, from the main Amitan shore, at or near Schlosser. I was of
opiion that this was directed at the boat, and I looked for the shot but
did not see it fall; at this tine there was a heavy fire from Navy Island,
of round àhot, grape and canister; the water was in a foam fron the
shot all round the boat; i cannot say that the fire from the mainland was
directed at the boat, but it only continued while the boat was passing, a
man came over from the American side, who Ëtated, and to the best. iof
my recollection made affidavit, that he saw persons at Schlosser firing
artillery on that day. Trhere was no American regular or militia force at
Schlosser, the place was in possession of the Navy Islanders, and the
firing must hâve come frôm them; there were no guns mounted at Fort
Schlosser, or any station of troops there. I considered that in attacking
and destroying the "Caroline,' we were acting againt a vessel of
the etnemy, and in a place 'in the possession of the enemy, over which
the Anerican Government at the time were exercising no actual
authority.

Afterwards, about the 10th of January last, I was -in command of a
schooner intended to cover the landing of the troops on the Island ; I
went to sound the channel between Grand Island and Navy Iand;
I went with two unarmed boats on that service, on passing a militia
station on Grand Island, where the Ameeican flag was hoisted, we were
hailed by a party of three or four officers, and about twenty men, and
ordered to come on shore, which I refused repeatediy; seeing them
prepared to fire, I ordered the men to give way, upon which a tire was
opened by the whole party, only one shot struck the boat, which took
effect on the rudder head of the boat I was steering, but did no damage;
this I reported officially to Captain Drew, having desisted from the
service of sounding the channel, finding that I was exposed to a fire both
from Navy Island and the American shore at Grand Island, and this must
have caused the destruction of the whole party.

(Signed) J. ELSLEy,
Lieut. R. N., Capt. Provincial Marines.

Sworn before me, this 27th day of
No'vember, 1838. (Signed) R. B. SULLIvAN.
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Sub-Inclosure '7 in No. 2. jýd2

Deposition of Charles '. Finlayson.

Upper Canada.

BEFORE me the Honourable Robert Baldwin Sullivan, one of Her
Majesty's Executive Counrcil in and for the Province of Upper Canada
at the Council Chamber in the city of Toronto, personally came and
appeared Charles Studdart Finlayson, of the village of Grafton, in the
district of Newcastle and province aforesaid, Gentieman, who being duly
sworn, deeth and saith as follows :-On the breaking out of the rebel-
lion in December last, I joined the Haldimand Troop of Horse, and
marehed to Toronto, and after remaining in town for some days, I
obtained·leave to join the Coburg Rife Company on the Niagarát frontler,
and I proceeded to Niagara about the 14th of December; I joined the
company at Chippewa the next day. The day before I joinéd, people
were seen from our shore on Navy Island, there were very few there to be
seen, but in the course of a few days they increased very much; betweën
that time and the 29th of the same month, when the "Caroline" was
destroyed, I saw boats frequently crossing from Schlosser and its vicinity,
generally full of men. On the day after the enemy were first seen, I and
another of the volunteers named Lundy, offered to cross to Grand Island,
on the American side, for information, and we accordingly crossed in a
small boat, and inquired of several persons on Grand Island, of the
numbers and strength of the body upon Navy Island; they told us that
there were about sixty men there, and that they were armed, and they
advised us to return, as it would be unsafe, were we to fall within the
power of the people on Navy Island; we returned and communicated our
mformation to Colonel Ham; some. days afterwards, volunteers from
different places came to Chippewa, and Colonel Me Nab arrived at the
head of a large body of men from the District of Gore; we heard many
reports of the increase of men on Navy Island, and we could see them
constructing batteries and works on the island. -On the morning of the
29th of Pecember, the news came that the "Caroline" was employed by.
the patriots, and 1 saw her cross from Schlosser to the eastern éhore of
the island. On the evening of the 29th, about six.o'clock, Major Warren
told me that he wished for volunteers to go upon particular service during
the night; I offeredmy.eeiices; about ten o'clock the volunteers for this
service assembled to 'the number of forty or fifty men,; we were armed
with cavalry sabres, some with cutlasses, we were ordered not to take
pistols; none of them in my boat had pistols or fire.arms.to my knowledge.;
We pulled out from Chippewa about eleven o'clock; we pulled up along
shore for a time so as to get the current in our favour, and then struck
across towards: the foot of Navy Island, and from thence to Schlosser; we
approached the American shore some distance above the wharf where
the " Caroline"was lying, and dropped down upon her; in coming near
the boat a person on board of her challenged:-" Who comes there," this
was repeated; I camot say whether there was an anwser from other boats,
but we made none; we then approached the boat, and just before the
boats reached her a shot was fired froma the after part of the 4GCaroline,"
which I took to be fired by the sentry who had atllenged, and Captain
Elmsley, in command of our boat, boarded at the bow; there were many
persons on the forecastle, and they got over the side as fast as they could
to the wharf. I heard several of our people say, " Do not moleat themn;" we
did not go with the intention of taking prisoners, or destroying- the crew,
and therefore no one was hindered from leaving the boat; there was some
noise and aparent resistance in the after part of the boat, but they made
no stand w4itever at the bow ; there was heard at this time an order for
Mr. Elmsley's beat's crew to guard the wharf, and we went ashore; on
the wharf we saw a mani lying whom we supposed to be dead ; he was
lying on some 1oe boards on the wharf; while our party ta the number
of four er five remained on the wharf, the party an board commenced
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setting fire to the vessel; after being on the wharf for a few moments, a
discharge of fire-arms took place from the shore at the distance of about

forty yards, as well as I could judge; the fire took place almost in a vol-

ley. 1 thought the fire was opened by the retreating crew who had rallied,
but I am not sure; when the boat was fired we went on board, and she
was swung off into the stream; I saw no person killed, but the one man
on the wharf; when the boat was abandoned there was plenty of light
from the fire.; I saw no one on board; one or two persons, one of them a

boy were, as I understood, brought away in the boats; I did not go into
the after part of the boat myself, except along the side next the American
shore, and I cannot speak particularly as to what took place there ; there

was plenty of time to have seen if any person remained on board, as it
took a considerable time after the boat was cleared of the crew to set her
on fire, and cast her off, and tow her out into the stream, during which

time, several of our people remained on board; I heard no one call for
assistance, and I saw not the least appearance of any person on board
but our own party, although we remained close to the steamer until the
last moment, when she was finally abandoned.

(Signed) CHIARLEs S. FINLAYSON.
Sworn before me, this 27th day of

November, 1838. (Signed) R. B. SULLIVAN.

Sub-Inclosure 8 in No 2.

Deposition of Lieutenant Mc Cormick.

Upper Canada.

BEFORE me the Honourable Robert Baldwin Sullivan, one of Her
Majesty's Executive Council of the said Province on the 11th day of
December, in the year of our Lord, one thousand eight hundred and
thirty-eight, at the Council Chamber in the city of Toronto, personally
came and appeared Shepherd Mc Cormick, of the township of London
and Province aforesaid, Esq., Lieutenant on half-pay, in Her Majesty's
Royal Navy, who being duly sworn, deposeth and saith as follows, that
is to say; on or about the 20th December last, I received a message from
Colonel Mc Nab, requesting my presence at Chippewa; I was then living
in the township of Adelaide. I repaired to Chippewa, and placed myself
under the orders of Captain Drew, Royal Navy, and he set me to work to
prepare a scow, so as to carry a 24-lb gun; I arrived at Chippewa, about the
22nd of December. Navy Island then was in possession of tle invading force
from the United States; Ihad not much opportunity of judging what was the
force of the enemy. I observed a large boat passing frequently from the
American shore at Schlosser to the island; each time she left the American
shore she appeared to be full of men going to the island; I could not see that
she was in any way impeded or prevented from transporting these men on
the American side; the people on the island were continually firing
cannon shot, so that they must have had cannon and ammunition from the
American shore as well as men. I continued employed in fitting up the
scow until the morning of the 28th of December, when Captain Drew
went out in an eight-oared galley to reconnoitre the island. I followed in
a boat with four oars; the people on the island fired a great number of
cannon shot and musketry at us, but without effect, though some of the
musket balls struck the boat I was in. I observed on this occasion at
least 100 men dragging the guns round to fire at us; I saw the "Caro-
line" steamer on the morning of the 29th, about eleven o'clock; she was
then crowded with men crossing from Schlosser to Navy Island; I did
not see her cross again; I was particularly engaged in fitting out the
scow; but it was plain that the "Caroline" was engaged in transporting
men and warlike stores to the island. About eight o'clock in the after-
noon I was sent for by Captain Drew; he asked me if I would go with him,
,and in my answering in the affirmative, he directed me to man six boats,
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which I accordingly did, and placed eight men on board each; before the
boats shoved off the men were armed; and ten o'clock we shoved off, and
were informed of our destination; we pulled out into the stream and
crossed to Schlosser, until we came a short distance above the "Caroline,"
and then dropped down the current upon her; at about the distance of
thirty yards we were hailed from the 11Caroline" by a sentry, "Who comes
there?" the first time there was no answer, the challenge was repeated,
when Captain Drew answered "friend;" the sentinel then demanded the
countersign; Captain Drew said, "You shall have it when we get on
board." The sentry then fired at us, and cried out "Here are the enemy ;"
we then dashed alongside as fast as we could and boarded; by the time
we were climbing to the deck there were about thirty men upon the deck;
I could see them rushing up from the cabin, and could see the glittering
of arms. I boarded at the gangway; Captain Drew boarded nearly at
the same place; just as I got before the engine, a man, tall and stout,
whose head was a little bald, together with two others, rushed on me
with swords ; the large man said, ''Damn you," made a cut at me, which I
guarded with my cutlass; he then drew a pistol from his belt and fired at
me at about two yards distance; three balls went through my wrist, one
through my arm, and another struck me in the chest, and I at the same
time received a sabre eut from one of the other men upon the loin. I
staggered back about a yard before I recovered myself, and then made a
eut at the principal assailant, which took effect on his head andstretched
him on the deck, the others then ran off; I pursued the others who
were making off, when in making a stroke at one of them whom I cut at,
my foot struck against a ring-bolt, and I fell upon deck, where I lay,
unable after a short time to rise from loss of blood; I did not lose my
senses altogether, but I have very little recollection of what took place
until I heard Captain Drew call for three cheers, in two of which I
joined, but I was unable to raise the third; I was lifted up and placed in
one of the small boats and was taken to Chippewa; what passed in the
mean time I have little or no recollection of, as I was laying wounded and
faint in the bottom of a boat.

When we boarded the "Caroline," there was a flag flying at the
stern with two or three white stars; the flag was red which t could see
by the light of the boat when she was set fire to; the flag was about
three feet long, and, to the best of my recollection, it had a white border.

I am distinctly and decidedly certain that the "Caroline" was armed
when I boarded her; I heard distinctly the challenge of the sentry, and I
saw and heard him fire; I also met armed resistance on board from three
armed men, and I saw others, I may say, many others, armed on board,
before our people boarded; I can positively swear that there was no cry
on boarding from our party, of "Give no quarter ;" our orders were to
destroy the "Caroline," but to spare life and do no damage to American
property; and I am certain that any assertions of ferocious conduct, or
language, on our part, on the occasion of the destruction of the steam-
boat, are utterly false and untrue.

(Signed) SHEPHERD Mc CORMIcK.
Sworn at the Council Chamber

before me, (Signed) R. B. SULLIVAN.

Sub-Inclosure 9 in No. 2.

Deposition of Peregrine Warren.

Upper Canada,

BEFORE the Honourable Executive Council of the said Province at
the Council Chamber, in the city of Toronto, on the 13th day of December,
in the year of our Lord, 1838, personally came and appeared, Peregrine
Warren, of the township of Haldimand, in the district of Newcastle, Esq.,
late a captain in Her Majesty's 66th Regiment of Infantry, who being
duly sworn, deposeth and saith as follows:-.-In the month of December
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last I proceeded with a company of militia under my command from
Toronto to Niagara, and from thence to Waterloo in the district of
Niagara, where we were stationed; we were there about a week before we
heard of the occupation of Navy Island by an invading force from the
United States. On hearing that Navy Island was in the possessioù of the
enemy we were ordered to Chippewa. For several days before the des-
truction of the "Caroline" steam-boat I observed boats crossing from the
American shore to the island. Three or fôur days before the atto'ck upon
the steam-boat I crossed tô Buffàlo. I went into two iron-foündties,
where I was told that cannon-ballÉ were casting for the patriots oni the
island ;:in one of the foundriés I saw a large quantity of six-poùuld shot
alîeàdy cast ; in another fouridry I saw the people at work, casting six-
pound and grape and canister shot; I asked what they were intended
or, and Ifwas told they were playthings for thé people on 'Navy Island;
a person oftered to accompany me to Navy Island, 'and to introduce me
to General Van Rensselaer of the patriot aImy ; but I did nôt go, in con-
sequence of my hearing that ipy intention was discovered, and that I
should probab1 be detained; iambers of peoplé were continually going
down to Navy island; those proceedings were quite open and undisguised
about the 13th or 14th of the samé month of December-1 had cr-ossed to
Buffalo, this was immediately after a great- meeting had been held in
favour of the patriotâ at the Buffalo Theatre. I went into the Eagle
Tavern, and there I saw a number of armed men, who were cônyersing
openly upon the subject of crossing that night to Waterloo; and when I
left the town about eight or nine oclock in the evening, the drums were
beating in the streets for recruits ; and I learned that the intention was to
march thé volunteers to the theatre, aid from thence to Black Roëk, from
which place they were to cross to the Canada side. I-did not1learn by
what means they intended to cross. I' aw no interference oh either
occasiorn oftiny being in Buffalo on the part of the civil or mîlitary autho
rities of the United States with the proceedings of the pat'riots. I
crossed over to the British side, and about eleven o'clock I heard the driims
of the party beating on the march fron Buffalo te Black Rock; 1:lea.rned
afterwards t'hat the force only amounted to 150 men, and- theéraid not
cross the river; on' the mor'ing of thé day on which the ' Caoli'ne''was
burned; I saw her crossing from Schlosser on the Ametican side' to eavy
Island. I of course thoùght she was nDot goingthere for any good purpose.
The buildings at Schlosser consist of a store-house, a wharf, and a tavern
a little way from the water'; it was not at tha't time of the year a placé of
any resort. Navy Island is immediately abovë the falls of Niagara, and
is not a place of resort for mercantile or other peaceable Purposes vhich
would require a steam-boat to ply between it: and the Americi shore.
On the 29th of December, at dinner, I first heard of the ·intention to cùt
out the leCaroline." 'I and every one else .considered the "Cuoline" to
be an enemy's vessel, transporting men and warlike' stoé from the
American shore. A1 onsidered that, situated as Navy Islahd was in the
midst of the current of the Niagara RiVer and near to the Falls of
Niagara, that it was ô the utráôst onsequence to prevent reinforcements
from the American shore, and supplies of arms and ordnance, Which
would make it difficult and dangerous to attack the island ; and I there-
fore readily concurred in the project of destroying her. I thought at the
time that she would probábly be ïnoored àt Navy Island. I went to
Captain Drew and Lieutenant Mc Cormick, and offered to supply them
with as many volunteers for the service as they wanted; they told me to
furnish them at a certain hour, I think about ten or eleven o'clock at
night; about eleven o'clock I took down about fifteen men, out of which
I found that only five or six awere wanted ; the men were armed with
cavalry sabres, and boarding-pikes, which were on board the boats.
I cannot say whether they had pistols or not. We pulled out opposite to
the lower point of Navy Island, and across the river for Schlosser, where
Captain Drew informed us that the steam-boat was lying. We got to the
American side, and dropped down with the current upon the steam-boat.
Captain Drew was in one boat, Lieutenant Mc Cormick in another, in
which I was, and Mr. Elmsley in another ; when we came within about one
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hundred yards of the steam-boat, we were challenged, "Who comes'
there ?' this was repeated quickly, I think three times, before an answer
was made; when Captain Drew answered, "Friend ;" then the challenge
said, "Giv' the countersign," to which Captain Drew made answer, "I
will when I giet on board-" Captain Drew then said, "Give way," sad our
boat boarded at the starboard quarter ; a-shot was fired from nar the
ladies' eabin. When I got on board I crossed the vessel, and on the side
next the shore I went tqwards the head, and I met a man with a sword in
lis hand ; I aught his wrist and held'up his arm to see if'he'had the red

d'e on it which we wore'; the light "of the embers under the bòileri gave
dutficient light to see whether he had. the badge or not.• I askedwhethi
he'as a Mc Kenzie man; he released his hand and attacked -me; he
wouûded me on the arm ; in the mean tine another pan came behind
him"' and fired at fie ; the baIl passéd through my trowsers' Pocket,
woinding me'slightly on the hip ; the two men ran aft and· crosed the
vessel to the shore. I then stationed myself in the gangway near the
wharf to prevent the recapture of the boat. While I was 'there some shots
were fired from the house; or near it. The bôat was then got loose ànd set
fire to. I was the last person who left the boat. During the scuffie I saw
4 man descend the ladder, and I was told afterwards :that his waistcoat
was torn, as if with a sword. I afterwards saw a man on deck, who I
believe to be the same person, and he was permitted to go on shore.
When I left the boat I sa* no person on board, either dead or alive; and
I walked along the deck from one end of the boat to the other; the boat
was set fife tg three times in the ladies' cabin and the fire went out, and
it tooli some time to loose the boat ; there was full opportunities for any
one on board to come out. On boarding the boat there was no cry of
"Give no quarter," or of that nature; our orders were to take the boat,
and, if we could, to bring her across the river; and if not, to set fire to
her. I neither saW or heard any person either dead or alive on board
the boat when she was abandoned.

À person"named Hardy afterwards came over to Chippewa, And he
had a scar across his head, which he said he had received on board the
" Caroline" when she was taken ; he said the steam-boat was chartered
fpr the patriot service, and that the patriots had given security to the
owners i» .ase she should be destroyed; lþe mentioned the name of a man
who was killed, and said, that his brother had sworn vengeance against
the perpetratQrs of the 4eed; I do not remember the name.

(Signed) P. WARREN.
Sworn beforethe Council.'

(Signed) -W ILLIAX i. LEZ.
Acting Clerk, Executive Council.

Sub-Inclosure 1.0 in NQ. 2.

Deposition of Commander A. Drew.

Upper Canada.

BEFORE me, the Honourable Robert Baldwin Sullivan, one of Her
Majesty's Executive Counkcil for the said province, on the 15th day of
December, 1838, at the city of Toronto, personally came and appeared,
Andrew Drew, of Woodstock, in the district of London and province
aforesaid, Esq., Commander in Her Majesty's Royal Navy, who, being
duly sworn, deposeth and saith as follows: that is to say, on or about the
12th day of Deceinber, 1837, in consequence of reports of a rebellion in the
neighbourhood of Toronto, I left home to offer my services to the
Government. I travelled all night; and the next morning I met Colonel
Mc Nab at Ancaster advancing with 400 or 500 men. He told me he was
going»to Oakland to put down a body of rebels who had assembled under
Doctor Duncomb. I volunteered to go with him; I went with him
throùgh the London district; wihen we got as far as Oxford, after having.
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dispersed the rebels, intelligence was received of Mc Kenzie having, with
the assistance of men from the United States' territory, occupied Navy
Island in the Niagara River, just above the Falls of Niagara. Colonel
Mc Nab resolved to march eastward, and he went to Toronto for orders.
I proceeded to Chippewa opposite to Navy Island with an Aid-de-Camp,
to await his arrival, and to make arrangements ; on my arrival at
Chippewa I saw Colonel Cameron commanding on the frontier, and I
understood from him that Navy Island was occupied, and that he was
momentarily expecting an attack from Navy Island. The next day
Colonel Mc Nab arrived with a body of militia at Chippewa, and assumed
the command. It was immediately determined that Navy Island should
be attacked; and I was employed in preparing boats to take the men
across for that purpose. I observed an uninterrupted communication
kept up from Schlosser on the American shore with Navy Island by means
of boats and two large scows, which I supposed, and now believe, were
occupied in bringing men, arms, warlike stores, and provisions from the
American shore to Navy Island. This lasted about three days; and on
the fourth day, in the morning, I first saw the "Caroline." This was on
the 29th of December. About ten o'clock in the morning it was reported,
that the steam-boat "Caroline" was coming down the river from Buffalo
to the assistance of the invaders employed by Mc Kenzie. About noon I
saw her make a trip from Schlosser to Navy Island; about four in the
afternoon I saw her cross with a cannon on her deck, which I saw
through a telescope, when I was observing her in company with Mr.
Harris. I immediatety reported the fact to Colonel Mc Nab, that I had
seen the boat with a gun and men on board coming to the island. Colonel
Mc Nab then asked me, would it not be possible to eut her out ? I said
that there was nothing easier, but that if he wanted it done he had better
say nothing about it; his answer to me was, "Well then go and do it."
I then went about to beat up for volunteers to go on an expedition,
without explaining what the expedition was. I got seven boats prepared
and armed the crews with sabres, which were removed from a company
of dragoons; I gave orders that no fire-arms should be taken on any
pretence; and I gave as a reason that the night was likely to be dark,
and that if the men had fire-arms they were as likely to shoot their friends
as their enemies. I said I would trust to my own sword, and I wished
the others to do so; and if any fire-arms were taken it was without my
knowledge. I ordered the officers whom I selected for the expedition to
have the boats ready, and the men assembled by ten o'clock; a little
after ten I went down to the beach, and found the boats loaded with men;
I ordered every man out of the boats, with the exception of eight men
and one officer to each boat; there were seven boats; and my rejection
of the supernumary volunteers caused a good deal of grumbling amongst
them who were desirous to join in the expedition; but I was obliged to
keep the boats light as we had to contend with a strong current within one
mile above the Falls of Niagara. Colonel Mc Nab hadpreviously ordered
me to trace the vessel, and the last I had seen of her was between Navy
Island and Grand Island; and when night closed, I did not know whether she
was at Navy Island or at Schlosser. For the purpose of discovering where
she was we pulled closer to Navy Island than we otherwise would have had
occasion to do; but on pulling round the foot of Navy Island, and seeing
nothing of her, we pulled for Schlosser. We started from Chippewa
about half past ten, and we arrived at Schlosser about half-past eleven, or
thereabouts. We then discovered the lights in the cabin windows, and
we also found a narrow neck of land between us and the steam-boat. We
then discovered that only five of the boats had come up. The new moon
was shining, and we lay upon our oars for half an hour, until the night
became somewhat darker, and then we pulled a little down the stream,
put the boats in a fair way, and dropped down upon our oars; in about a
quarter of an hour, we fell down upon the steam-boat, my boat being
ahead, the others following in line. It had been previously ordered that I
should board on the starboard gangway, the second boat on the starboard
bow, and the others according to their stations; when my boat came
within about twenty yards, we were hailed from the steam-boat three



times, "Boat a hoy, boat a hoy! who comes there ?" An answer was
made from the bow of my boat," A friend!" upon which the person hailing
from the boat said, "Give us the countersign ;" upon which I said, "I will
give you the countersign when we get on board." I boarded on the star-
board gangway, and found five men waiting to receive me; these men did
not appear to be armed; and on reaching the deck, I said, "Now my
lads, I want this vessel-go ashore," and I swept them off with the broad
side of my cutlass ; three of them went ashore over the larboard gang-
way, and on their going more slowly than I wished, I hastened them by
prodding them with my cutlass behind; three of them went ashore, but
two slunk behind the ladies' cabin and the bulwark; immediately after-
wards, one of them fired a musket in my face; the ball passed close to my
nose, over the starboard gangway; I1immediately cut the man down with
my cutlass, and I thought I killed him, but I find from his own statement
now shown to me that lie is alive. In an instant afterwards, a man
attempted to fire a pistol at me, but it flashed in the pan; I cut him over
the right arm, and turned him ashore; just at that time, I heard some
shots in the fore part of the vessel, I then went forward and found that
she was in our possession, and I gave orders for every one to sheath their
swords; I then gave orders to cast off the vessel head and stern, and I sent
Messrs. Radenhurst, Le Penetiere, and Drummond, down to see that there
was no person on board. I at the same time gave orders for firing the
vessel fore and aft; just as the fire was lighted, several shots were fired
from the shore, as I judged, from the tavern. At this time we had cast
her off; we had much difficulty; we had to get a light down to see how
she was moored; we cast lier off, because we wished not to burn the
wharf or the buildings. I then ordered every man into the boats, and I
remained on board. Just then a man came up the fore hatchway ; I
asked him if there was any one else below, and he answered no; upon
which we pulled the boat into the stream, and giving three cheers, we let
lier go. Before this, Mr. Drummond brought up a man out of the cabin,
and on his coming upon deck, I said, "We do not want prisoners, we only
want the boat, let him go," and he was accordingly put on shore, just
before shoving off. I learned that a man, who was shot in the head in the
cabin, was still alive, and thinking that lie might by some possibility sur-
vive, I ordered him to be put on shore. I did believe that the man whom
I first struck at was killed, but I now think, from seeing the affidavit of a
person answering the description, that lie escaped with a wound on the
head; and I now do not think that, with the exception of the man shot in
the head in the cabin, any life was lost in the taking the "Caroline." I
am certain that there was no person, either dead or alive, on board the
boat when she was abandoned; I took the greatest pains to ascertain
this point, and the fullest opportunity was afforded, besides, for any person
who might by possibility have escaped the search to come upon deck;
there could not, in fact, from the precautions I took, have been any per-
sons remaining on board, and I am convinced there were none such. We
then pulled over to the Canadian shore; the "Caroline," to my surprise,
instead of going over the American falls, came out into the stream, and
went down the main stream at the British falls. Lights were, as was
previously arranged, lit up on the Canada shore, and we pulled for them,
and returned in safety.

After shoving off, I found a boy in one of the boats, who had been on
board the "lCaroline," and also a man from Dumfries, in Upper Canada.
I gave the boy a bed in my quarters that night, and the next morning I
gave him half a dollar to pay his way across the river, and shortly after
the United States' Marshal came to claim him. I can positively say, that
there was no cry of "Give no quarter," or any exclamation of the kind;
our sole object was to obtain possession of the boat, and nothing was
done for any other purpose. In addition, I have only to say, that Navy
Island is not a place of any resort or trade; it had no population; it was
not a place to which the " Caroline" steam-boat could have had any legi-
timate or merely contraband business. I am certain that the "Caroline"
was in the service of the invaders; there was no trade at the time of the
year in which she could have been employed on the river, and it was im-
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possible she could have had any business at Navy Island, unless in the
brigand service. As a naval officer, I am of opinion, that it was of con.
sequence, particularly as we had not the slightest hope of American
Government interference, to cut off the supplies of men, provisions, ord-
pance, arms, and ammunition, which the steam-boat "Caroline" was
supplying, and which might in a short time have made Navy Island a
post which could not have been attacked without great danger and diffi
culty; and I am certain that the destruction of that boat caused the
evacuation of Navy Island without bloodshed, and saved many lives, both
American and British, which would otherwise have been lost in an attack
and defence of the post. The only reason why the "Caroline" was
destroyed, was simply this :-she was engaged in the service of the
invaders, without the slightest control or attempt of prevention on the
part of the American Government; and as that Government either could
not, or would not, prevent her employment, hostile as it was to Her
Majesty's rights and territory, we were not disposed to permit, and would
not, her uncontrolled employment in a service in which she might cause
the loss of many lives, and made the retaking of Navy Island a doubtful
and difficult matter.

(Signed) ANDREw DREW,
Sworn before me, Commander Royal Navy.

(Signed) R. B. SULLivAN.

Inclosure 2 in No. 2.

Deposition of Samuel Wood, Citizen of the United States.

Upper Canada.

BE it remembered, that on the 13th day of April, in the year of our
Lord 1839, at the city of Toronto, personally came and appeared before
me, the honourable Robert Baldwin Sullivan, one of Her Majesty's Execu-
tive Council in and for the said province, Samuel Wood, a prisoner in
custody in this district, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelist,
deposeth and saith as follows, that is to say, I was born in the city ofNew
York; I am now forty-four years of age; I lived in New York until a little
better than three years ago; my trade was that of a shipwright. About
sixteen years ago I bought 120 acres of land in the town of Huchimer, in
the State of New York, about twenty miles north of Utica; I got it in the
way of trade; it cost me about two dollars per acre, though the land was
not at the time worth so much. This farm is worth to me at least sixteen
dollars per acre. I could not content myself in a farm, so I again went
to shipwrighting on Lake Erie. I removed from New York to my farm,
which, from the time I purchased it, was continually increasing in value,
in the year 1835. In the year 1836, I went to Lake Erie to resume my
old trade of a shipwright. In the first place I went to Buffalo, where I
remained until the winter of the year 1837. I was there employed at
shipwright's work on some scows for the State of New York on the Erie
Canal. The first I heard of any disturbances in Upper Canada, was from
William Lyon Mc Kenzie. I saw him and Sutherland on the 10th of
December, on the stage at the Buffalo Theatre, between seven and eight
in the evening. They both made long speeches there, representing that
Canada was so oppressed, that it was impossible to live under the Govern-
ment; that the Canadians were all ready for revolt, and that it was only
necessary that a force from the United States should show itself, to cause
a general rising of the people of Upper Canada.

At this time I was employed as a shipwright, at work upon some
scows belonging to the State of New York, in the canal. Mc Kenzie and
Sutherland came to Tonnawanta, and explained what they calculated to
do in the Canadian expedition. I engaged in the patriot service at
ronnawanta, and intended to come over if everything should prove as
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Mc Kenzie had stated, and to assist in promoting a change in. the Govern-
ment. We calculated that we could not assemble in large numbers within
the American territory, without risking the neutrality of the United
States; and the plan was therefore laid to occupy some position within
the British lines. I joined the patriots on the 10th of December.
Me Kenzie and Sutherland had, to my knowledge, at that time, only
tWenty-seven followers, of whom I was the first to join them. I held no
t'ank, but was promised great advantages in rmy trade of shipwright, when
Canada should be conquered. We went from Tonnawanta to Black Rock,
4i the night of the lth, between eleven and twelve o'clock. On the
morning of the 12th, we went to a store at Black Rock, here we found 400
stand of arms, muskets, bayonets, and accoutrements: they bore the
Springfield mark. There is a large manufactory at Springfield, where
arms are made for the United States' Government. The arms were, I
trderstood, brought there in the night; but I never learired where they
came from, or by whom they were placed there. At the first formation of
the patriots, there were no oaths administered, but many of the proceed-
ings were kept secret from the privates; and the officers alone were
entrusted with them. Sutherland entered the store, and brought out a
flag, on which was inscribed the word "Liberty" and two stars, to desig-
nate the Upper and Lower Province. He went down on a wharf, and
waved the flag. A number of people assembled on the Canada shore to
see us march. I suppose they suspected all was not right. We then went
to the store where the arms were. The United States' Marshal interfered,
and seized the arms that were on the shelves; but while he was taking
them out at the front door, Sutherland was taking them out at the back
door, and hiding them away. The closets up stairs were full of arms, but
the Marshal satisfied himself with looking in at the door of the room, and
did not examine the closets. I think there were about 400 stand of arms
ini the store altogether. The Marshal got about half, and the patriots
half. The Marshal tôok what he had seized to Buffalo; we took what
we saved to a yellow barn about a mile off; there was no resistance made
to the Marshal, he might have taken them all. I thought it was a con-
trived plan, although I am unable to say so from my own knowledge.
On the night of the 12th, we started between eleven and twelve o'clock to
Buffalo. There was a brass six-pounder in the barn, which I was informed
came from Buffalo. It belonged to a corps of militia artillery. I do not
know how it was procured. There were about twenty-seven of us, and
we took a musket and accoutrements each. We dragged the gun along.
About half-way to Buffalo we met another six-pound brass gun with
horses. We then proceeded to Buffalo; we went down Commercial-street,
and went on board a schooner in the harbour. There was no wind, and
the schooner was frozen in. I do not know where it was their intention
to go that night. We returned, by General Sutherland's orders, the
same night to Black Rock, taking our guns with us. We stayed there
till daylight, and then went to Tonnawanta, not taking the guns with us.
The cannon were hidden in a barn between Tonnawanta and Black Rock,
and the small arms were returned into the yellow barn. We remained at
Tonnawanta quiet until the 15th December; we went to view/Navy Island;
we went on Grand Island, from whence we had a close view f Navy Island;
and on seeing it, we resolved to occupy it. General Sutherland gave
orders to every man to meet at Roger's Hotel, at Tonnawanta, at ten
o'clock that night. We met accordingly, Mc Kenzie, Sutherland, and Van
Rensselaer being all there. We there found a scow with the small arms
and two cannon in her. We crossed to Grand Island, where stopped and
got our supper. We then crossed in the scow to Navy Island. We got
on the island just as the day broke, on the 16th December. We went to a
house in which there was a widow woman and her two daughters. The
General told her there was no use in resistance; and promised, that any
damage done to her property should be made good. We put the arms
into the house, and went to the upper end of the island, to prepare it for
the reception of men. We remained undiscovered until Sunday morning,
the 17th December, when a boat from the British side approached the
lower end of the island, and was hailed by the sentry, who stated after-
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wards that he heard one of the men in the boat exclaim, "There, I toId
you they were on the island; see their flag !"

The sentry called to arms, and he fired one of the cannon at her. We
got into three skiffs and pursued the boat, but she outrowed us. When
we opened the Canada shore, we saw the force stationed there, run a piece
of cannon down to the beach, upon which we returned under shelter of the
island; two more men joined us on the 17th. We remained during the
week, and each day we were joined by people from the mainland. On the
19th or 20th, McKenzie drew out a proclamation to encourage the people
to come on. Mc Kenzie and Sutherland told us, that an army of 1000
men were prepared to join us, near Fort Schlosser, but were merely wait-
ing till we should prepare to receive them. By the latter end of the week,
our force amounted to about sixty men. We observed, that on the British
side they were making breast-works, and that a number of men had
assembled there. I knew that if we were attacked, we could make no
effectual resistance, so I hid a boat under the bank, intending to make my
escape the first opportunity. After the proclamation issued, the recruits
began to join more rapidly.

In the latter part of the week, General Sutherland sent for two barges
to Buffalo, to ply between the island and Schlosser: they arrived on Satur-
day; they plied regularly, bringing men and arms from Schlosser. When
it was found that recruits were joining so fast, and the weather being
rough, the General concluded to have a small steam-boat to ply between
the two places. He wrote to Captain Appleby to procure a steam-boat,
which was done immediately. I am not able to say whether or not the
boat was bought by the patriots, but I know that if not, she was char-
tered; she was in the complete control of the patriots. This was the
steam-boat "Caroline," which was afterwards destroyed. Captain Ap-
pleby was in command of her.

The boat arrived between ten and eleven o'clock on the morning of
the 28th of December. General Sutherland and McKenzie went on board,
and consulted with Captain Appleby. I was present, and I heard them
say, "Now we can bring our men across without difficulty, let the weather
be fair or foul." The boat brought over some men the first trip.

I heard that the "Caroline" was procured for the patriot service
three days before she arrived. I went to Buffalo on leave of absence, and
returned in the "Caroline" to the island. The boat was lying in the
canal at Buffalo, but was cut out of the ice, at which operation I helped;
there were arms on board when she went down, but I did not see them
taken on shore. There was no disguise about her coming to the island.
She had been expected some days.

The General Van Rensselaer's head-quarters were close to the water,
and he and McKenzie conversed with Captain Appleby each trip. When
he arrived at the island with the second trip, I heard Generai Van Rens-
selaer give orders to Captain Appleby not to remain at the main land at
night, but to bring the boat to the isiand ; he said that the British might
be reconnoitering, and if they caught the boat they would destroy her.
Captain Appleby replied, that his boilers leaked and he would have to go
to Tonnawanta that night to have them repaired, and that he would return
the next morning. General Van Rensselaer then warned Captain Appleby
to take great care of the boat, for she was in danger of being destroyed by
the British. The boat left the island and returned to Schlosser between
three and four o'clock; I never heard the reason why she remained at
Schlosser, as it was expected that she would have directly proceeded to
Tonnawanta.

The second trip, the "Caroline " brought over twelve or fourteen
recruits, and a quantity of small arms: she also towed over a scow with
two pieces of cannon in her.

The force on the island at this time amounted to about 250 men;, they
had about twelve pieces of cannon mounted along the shore, at the upper
and lower end as well as at the west side; two of then had no carriages:
I was told that they were brought from Rochester, Lewiston, Niagara,
Buffalo, and various parts of the country. A militia regiment was sta-
tioned on Grand Island, and guards were placed along the shore, but they
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did not prevent the arms, recruits, and supplies from coming to the island.
The cannon were brought over generally in broad daylight and without
any disguise. On the night of the 28th of December, I was sleeping at
the head-quarters, in the same room with General Van Rensselaer and
Mc Kenzie; between eleven and twelve at night I was awoke by a dis-
charge of small arms at Schlosser, and Mc Kenzie and Van Rensselaer
also started up, and we went out of doors ; presently we saw a light,
where the steam-boat was towing out amongst the bushes, from a creek
where she was moored, and presently we saw her in a blaze, and going
down the stream, upon which Van Rensselaer exclaimed, "That's the
' Caroline'-that's the consequence of not obeying orders," (alluding to his
order that she should be moored at the island,) "but it will be the dearest
undertaking ever they undertook,-I will have another boat before long.
Appleby owns ten thousand dollars in the 'Constitution' steam-boat, and
we will have her immediately."

Mc Kenzie and Van Rensselaer had quarrelled before this time about
money-matters, and were not on good terms. When Mc Kenzie saw the
" Caroline" burning, he said, it was the "best thing could happen the
patriots." We saw the blazing boat go down the river, but from the
place where we stood we could not see her approach the Falls. About
two hours before day a man was despatched to Schlosser for intelligence,
and at daylight he returned ; he brought back news that it was in fact the
" Caroline," and that he heard there were some persons on board when she
went down the river.

A man who was in the habit of rowing in the barges backwards and
forwards came over to the island in the course of the morning: he gave
the following account: "that he was on board, and had been placed sen-
tinel on deck; that he had seen the British boats advancing and had hailed
them, and upon receiving no answer, he had gone down and informed
Captain Appleby, who immediately jumped up and went on shore; that
he himself jumped over the bows, and got into a boat, and so escaped."
I asked him how many went over in the steam-boat, but he could not tell
of any.

The cook of the "Caroline" afterwards came over: he had a slight
wound in the thigh, which he said he had received from a bayonet; he
said he knew nothing of any people on board, but that it was supposed
there were some; this was his last story, for in the first place he said,
that fourteen people had come to sleep on board, afterwards he said there
were nine, and finally, that he did not of his own knowledge know of any;
he said that he did not see any one killed or hurt.

Appleby came over afterwards, but I did not hear what he said to the
General.

I have conversed with a great many persons respecting the destruc-
tion of the "Caroline," and I have hear a great many accounts of the
transactions from various persons who professed to be acquainted with the
circumstances, but I never heard any person named as having perished on
board when she was set on fire, but a boy of fifteen years of age, who was
said to have remained in the water-closet, and that his cries had been
heard; from which it was judged that he was on board. I never heard
his name, or that any boy was missed afterwards; several names were
mentioned, but were afterwards contradicted.

Major Lawton, of the patriots, afterwards came over: he stated
that he was at the tavern at Schlosser when the ''"Caroline" was destroyed;
that the tavern was full of men, with plenty of arms, but that none of
them would move to the rescue of the boat; he did not state where the
firing came from; I never learned by whom the shots were fired; there
was not much stress laid upon the circumstance.

Every one seemed to understand that the "Caroline" was in the
service of the patriots. I never heard any one deny that fact. I heard
Captain Appleby agree with Van Renssellaer to let the "Constitution"
come to replace the "Caroline" within twenty-four hours, but I after-
wards was told that the other owners would not agree.

This is all I know about the destruction of the "Caroline," and from
what I have above stated, I am sure that the boat was in the patriot
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service, and that General Van Rensselaer, expected sh'e ould -be
destroyed if she·fell into the power ôf the British.

There was but one man killed ýon theisland; he lost his life byllying
down to avoid a cannon ball, which, however, was nearly spent beforé it
reached him, as it barely entered his bo<ly, and stopped there uitilhe
was turned over.

A good many balls and shells fell on the island; one of the sheils fel
into head-quarters, which could not' have been well loaded, as it merely
knocked open some boxes of ~beans. Mrs. Me Kenzie was in the ext
room, but she merely smiled when she heard the noise.

Sutherland was in a statè of great terror while he was on the island,
lie could not sleep, and was continually calling the men to arms ; he left
the island in consequence of Major Chace threatening to shoot him.

Two rockets fell near the head-quarters; one made a great hole in
the ground, another split a tree, about nine einhes through, to pieces.

General Van Rensselaer spent the principal part of his time lying on
a buffalo skin.

A merchant of Buffalo, named White, took a most active part in the
Navy Island affair; he seemed to have muèh influence, and was con-
stantly referred to. Doctor Chapin, of the same plaee, was also very
-active in the patriot cause.

They seemed to have plenty of money, clothing, and provisions.; the
noney was lodged in the bank at Buffalo at the disposal of Van Iteisel-
laer. When we evacuated the island we had about twenty-six pieces of
cannon. Powder and ball were sent in large quantities from Buffalo. I
never heard what the intentiôns of the patriot generals were, whether
they intended to cross into Canada, or to satisfy'themselves with conquer-
ing the island

We remained on the island returning the fire from the shore of
Canada, without much damage on either side, uitil the night of the 14th
of January we were ordered to evacuate, which we did in' sàfety, takihg
the cannon and other arms alông with us. After leaving the island, we
went to a tavern south of Buffalo, at the Indian reservation, where we
remained for three days, then we went to the westward to Silver creek,
where we expected a boat called the "North American" to take us on
board; .she came in, but -she had United States troops on board. We
-dispersed, and the United States ôfficers hearing that some arms were at
Fredonia, the steam-boat went to Dunkirk and the arms were seized;
these were the arms we depended upon; they were the same, I believe,
that we hadat Navy Island; I do not know what became of theartillery
lwe had at Navy Island.

From Fredonia we went westward, and were under command of Colonel
Vreeland. Mc Kenzie remained at Buffalo to supply means. Van Rénsse-
laer left us altogether, and: gave up'the command to General McLeod.
AtConcant Colonel Seward took the command; we were then about 500
stron g.' When we left Navy Island we were about 1,00 or 1,300 strong;
the 500 that went westward were principally those who had been on Navy
Island.' A few joined- us on thé way. We marched from Coneant to San.
dusky. We never saw Sutherland after he'left Navy Island. The United
States' Marshal was at Sandusky, and lie ordered us off, and we went to the
peninsula forming the harbour, and remained there undisturbed for three
weeks; were supplied with provisions rather scantily from Sandusky.
I believe that many would have abandoned the patriot cause, but we
were in the midstof winter and could not get a day's work, and we had
more chance of relief as patriots than in a private capacity. We were
waiting for arms on the peninsula, which at length arrived in sleighs to
the extend of 400 stand, in boxes marked "sweet apples;" then Colonel
Bradley, who came with the arns, took the command. He was from
Huron county, and had been the master of a steam-boat. On Sunday
the 26th of February, we were ordered to march. Colonel Bradley led
the advance with about twenty men; we did not know where we were
going; we went on the ice to Cunningham's landing, about.five miles
from thé shore; we encamped in Cunningham's Island until eight o'clock
at night; we were ordered off at that time, and we saw a fire right
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ahead, and our orders were to steer for that fire ; we marched about
eight miles, and arrived at the fire upon Bass Island, where Bradley had
lit a fire, he being in advance; we warmed ourselves, and went round a
little point of laxid and saw another fire, which was upon Point aux Pelé;
but none of the men knew where they were going, or that the fire was
upon British ground. We àFrived atPoint aux Pelé at daglight on
Monday we remained at the house of a man named Fox, who supplied
us, I cannot say whether willingly or not, with what he had, and we then
marched on the land to the west end of the island.

Thé night was very cold, and many of the men were. frost-bitten. I
believe they would al] have rejoiced to leave the service, but they had
neither victuals nor money, and could not retreat. We remained ôn the
west end of the island tilt Saturday morning, intending to leave it, but
our men were so. frost-bitten that we could not get them off; on that
morning we saw the army from the British side coming over the ice; we
saw them divide, and part of them go to the end at which we were, and
the othe-s went round on the ice to the south of the island. We retreated
as fast as possible, the British force under Colonel Maitland being within
a mile and a half of us; and when we came to the middle of the island
and went towards the ice intending to retreat, but on rising a knöill on
the land, we discovered Captain Brown's detachment, in column çn the
ice.; we were halted, and Bradley, Seward, and Van Rensselier, jun.,
issued their orders that if any man flinched he should be shot.i The
Colonel said, ' When they corne to see there are so many of us they will
retreat, and we can get off that way ;" we were ordered not to fire upon
them until they should commence ; the British opened the fire ; and we
marched up in line upon the ice; there was some rough ice near the
shore, but not sufficient to shelter a man. The soldiers opened a fire
which we returned, as well as we could. I found that I had no flint in
my gun, and consequently did not fire. I received a ball in my ear which
eut off part of it, and buried itself in my cheek-boné, and another which
broke my thigh bone; three other patriots fell near tue, and young
Van Rensselaer was killed at the other end of the fine; four others were
slightly wounded, but they retreated with the rest. Upon the charge of
bayonets from the British, none were killed with the bayonet; the patriot
force retreated about 500 yards, and then took the ice again, and were
not pursued. I lay about three hours on thé ice, and was afterwards
taken to Amherstburgh: there were no hunters' Lodges formed before I
was taken.

(Signed) SAMUEL WooD.
Sworn before me,

(Signed) R. B. SULLIVAN.

Inclosure 3 in No. 2.

Collection of Despatches and General Orders showing the various acts by which
the deàtriction of the IlCaroline" steam-boat was authorized and avowed by A Y14 i2 i'-f
the Authorities of 'tpper Canada.

Mr. Stephen to Mr. Backhouse.

Sir, Downing Street, March 29, 1841.
WITH reference to your letter of the 12th instant, and to previous

correspondence on the subject of the proceedings of the United States
with respect to Mr. Mc Leod, Lord John Russell directs me to state, that
it may perhaps be useful to retrace at this time the various acts by which
the burning of the "Caroline " was authorized and avowed by the autho-
rities of Upper Canada. I am accordingly to request that you will bring
under thé notice of Viscount Palmerston the accompanying statements
of Colonel Me Nab and Commander Drew, which are extracted from
the despatches and the inclosures relating to the- destruction of the
"Caroline."
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"GENERAL ORDER.

"dHead-quarters, Toronto, December 9, 1837.
"Colonel Mc Nab, of the 4th Regiment Gore Militia, will forthwith

raise a sufficient force of dragoons and infantry (volunteers or others),
and proceed to the London district, to disperse any rebels who may be
found in arms, or may be preparing to resist the Queen's forces.

"iColonel Mc Nab will make such arrangements as shall be sufficient
to provide provisions and other necessaries for the forces under his com-
mand.

" He will act with the civil magistrates in the arrest of such persons
as shall have been guilty of treason or sedition, or who shall in any way
have aided or assisted, or countenanced rebels in arms or preparing
to arm.

"(Signed) F. B. HEAD."

"CSir, " Toronto, December 20, 1837.
"dI am commanded by the Lieutenant-Governor to inform you, that

should you require the assistance of naval officers of experience to recover
possession for Her Majesty of Navy Island, his Excellency desires that
you will call upon such naval officers in the province as you may deem
proper to select to afford him their services, and that you will explain to
them that they will receive their full pay during the period they are thus
publicly employed by his Excellency on Her Majesty's service.

"I have, &c.,
(Signed) J. M. STRACHAN,

n7The Honourable Colonel Mc N/ab, "4Military Secretary.''

&c. &c. &c.

"By me, Allan Napier Mc Nab, Colonel commanding Her Majesty's
forces on the Niagara frontier.

"By virtue of the power and authority vested in me, as the colonel
commanding Her Majesty's forces on this frontier by his Excellency Sir
Francis Bond Head, Bart., &c., Lieutenant-Governor of the province of
Upper Canada, in a despatch dated .this 20th day of December, instant,
commanding me to call forth the services of such officers of Her Majesty's
Royal Navy as may be necessary for the purpose of organizing an armed
naval force to co-operate with the troops under my command in the
reduction of Navy Island,

"I hereby authorize you to take upon yourself the charge and com-
mand of the naval department, to act in concert with me. You will
organize such a force of armed vessels and boats for a flotilla as will
protect the landing, and transport 1,000 men from the Canadian shore to
Navy Island. You will also make such other arrangements as in your
judgment you may think necessary for the good of Her Majesty's service,
and for effecting the object of the expedition; for which this shall be your
sufficient warrant.

" Given under my hand this 20th day of December, in the year of our
Lord, 1837.

"(Signed) ALLAN N. Mc NAB,

",Commander Andrew Drew, Colonel Commanding."
&c. &c. &c.

Niagara Frontier, Chippewa,
"1January 17, 1838.

"Navy Island having been evacuated by the rebels, you will imme-
diately proceed to lay up the vessels and boats composing the flotilla
under your command in safety for the winter.
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" You are hereby authorized to continue on the spot yourself until
further orders, with such a complement of naval officers and seamen as
you may deem sufficient to take proper care of the flotilla.

(Signed) F. B. HEAD.
"Captain Drew, R.N., Chippewa."

"Sir, " Toronto, February 4, 1838.
"You are hereby commanded, in addition to the duties already

pointed out to you, of protecting the property of Her Majesty lately
employed with the naval department, and placing the schooners and
flotilla in a place of security, to use your utmost endeavours to procure
such information of the movements of the rebels, or any other persons
inimical to Her Majesty's Government, as may conduce to the interest of
Her Majesty's service; taking care, however, to be extremely cautious
and circumspect in the discharge of your duty to avoid every thing that
could in the least degree compromise the dignity of Her Majesty's Govern-
ment, or give just cause of complaint to the Government of any other
country at peace with Great Britain. You will report your movements
to me, as also to the Lords' Commissioners of the Admiralty, as often as
occasion may require, and you will continue your pendant flying until I
shall have had time to communicate these instructions to Her Majesty's
Principal Secretary of State for the Colonies.

"(Signed) F. B. HEAD.
" Captain Drew, R.N."

• Sir George Arthur states, in his report to Lord Glenelg, of 17th of
December, 1838, "that the destruction of the 'Caroline' was resolved
on by Colonel Mc Nab, at the exigency of the moment, without ordersj,.
from the Lieutenant-Governor." He also forwarded a deposition, by
Commander Drew, of which the following are extracts

" I first saw the 'Caroline' on the 29th of December, about 10 o'clock
In the morning; it was reported that the steam-boat 'Caroline' was
coming down the river from Buffalo to the assistance of the invaders
employed by Mc Kenzie.

" About noon I saw her make a trip from Schlosser to Navy Island.
About four in the afternoon I saw her cross, with a cannon on her deck,
which I saw through a telescope when I was observing her, in company
with Mr. Harris. I immediately reported the fact to Colonel Mc Nab that
I had seen the boat with a gun and men on board coming to the island;
Colonel Mc Nab then asked me, would it not be possible to cut her out?
I said that there was nothing easier; but that if he wanted it done, he
had better say nothing about it. His answer to me was, 'Well, then, go
and do it.' I then went about to beat up for volunteers to go on an
expedition, without explaining what the expedition was. I got seven
boats prepared, and armed the crews with sabres, which were borrowed
from a company of dragoons. I gave orders that no fire-arms should be
taken on any pretence, and I gave as a reason that the night was likely
to be dark, and that if the men had fire-arms they were as likely to shoot
their friends as their enemies. I said I would trust to my own sword,
and I wished the others to do so, and if any fire-arms were taken, it was
was without my knowledge.

"iA little after ten f went down to the beach, and found the boats
loaded with men; I ordered the men out of the boats, with the exception
of eight men and one officer to each boat.

"iColonel Mc Nab had previously ordered me to trace the vessel, and
the last I had seen of her was between Navy Island and Grand Island,
and when night closed I did not know whether she was at Navy Island or
at Schlosser. For the purpose of discovering where she was, we pulled
closer to Navy Island than we otherwise would have had occasion to do.
But in pulling round the foot of Navy Island, and seeing nothing of her,
we pulled for Schlosser.

"We pulled a little down the stream, put the boats in a fair way,z



and dropped down on our oars. In about a quarter of an hour we fell
down on the steam-boat, my boat being a head, the others following in
line. It had been previously ordered that I should4)oardion thestarboard
gang ay.thesecond boat on the starboard bow, and the others according
to their stations. When my boat came within about twenty yards we
were hailed from the steam-boat three times, 'Boat a-hoy ! boat a-hoy!1
who comes there.' Our answer was made from the bow of my boat, 'A
friend,' on which the person hailing from the boat said, 'Give us theF
countersign,' upon which. I said I will give you the countersign when we
get on board. I boarded. on, the starboard gangway, and found five men
waiting to receive me ; tþese .ipen did not appear-to, bê armed,,a4d opg
reaching the dck, I said, ,Now, my lads, I want thisvessel; go-ashore.
And swept themn off with the broad side of my cutlass; three.of them
went on shore, over the larboard gangway,- and on their going more
gloyJy than 1 wished, I hasteneçlthem by prodding them with my cutlass
behilnd. Three of them wenl4 ashore; but twe slunk behind , the ladies
cab «iaud the bulwark; imme4iately afterwards..one of them fired.,a
mgå§ket in .ny face,: the ball p,#ssed close to my nose, over the. ita,rboard
gangway. .I imediately cu t the man downr .withany cutlass, end I
thoggIt I killedhim; but. LÉnd from-his-owp statement now, shown tq
me that he is alive;in an, instantfterwards a man attempted to fire.^
pist pat me, but.it ,ashe(i 4he pand. I cut-hinoverthe right.arm,iand
turned him ashore. Just at that time I heard some shots in.fthe ore part
of the;'vessel,-I then weAt forward and found that she was in our posses-
sion, and I gave ordeis for every one to sheath their swords.. .i thensgave
orders to cast off the vessel head and stern, and I sent Messrs. Radenhurst,
Le Penetierre, and Drummond down to see that there was no person on
bçard. I at the saine time gave orders for firing the vessel foreranid-aft.
Just as the fire was lighted séveril shots were fired from the sore ,as I
jugesl 'from the tavern. ft this time we had c4st ler ef , We, h
much difficulty to get.a light down to see how she wasmooredi We cas
ber oft, becâuse we wishçdnQt to hurn the wharl' o'rthe buildings. I then,
ordered.every man into the boats, and I remained on boa,rd. Just.then
a man came up. the, fore hatchway, I asked him if-there was anyoue elsa

elow1 äaid^he answered '.No;, upon whieh'e'pulled tie boa.t into the
stream, ana giving three cheers, we let lier go. Before this Mr.Drumý
mond brought up a man out of the cabin, and upon his coming on deck,
I aàid, we do not want prisoners, we only want the boat,let hini go,- and
he.was accordingly put on shore. Just before shoving off, I.Ijearntith{t
a_ an who was shot in the head, in the cabin, *as stillive, 'nd
tIi'nking that he might by sowe'possibility srvive, I orered him tQ be
put on shore; I did believe that the man whm.4I first struck at.waskil4sly
but I now think frm the aflidavit of a persin answering-the deseription;
4hate h escaped with wound oii the head, and i now!do not think that
with the exception of the.mpgshot in the thead i.the cabinthat:an5 1ife
was lost in taking ,the 'Çirolié. I am certain thàt there was.no rson,
either dead or alive on boar 'the boat whn ehe hva's bandoned., t 9o0k
the greatest gains to ascerta this point, and the fullest o rtunity was
afforded, besides, for any person Who migbt by possibility hve .escaped,
thiis search to come, on deck." There could not, in fact, from .the. pre-
cautions I took, .have ,been an y persons remaining n boàrd, an4 I api
convinced there were none such. We then pulled over to the Canadi
shore. 'The 'Caroline,' to my surprise, instead of going overthe America,
Falts, came out- into the stream, and went down the main streamn at the
»ritish Fals. .Lights were, as was previously arranged, litup'on the
Canadian shore. and we puiled for them and returned in safety.

After shoving off, I found a boy in one of the boats, who had been
on board the ' Caroîine,' and also a man from Dumfries in Upper Canada.
I gave the boy a bed in my quarters that night, and the next morning I
gave hin half a dollar to pay his way-across the river, and shortly after
the IJnited States' marshal came to claim him.. I can positively say that
there was no cry of 'Give no quarter,' or any exclamation of the.kind,
Our sole object was to obtain possession of the boat, and nothing was
done for any other purpose."
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&tract,sfrom Sir . B. Head's despatch to Lord. Glenelg of the 1Oth of January, .4

8, showing the part taken by Colonel Mc Nab in the af°air of the
6 Car-line.

"Hed-quarters, Chippewà, December 30, 137.
'Sir, "8aturday morning, 3 o'clack.

"I have the honour to repbrt for 'thelnüformation of his Excellency
tL Içi utenant-Goyernor, that having reòeivétt sitiVeinfôrmationhat
the pires ahdrebels;of Navy Island have purchased a steain-boat called
the , Caroline,,' to facilitate thei if'ttended ilvasior of'this çoù try, a Id
bei 6ifirned in my irformation yesterday, by tie boat (whic hiled
unç itish c~olours) appearing at tfle Island, I determined üpon u ting
hlei t and having sent Captain 'Drew, of tle R -dylNavy he, .n the
most galliut manner, with a crew of volunteë' (wh6senaimes I AhalVhere
after.ra ntion), performed this dangerous service, which w s linds'ignely
e,ffected., consequence of the heavy current, it was found tôbé impos-
sible, th-get the Vessel over to this place, and it was tKerefd're iecêskäry to
set bern nfir-e. Her cologira are now in iaypossession:

I have, &c.,
"(Signed) A- N. Mc NAR

CUolondi Comnanding.

"PS.--We have two or three woûnded, and the pirates abdut 'he
same number killed.

"Lieut.,Colonel James
&c.

M. Str'achan.
&c.

" (Signed) A. N. Mc NAB."

"rSir, "Head-quarters, Chippewa, January l e1838.
"I havé thé hohonr'to enclose to you, for' tle information Of his Pçké-.4'

Excçllency the Lieutenant-Governor, the report of Captain Drew, R.N.,
of the capture and destruction by firè'of the piratical steamer 'Caroline,'
whilst engaged in the service of the rebels at Navy Island.

" The report of that gallant officer, bis Excellency will observe, is
written with that modesty which always distingiishes the accounts of a
brave man of his own valour ; but I beg to assure his Excellehëy that it
was a most daring and- spirited action, and for which 1 feel mogtgrateful
to Captain Drew and the brave fellows under his-command, who so nobly
volunteered to perform this desperate service.

"I shall take an'early opportunity to forward to his Excellency the
names of the party under Captain Drew, that the counti-y may knowvevery
actor in this gallant affair.

" It affords me the greatest satisfaction to state that Captain Mc Cor-
mack, although severely wounded, is in a fair way of recovery. Captain
Arnold's woinds i-ll, I trust, soon be healed. Çaptain Warren (late of
the 66th) is doirg duty as usual.

"I have, &cI,
"(Signed) ALLAN N. McNAB,

"Lieut.- Colonel Jaies M. trachan. "Colonel Commanding."
&c. &c. &c.

"Head-quarters, Chippewa, December 30, 183'
" I have the-honour to inform you that, in obedience tb your com-

mands, to burn, sink, or destroy the piratical steam.vessel which had been.- kk/e

plying between Navy Island and the American shore; the whole of yester-
day I ordered a look oùt to be kept upon her; and at about 5 i'.x. of yes-
terdày, when the day had closed in,t Mr. Harris, of the Royal Naa,
rëported the vessel. to me, as having moored off Navy Island; I irnmd-
ately directed five boats to be armed and manned with forty-five volun-
teers ; and at about 11 o'clock, P.M., we pushed off from the shore for Navy
Island, when not finding her there, as expected, we went in search, and
found her moored between an island and the main shore.



88

"I then assembled the boats off the point of the Island, and dropped
quietly down upon the steamer; we were not discovered until within
twenty yards of her, when the sentry upon the gangway hailed us, and
asked for the countersign, which I told him we would give when we got
on board; he then fired upon us, when we immediately boarded, and found
from twenty to thirty men upon her decks, who were easily overcome, and
in two minutes she was in our possession. As the current was running
strong, and our position close to the Falls of Niagara, I deemed it most
prudent to burn the vessel; but previously to setting her on fire, we took
the precaution to loose her from her moorings, and turn her out into the
stream, to prevent the possibility of the destruction of anything like
American property. In short, all those on board the steamer, who did not
resist, were quietly put on shore, as I thought it possible there might be
some American citizens on board. Those who assailed us were of course
dealt with according to the usages of war.

" I cannot speak too highly of the conduet of the officers and men
who accompanied me; their coolness and bravery shows what may be
expected from them when their country requires their services. Where
all behaved so well, it would be invidious in me to particularize any one;
but I may be excused for mentioning the gallant conduet of Lieutenant
Shepard Mc Cormack of the Royal Navy who nobly seconded me, and had
to encounter several of the pirates in the fore part of the vessel, by which,
I regret to say, he has received five desperate wounds. We have also two
others wounded; and I regret to add, that five or six of the enemy were
killed. A return of our wounded I beg to subjoin.

"I have, &c.,
"(Signed) ANDREW DREW,

" Commander in the Royal Navy.

"P.S.-I beg add, that we brought one prisoner away, a British
subject, in consequence of his acknowledging that he had belonged to
Duncombe's army, and was on board the steamer to join Mc Kenzie upon
Navy Island. 

ANDREW DREW.

"RETURN OF THE WOUNDED.

"Lieutenant Shepard Mc Cormack, R.N. - desperately.
"Captain Warren - - - - -lightly.
"John Arnold - - - - - - severely.

"Colonel the Hon. Allan N. Mc Nab. (Signed) ANDREW DREW."

&c. &c. &c.

"Sir, "Niagara, January 1, 1838.
"The Lieutenant-Governor, on his arrival here, has this moment

received your despatch of this day, inclosing to his Excellency the report
of Captain Drew, R.N., of the capture and destruction of the piratical
steamer 'Caroline,' whilst engaged in the service of the rebels on Navy
Island.

" His Excellency desires me to express to you his unqualified appro-
bation of this proceeding, and he desires that you will convey to Captain
Drew, to Lieutenant Mc Cormack, and to the other brave volunteers who
accompanied him, his thanks for the important service they have rendered
this province, and which his Excellency will lose no time in making known
to Her Majesty's Government.

"I have, &c.,
"(Signed) J. M. STRACHAN,

Colonel the Hon. Allan N. Mc Nab. *"Military Secretary."
&c. &c. &c.
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"GENERAL ORDER.

"Head-quarters, Chippewa, January 3, 1838. ý
"Colonel Mc Nab has great satisfaction in announcing to the forces e/ -

under his command, that the destruction of the steam-boat 'Caroline,' in
the employment of the pirates in Navy Island, was effected in a manner
so highly creditable to the gallant volunteers from the naval brigade and
troops on the night of the 29th of December, 1837, has met with the
unqualified approbation of his Excellency the Lieutenant-Governor; and
that his Excellency desires to express to Captain Drew and the brave
volunteers who accompanied him, his thanks for the important services
they have rendered this province, and which his Excellency will lose no
time in making known to Her Majesty's Government.

"(Signed) K. CAMERON,
"IAssistant Adjutant-General."

It appears clearly from these documents:
1st. That Colonel Mc Nab was authorized to proceed to the London

district to disperse any rebels who might be found in arms.
2nd. That he was authorized to employ naval officers for the recovery

of Navy Island.
3rd. That he did, under this authority, employ Commander Drew of

the Roy al Navy.
4th. That he ordered Commander Drew to cut out the "Caroline,"

then in the service of the rebels.
5th. That Commander Drew directed and led the attack on, and cap-

ture of, the "Caroline."
6th. That Colonel Mc Nab approved the conduct of Commander

Drew.
7th. That the Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada publicly

expressed his approbation of this proceeding, and thanked the officers and
volunteers engaged.

Such have been the Colonial transactions on this subject. The con-
duct of Sir Francis Head, of Colonel Mc Nab, and Commander Drew, has
never been in any way disavowed by Her Majesty's Government, and their
conduct, and that of all persons acting under them, must, in the opinion
of Lord John Russell, be considered as public acts, for which they cannot
be responsible as individuals.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) JAMES STEPHEN.

No. 3.

Mr. Stevenson to Viscount Palmerston. 3'

My Lord, August 31, 1841.
I HAD the honour to receive yesterday the official communication,

which your Lordship did me the honour to address to me, under date of
the 27th instant, in reply to my Note of the 22nd of May, 1838, relative
to the capture and destruction of the steam-boat, "Caroline," in the
month of December, 1837, by a party of Her Majesty's Canadian subjects,
within the limits and territorial jurisdiction of the United States. As
the representations contained in your Lordship's Note touching this pro.
ceeding, differ so essentially in point of fact from those which were made
to the Government of the United States, and which I had the honour of
communicating to Her Majesty's Government in my first Note, and may
consequently lead to a more thorough investigation of the whole affair, in
order that the material facts of the case may be more fully ascertained; and
as I am on the eve of returning to the United States, and there is reason to
believe that my successor may be soon expected in England with instruc-
tions from his Government upon the subject, I do not feel it necessary or
proper to embark in the general discussion of the important questions

2 A
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embraced by your Lordship's Note. I shall, therefore, hasten to transmit
a copy of your Lordship's communication for the information of my Govern-
ment, and respectfully ask that the statements and proofs to which it refers,
may be furnished to me at the earliest convenient day, for the purpose of
being forwarded with your Lordship's Note.

In the mean time I deem it proper to submit to your Lordship's con-
sideration some observations which have been rendered necessary by
certain parts of your Lordship's communication, and which demand my
immediate notice.

In accounting for the delay which has taken place in communicating
the answer of Her Majesty's Government in the case of the "Caroline,"
and the incidents arising out of the border difficulties on the American
and Canadian frontier, your Lordship holds the following language.

" The Government of the United States was perfectly aware, even
before Mr. Stevenson's Note of May, 1838, was written, that Her
Majesty's Government considered the destruction of the "Caroline" as a
justifiable act of self-defence, properly done by the Colonial British
authorities, for the protection of British subjects and their property, and
for the security of Her Majesty's territories. This opinion had been
made known to the United States' Government by Mr. Fox, in an official
note to Mr. Forsyth, and by the Undersigned in more than one conver-
sation with Mr. Stevenson." And again, in another part of your Lord-
ship's note it is stated, "That Her Majesty's Government did not, after
the receipt of Mr. Stevenson's note, retract the opinions expressed in the
matter by Mr. Fox and by the Undersigned; nor did Her Majesty's
Government in any manner disavow or disapprove the conduct of the
Lieutenant-Governor of Canada; and therefore, both that which Her
Majesty's Government had done, and that which Her Majesty Govern-
ment abstained from doing, could leave no doubt whatever on the
mind of the President of the United States, that the British Govern-
ment intended to decline to comply with the demand contained in Mr.
Stevenson's Note." And again, your Lordship further observes, "It
is to be presumed that it was a communication to this effect, which
induced Mr. Stevenson to refrain from pressing for an answer to his Note,
without special idstructions from his Government to do so, and that also
led Mr. Forsyth to instruct him to abstain, till further orders, from taking
any step in the matter."

Now, if it is intended in these parts of your Lordship's Note to
leave it to be inferred that the capture and destruction of the "Caroline"
steamer was, in the opinion of Her Majesty's Government, a justifiable
act of self-defence by the Colonial authorities, or that this opinion and
avowal had been officially made known by Mr. Fox to the Government of
the United States in his correspondence with the Secretary of State,
prior to the arrest of Mc Leod, or by your Lordship to me, then I take
leave to say most distinctly, that any such inference is wholly unwarranted,
inasmuch, as no such avowal or opinion was either communicated by
Mr. Fox to my Government, or by your Lordship to me.

That it was not made by Mr. Fox, a brief recapitulation of the facts
will show. In his first Note to Mr. Forsyth, written immediately.after
the occurrence took place, and to which it is presumed your Lordship
refers, Mr. Fox confined himself to the expression of his own opinion, as to
the character of the transaction, and not that of his Government.

Indeed, as late as the 23rd of December, 1840, in an official Note to
the American Government, he expressly declared that he had no authority
whatever to pronounce the opinion or decision of Her Majesty's Govern-
ment in the case, but felt bound to record his own opinion. Besides, how
could Mr. Fox, in February, 1838, be supposed to express the opinion of
hip Government upon a transaction, the existence of which was then
unknown to Her Majesty's Government, and to which neither application
for redress or complaint had been made. If Mr. Fox's communication to
Mr. Forsyth could have been regarded by the American Government as
communicating the avowal or opinion of Her Majesty's Government, my
.instructions, and the Note of May, 1838, would no doubt have been of a
very different character. Whatever opinion, therefore might have been
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entertained and expressed by Mr. Fox, from the circumstances detailed by
the Canadian authorities, it is quite certain, that as late as December, 1840,
he could have made no such communication to my Government as that
which may be inferred from those parts of your Lordship's Note. That
any answer was ever given or communication made by your Lordship to
me, subsequent to my Note of May, 1838, which presented the case as one
for redress, will not, it is presumed, be pretended. On the contrary, so
marked was the delay on the part of your Lordship to answer my Note,
and make known the decision of Her Majesty's Government, that in
September, 1839, I drew the special attention of my Government to the
subject, and asked to be instructed whether I was to press for, an answer,
and if so, the degree of urgency that I was to adopt.

In the answer I received, I was told by Mr. Forsyth, that no further
instructions were then required ; not, however, for the reasons which your
Lordship is pleased to assign, but expressly on the ground that Mr. For-
syth had had frequent conversations with Mr. Fox on the subject, and one
especially of a very recent date, from which the President was led to
expect that Her Majesty's Government would answer my Note without
any further delay. I beg leave to refer your Lordship to the official cor-
respondence on this part of the subject, which was laid before Congress,
and published by their order. Then, at least, the Government of the
United States could have had no such official information as to the opinion
of Her Majesty's Government as that, which your Lordship's Note would
seem to infer. The inquiry then is, was there any communication made
by your Lordship prior to my Note of May, 1838? Now it is readily
admitted that I had two conversations with your Lordship on the subject
of the "Caroline," to which I presume the allusion in your Note points.
Those conversations, however, it is proper to say, were entirely of an
informal and desultory character, and took place immediately on the
arrival of the first intelligence of the Schlosser affair in Engla»d, and that
through the public press. It is also admitted, that in these conversations
I did understand your Lordship to intimate distinctly an opinion that
the case might turn out to have been one which Her Majesty's Govern-
ment might feel itself bound to justify as one of self-defence. No official
intimation, however, had, at the time when those conversations took place,
been received by Her Majesty's Government.

The substance of those conversations, it is proper also to say, was
communicated by me at the time to my Government, and were also made
public, and will speak for themselves. Whether conversations of this cha-
racter, as early as February, 1838, can rightfully be regarded as amount-
ing to an official avowal or approval by Her Majesty's Government of a
proceeding which had not then been officially made known, or become the
subject of complaint or redress, it is not necessary now to inquire into or
decide.

If, therefore, it was only intended by your Lordship, (as I flatter
myseIf it was,) to represent those conversations as the only grounds upon
which the statements contained in your Lordship's Note have been made,
nothing can be more correct than that such conversations (though of an
informal and inofficial character) did take place, and that your Lordship
is, therefore, justly entitled to the full benefit of this admisson. All then
that I mean to say is, that apart from these conversations, no other com-
munication ever took place between us on the subject, until after the arrest
and imprisonment of Mc Leod by the authorities of the State of New York,
and which doubtless led to the avowal of Her Majesty's Government of the
original proceeding. Upon the subject of the delay which was permitted
to take place in answering my Note, it is not my duty to inquire. That
is a matter for your Lordship and Her Majesty's Government. That
delay I had neither the right nor the power of controling. It was cer-
tainly not produced by me nor by my Government, and the responsibility
must rest where it properly belongs. I deem it unnecessary to trouble
your Lordship with any further observations. I have felt it due to myself
and my Government to avail myself of the earliest moment of correct-
ing officially, any misapprehension of which the statements contained
in your Lordship's Note might be susceptible. I accordingly seize an
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opportunity before your retirement from the Foreign Office, to address to
your Lordship this communication. I need not assure your Lordship how
sincerely I should lament that any misunderstanding should arise between
us, in relation to a matter which is so capable of explanation, and that
too at a moment when the public relations in which we have stood to
each other, are about, in all probability, to cease for ever, and which have
been sustained by those of a personal character so eminently gratifying
and satisfactory.

I have, &c.,
(Signed) A. STEVENSON.

No. 4.

Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Stevenson.

Foreign Office, September 2, 1841.
THE Undersigned, &c. &c., has the honour to acknowledge the

receipt of the note, of the 31st ultimo, from Mr. Stevenson, &c. &c., in
reply to the note from the Undersigned, dated the 27th ultimo, upon the
subject of the capture and destruction of the steam-boat "Caroline."

The Undersigned is glad to find that there is no essential difference
between Mr. Stevenson and the Undersigned, as to their impressions with
regard to the facts to which Mr. Stevenson's note refers; and, for greater
precision, the Undersigned would beg leave to recapitulate them.

The "Caroline" was captured and destroyed on the night of the 29th
of December, 1837.

On the 5th of January, 1838, Mr. Forsyth addressed a note to Mr.
Fox, accompanied by numerous affidavits and documents, setting forth
the American version of the capture of the "Caroline," which Mr. Forsyth
stated would necessarily form the subject of a demand for redress upon
Her Majesty's Government.

Mr. Fox immediately forwarded copies of these papers to the Lieu-
tenant-Governor of Upper Canada, and reported thereupon to Her
Majesty's Government.

On the 6th of February following, Mr. Fox addressed a note to Mr.
Forsyth, in which he transmitted the accounts which he had then received
from Sir Francis Head, of the circumstances which appeared to justify
the act of the Canadian Authorities in the destruction of the "Caroline."
And in this note, Mr. Fox wrote to Mr. Forsyth as follows:-

''The piratical character of the steam-boat 'Caroline,' and the
necessity of self-defence and self-preservation, under which Her Majesty's
subjects acted, in destroying that vessel, would seem to be sufficiently
established.

"IAt the time when the event happened, the ordinary laws of the
United States were not enforced 'within the frontier district of the State of
New York. The authority of the law was overborne publicly by piratical
violence. Through such violence, Her Majesty's subjects in Upper
Canada had already suffered; and they were threatened with still further
injury and outrage. This extraordinary state of things appears naturally
and necessarily to have impelled them to consult their own security, by
pursuing and destroying the vessel of their piratical enemy, wheresoever
they might find her."

Mr. Forsyth, in his answer dated the 13th of February, observes
that the statement of facts in the papers sent by Mr. Fox, is at variance
with the information communicated to the United States' Government, and
repeats the statement of his intention to address a complaint, supported
by evidence, to Her Majesty's Government.

He further states: "Even admitting that the documents transmitted
with your note, contain a correct statement of the occurrence, they furnish
no justification of the aggression committed upon the territory of the
United States ;" and he concludes by a complaint against Sir F. Head,
as having acted on this occasion inconsistently with the declaration which
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he made in his speech at the opening of the Provincial Parliament, in
which he expressed his "confidence in the disposition of the United States'
Government to restrain its citizens from taking part in the conflict which
was raging in that province."

To this Mr. Fox replied, in a note dated the 16th of February, that
although he "did not acquiesce in the view which the United States'
Government are disposed to take of the facts connected with that trans-
action; yet, as the Legation was not the final authority competent to
decide the question on the part of Great Britain; and as Mr. Forsyth
informed him that a representation would, in due time, be addressed to
Her Majesty's Government in England, he considered it most consistent
with his duty to avoid entering, at present, into any further controversy
on the subject."

The account of the transaction reached England on the 2nd of
February, 1838. Between that time and the month of May of that year,
the Undersigned had some conversations with Mr. Stevenson on the
subject. The Undersigned kept no memorandum of them, and, therefore,
cannot say on what days they took place, nor how many they were; but
Mr. Stevenson says they were two; and the Undersigned has no doubt
that Mr. Stevenson is correct.

If the Undersigned is not mistaken in his recollection, one at least of
these conversations was at the Foreign Office; and the Undersigned has
an impression that on that occasion he read or showed to Mr. Stevenson
some of the statements which Her Majesty's Government had then
received of the transaction from the Government of Canada. At all
events, Mr. Stevenson's recollection tallies with that of the Undersigned
as to the fact that the Undersigned then intimated to Mr. Stevenson
distinctly the opinion of Her Majesty's Government, that the act would
turn out to have been a justifiable measure of self-defence.

On the 22d of May of that year, 1838, Mr Stevenson, by instructions
from his Government, addressed to the Undersigned an Official Note,
demanding reparation for the destruction of the "Caroline," and stated,
that the United States' Government considered that transaction as "an
outrage upon United States' citizens, and a violation of United States'
territory, committed by British troops from the province of Upper.
Canada, and that this outrage was planned and executed with the
knowledge and approbation of the Lieutenant-Governor of Upper
Canada ;" and this Note was accompanied by inclosures containing full
details of the American version of the case.

On the 26th of June, the Undersigned acknowledged the receipt of
this Note, and stated that the attention of the British Government would
be given to the matter.

From that time till the early part of the present year, when the
account of the arrest of Mr. Mc Leod reached this country, it is correctly
stated in Mr. Stevenson's Note, that "no other communication upon the
subject of the "Caroline" ever took place between Mr. Stevenson and the
Undersigned," with the single exception, that the case of the "Caroline"
was incidentally alluded to, but not mentioned by name, in a passage of
Mr. Stevenson's Note of the 26th of September, 1839, as a question
pending between the two Governments. But during this interval, nearly
three years, the case of the "Caroline" was, upon one occasion, the
subject of communication between Mr. Stevenson and his own Govern-
ment, for it appears that in September, 1839, Mr. Stevenson not having
then received any reply from Her Majesty's Government to the demand
for reparation, which he had made in May, 1838, asked Mr. Forsyth
whether he should press for an answer, and if so, with what degree of
urgency he should do so; and it appears that Mr. Forsyth, in reply,
informed Mr. Stevenson that no further instructions on that matter were
required; as, in consequence of some conversations with Mr. Fox, the
President was led to expect an answer from Her Majesty's Government
without any further delay.

No answer, however, was given by Her Majesty's Government, and
yet, until after the arrest of Mr. Mc Leod had happened, which took place
on the 12th of November, 1840, no further notice was taken of the affair

2 B
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of the "Caroline," either by Mr. Stevenson, or by the United States'
Government in any communication to Her Majesty's Government.

Now from these facts, Her Majesty's Government draw the following
conclusions:-

It seems to Her Majesty's Government demonstrable,, that even
before Mr. Stevenson's Note of the 22d of May, 1838, was presented, Mr.
Stevenson and the Government of Washington were made aware of the
opinion of Her Majesty's Government, that the destruction of the
"Caroline" had been a justifiable act of self-defence.

For it cannot be disputed that the Undersigned, as Secretary of
State, was fully competent to convey the opinion of Her Majesty's
Government authentically to the Minister of the United States; and that
,Mr. Stevenson so thought, is shown by the fact of his having deemed it
rglit to communicate to his own Government the substance and result
of his above-mentioned conversations with the Undersigned.

Those conversations were undoubtedly informal, inasmuch as they
did not arise in consequence of any communication which Mr. Stevenson
was instructed by his Government to make to the Undersigned; and they
were conversations of that kind which frequently take place, between the
Minister of a Foreign Government and the Secretary of State, with a
view to a preliminary understanding upon matters which are likely to be
subjects of formal discussion between their respective Governments; and
in order to prepare the way for such future discussions.

It is, indeed, quite true, as observed by Mr. Stevenson, that the
strong opinion expressed by Mr. Fox in January, 1838, could not, at that
time, have been expressed in consequence of specific instructions from
Her Majesty's Government, because there had not been time for him to
have received any such instructions; but a Minister Plenipotentiary has
a general authority to speak and act on behalf of his Government; and
if his words and acts are not disavowed by his Government in due time,
the Government by its silence adopts and becomes responsible for them.
But the opinions expressed by Mr. Fox in January, 1838, upon the
subject of the destruction of the "Caroline" were not disavowed by Her
Majesty's Government, and have never been disavowed by them to this
day.

Now the Undersigned does not, of course, mean to say that the
opinions so expressed by Mr. Fox and by himself were final and conclusive
decisions of Her Majesty's Government in the case, although certainly
that given in writing by Mr. Fox was as strong and unequivocal as words
could well convey: and it is obvious that those opinions having been
expressed before the date of Mr. Stevenson's Note of May, 1838, could not,
at any rate, have been decisions upon the demand made in that Note; and
as those opinions had been founded upon the information which Her
Majesty's colonial authorities had then transmitted to Mr. Fox and to
Her Majesty's Government, it was possible that counter-statements,
founded upon information collected by the United States' Government,
might satisfy Her Majesty's Government that their first view of the case,
and their first opinion regarding it, however strong that opinion might
have been, were erroneous. The UJndersigned, therefore, does not mean
to say, and never has contended, that either his conversations with Mr.
Stevenson, or Mr. Fox's Note to Mr. Forsyth, ought to have precluded the
demand which was afterwards made by Mr. Stevenson's Note of May,
1838; but the Undersigned contends, that that.demand was made with a
previous knowledge on the part of the United States' Government of the
views and opinions of Her Majesty's Government as to the transactions to
which the demand related. The Undersigned has further to remiark, that
the words of Mr. Stevegson's Note of May, 1838, distinctly prove that the
Government of the,tunited States did not entertain apy doubt whatever
whether the capture and destruction of the "Cargline ", had been the
unauthorized act of individuals, for which such individuals were to be
made responsible in their private capacity, or whetheràt ad been a public
act done by persons in the service of the British Government, and obeying
superior authority, and for which, consequently, the British Government
was to be responsible; because the specific complaint of Mr. Stevenson
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was, that the act was committed "by a portion of the British forces sta-
tioned at Chippewa, and that it was planned and executed with the know-
ledge and approbation of the Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, and
that it was the invasion of the territory and sovereignty of an independent
nation by the armed forces of a friendly Power;" and the specific demand
Mr. Stevenson made was, that "the whole proceeding should be disavowed
and disapproved, and that such redress, as the nature of the case obvi-
ously required, should be promptly made by the British Government."
The Undersigned, therefore, maintains that th e very contents of Mr. Ste-
venson's Note of 1838 preclude the United States' Government from
attempting to make Mr. Mc Leod, or any other British subject, personally
answerable for any share they may be supposed to have had in the
destruction of the "Caroline;" and that Mr. Forsyth was mistaken in
saying, as he did in his Note to Mr. Fox of the 26th of December, 1840,
that up to that time the United States' Government had no authentic
announcement that the destruction of the "Caroline" was a public act of
persons in Uer Majesty's service obeying the order of their superior autho-
rities. For Mr. Forsyth would have found that authentic announcenient
in the Note of his own Plenipotentiary, presented in pursuance of instruc-
tions from himself, so long ago as May, 1838. But while, on the one hand,
the Undersigned contends that the United States' Government knew, in
the early part of 1838, that Her Majesty's Government thought the
destruction of the "Caroline" a justifiable act; on the other hand, the
Undersigned begs to state, that Her Majesty's Government, by continuing
to give no reply to the demand made in Mr. Stevenson's Note of May,
1838, was, in fact, practically declining to comply with that demand; and
the only legitimate inference which the United States' Government could
draw from that silence was, that Her Majesty's Government adhered to
the opinion which it had originally expressed.

It appears then from Mr. Stevenson's statement that for nearly three
years the United States Government acquiesced in the silence of Her
Majesty's Government on this subject; for though in October, 1839, Mr.
Forsythstated as a reason for not pressing Her Majesty's Government
for an answer, that the President had been led by some conversation of
Mr. Fox to expect the British answer without any further delay; yet
that reason necessarily ceased with the further lapse of time, and could
not be said to have held good, as long as till the beginning of 1840.

Mr. Stevenson, moreover, specifically states in his note of the 31st
ultimo, that during the whole interval between the date of hig note of
May, 1838, and the time when the arrest of Mr. Mc Leod became known
in England, in February, 1841, no communication ever took place between
himself and the Undersigned, on the subject of the "Caroline." Now, as
neither Mr. Stevenson, nor the late President Van Buren, have ever
shown themselves deficient in watchful and active attention to all matters
in which the just rights• of the United States have been conce-ned, the
Undersigned conceives that he has not much erred in supposing, as etated
by him in his former communication, that this long and, intentional
silence of the United States' Government, and of 'its Minister at this
Court upon the subject of the "Caroline,'" arose from the considerations
to which the Undersigned adverted in that Note.

In hazarding that supposition, it seems to the Undersigned that he
has assumed nothing but what is highly honourable to the Government of
the United States; and that lie has only imagined that Government to
have been guided by the same feelings of conciliation, which the Under-
signed begs to assure Mr. Stevenson have invariably animated the
Government of Her Majesty in all its dealings and intercourse with Mr.
Stevenson, and with the Government which Mr. Stevenson has so ably
and so honourably represented at this Court.

I aS, &c.,
(Signed) PALMERSTON.
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No. 5.

Mr. Stevenson to Viscount Palmerston.-(Received September 4.)

32, Upper Grosvenor Street,
My Lord, September 2, 1841.

I HASTEN to do myself the honour of acknowledging the receipt
of your Lordship's Note of this evening, in reply to mine of the 31st
ultimo, relative to the capture and destruction of the " Caroline" steamer.

I shall take the earliest opportunity of forwarding a copy of your
Lordship's communication to the United States, but in what light the
statements and circumstances which it details, will be regarded by my
Government, it does not belong to me to decide, or even to conjecture.

Without desiring therefore to protract a discussion, in the conduct
of which, neither your Lordship's sincerity, or my own, will be doubted,
it is yet proper that I should notice the misapprehenaion which still seems
to exist, in relation to the causes which influenced my Government, or
myself, in not pressing upon your Lordship and Her Majesty's Govern-
ment, an earlier decision of this painful subject.

After the explicit answer given in the last Note which I had the
honour to address to your Lordship on this part of the case, and in which
it was stated, that neither my Government, nor myself, were influenced
by the considerations supposed in your Lordship's Notè of the 27th
ultimo, I had not imagined that such an inference would again have been
repeated, and more especially, as I am still unable to perceive in the
statements contained in your Lordship's last Note, any just.foundation
for such an imputation. On the contrary, the motives1 which influenced
mr course, connected either with myself, my Government, or that of Her
Majesty's, were of an entirely different character from those which have
been imagined. I must, therefore, take leave again to enter my friendly
protest against the impression in which your Lordship still indulges, and
to restate in language as precise and intelligible as I can use, that in
refraining from pressing the case upon the consideration of Her Majesty's
Government, I was not influenced, nor have I any reason to believe that
my Government was, either wholly, or partially, by the considerations
which your Lordship has felt authorized again to repeat; and however
such a course might have been regarded by your Lordship as honourable
to the Government of the United States, or its Minister. Shouldit hôw-
ever turn out to be the case, that the acquiescence in the silence of Uer
Majesty's Government by that of the United States, was as your Lord-
ship supposes, a sacrifice made to a love of peace; of one thing I can
assure your Lordship, that my Government will be prepared at the.proper
time, and whenever it may become necessary to do so, frankiy to-avow it.
As there is no other part of your Lordship's communication, which
requires any further notice from me, I avail myself of the opportunity in
closing finally the correspondence, to express my acknowledgments for
the very gratifying terms in which your Lordship has been pleased to
speak of the manner in which I have represented my country at Her
Majesty's Court, and to tender to your Lordship the renewed assurances
of my distinguished consideration and respect.

(Signed) A. STEVENSON.


